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PETITION FOR EXECUTIVE CLEMENCY
for

EVERETT LEE MUELLER

Everett Lee Mueller maintgins his innocence of the crimes for
which he is scheduled to be executed on September 16, 1999. He firmly
believes that his innocence can be proven with thé minimal assistance of
the Governor and he asks that he be allowed a chance to prove his
innocence.

In _this petition-we will set out the limited character and quality of
the ‘physical evidence of Mr. Mueller’s guilt, attempt to descriBe tﬁe
evidence which would prove Mr. Mueller’s innocence, and show the
inadequacy of tﬁe single piece of evidence linking Mr. Mueller to these
crimes.

Mr. Mueller cannot prove his innocence without the Governor’s
help. He wishes to tell you his story, and has tried to do so in a letter

attached to this plea for assistance. We ask that you consider Mr.
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Mueller’s case carefully and help provide him with the tools to prove
that the Commonwealth convicted, and is about to execute, a man who
is not guilty of'the crimes charged.
THERE IS NO PHYSICAL EVIDENCE
THAT MR. MUELLER COMMITTED ANY CRIMES AGAINST
‘ CHARITY POWERS
On the evening of October 6, 1990, ten—year—old Charity Powers
was dropped off at a Chesterfield County skating rink by her mother,
who had arranged for a family friend to pick Charity up later that
evening. The friend never showed up. The skate rink closed. Charity
walked to a nearby Hardee's and waited. She was last seen at
approximately 12:50 a.m. by four teenage boys, sitting on thé curb at
Hardee's. The teenagers also saw a white male, medium height and
approximately 30 years old, driviné a cream colored station wagon with
wood siding around the Hardee's parking lot that night. The prosecution
told the jury that this was the man who abducted, raped, and killed N
Charity Powers.

Mr. Mueller’s description fit generally with the description of the
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man at the Hardee’s provided by the four witnesses. Mueller drove a
car similar to the one described by the witnesses. He also had previous
convictions for rape. Because of these factors, he was sought for
questioning shortly after Charity's disappéarance.

Several months later, on February 8, 1991, Charity Powers' body
was found in a shallow grave in a wooded area in Chesterfield County.
There was no physical evidence that Mueller had anything to do with

the crimes, and none has ever been produced.

FACTS THAT RAISE GRAVE DOUBTS ABOUT MUELLER’S
GUILT

Prosecutors claimed that the four teenage boys at the Hardee’s on
the night Charity Powers disappeareci, had seen the man who abducted,
raped, and murdered Charity Powers. The description they initially
gave of the man fit generally with a description of Mueller, although
two of the boys szﬁd that the man had a beard and Mueller has never had
abeard. A car they described fit generally the description of Mueller

car - a cream colored, wood paneled station wagon.
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At the outset of the investigation, police obtained a Polaroid
photograph of Mueller. Although no one ever told Mueller or his
attorneys until after the trial started, the police had the four witnesses
from the Hardee’s come to the police station where they were shown a
set of photographs. Th'e police asked the boys to pick the person who
most resembled the person they saw at the Hardee’s that night. Each of
the four boys selected a photograph. App. 7-8 (Affidavit of Kevin
Speeks). When they later spoke about their selections, it was clear to
them that they had not all picked the same person. Id. None of the four
boys selected Mueller’s photograph.

Contrary to law, this information was never disclosed i;o
Mueller’s trial attorneys prior to the trial. Although the prosecutor
never disputed the fact that a photographic lineup was shown to the
witnesses, or that they picked someone other Mueller form the lineup,
he claimed that he could not find out which police officers involved in
the investigation might have conducted the lineup. In circumstances

such as these, a prosecutor is legally responsible for knowing everything
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that the polic¢ know, but the trial judge in the case didn’t ask the
prosecutor or police anything more on the matter.

That was the end of the issue in the trial court. The court and the
jury never found out the identities of the persons picked out of that
lineup by the four witnesses. Mr Mueller has been refused all
subsequent attempts to independently investigate the detail of the
photographic lineup and other suspects. Remarkably, courts that ave
looked at this “missing evidence” have actually blamed Mueller for not
somehow learning what so far only the police involved in the
investigation know‘- the identities of the person in the photographic
lineups and the identities of the persons selected as the man las% seen
with Charity Powers at the Hardee’s on the night she disappeared.

For the four months following Powers’ disappearance, the police
followed Mueller and questioned him, his family, and his friends at
work, at his home, on the "street, and at the police station. According to
Mr. Mueller, the police hounded him continuously; they told him that

they knew he was guilty; they told friends, neighbors, co-workers, and
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employers about his previous convictions; he girlfriend was threatened;
he found notes and posters about the missing girl on his car windshield.
He had to leave his jobs and move from the place he was staying.

On February 8, 1991, Charity Powers' body was found in a
shallow grave in a wooded area near where Mueller lived. Mueller was
arrested on February 12, 1991. He was immediately taken into custody
and interrogated for almost 4 hours by a Chesterfield County Detective
Garber and an FBI agent Palfi. After approximately two and a half
hours of questioning (during which time he repeatedly asked to be taken
to jail), he confessed to a crime he did not commit.

Mueller explained that his confession was false and hé pled not
guilty. The centerpiece of the Commonwealth’s evidence was this false
confession and his knowledge of the location of the buried body. There
was no physical evidence connecting him to the crime. There was no
forensic evidence which linked him to Charity Powers’ abduction, rape
or death. The only hair found on Charity Powers’ body did not belong

to Mueller or Powers. No one ever saw Mueller with Charity Powers on
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the night of her death. There was nothing found in his car, fingerprints
or otherwise, which indicated in any way that Charity Powers had ever
been in the car. Mueller’s knowledge of the whereabouts of the body
came from the fact that he had discovered the little girl’s body when
walking through the woods. Because he was afraid that he would be
blamed for harming her, he returned and buried her body.

Despite the questionability and inaccuracy of Mueller’s
inculpatory statement to police and the paucity of other evidence, not to
mention Mueller’s plea of not guilty, Mueller’s lawyers told the jury
that it was their “duty” to find him guilty of capital murder.! The jurors
followed Mueller’s lawyer’s instructions.

When the jurors were asked to decide an appropriate sentence, the
prosecutor and trial judge kept truthful and accurate information about
the sentence from them. The prosecutor told the jurors about Mueller’s

previous convictions, including convictions for rape. The prosecutor

_ 'Trial counsel instructed the jury that it was their duty to find Mueller guilty of Charity
Power’s rape and murder. Under the instructions they were given, this meant that they had to
- Mueller guilty of capital murder.
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insiéted, however, that jurors not learn the truth that for Mueller a life
sentence would mean a sentence of life without the possibility of ever
being released on parole. In Virginia, and across the nation, jurors’
preference for a death sentence drops dramatically when they learn that
the alterative sentence is life without possibility of parole. App. 20-21
(Center for Survey Research at Virginia Polytechnical Institute). The
Governor has been a strong supporter both of “truth in sentencing”
reform and the availability of a “life without parole” sentence. A grant
of clemency would be appropriate in this case where each of these
notions have been ignored and the principles which support them
violated.
UNDISCOVERED BUT AVAILABLE FACTS

There are several ways to prove that Everett Mueller is innocent
and determine who actually committed this crime. The following facts
have yet to be uncovered and their discovery is absolutely crucial in

order to determine who killed Charity Powers.
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REGARDING THE PHOTO ARRAY SHOWN TO THE FOUR
WITNESSES

1.  Which police officers showed the eyewitnesses the
photographs?

2.  Which suspects’ photographs were shown to the eyewitnesses?

3.  Which suspects were seiected by the eyewitnesses as the
person they saw at the Hardee’s on the night Charity Powers
disappeared? '

The man the prosecutor said abducted Charity Powers from the
Hardee’s and who raped and killed her was the man the four witnesses
saw at the Hardee’s. But, according to these witnesses, there was a man
other than Everett Mueller who was last seen with Charity Powers at the
Hardee’s. Mueller maintains that the photographs of other suspects
were shown to the witnesses and that the witnesses actually selected one
or more of these other suspects. Not only did the witnesses pick these
suspects out of a ﬁ)hoto lineup buf the police knew the identities of these
other men.

No one has ever denied that Mueller’s picture was contained in
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thisr photo. array, nor has anyone ever contended (in court or otherwise)
that Mueller was identified as the man those witnesses saw. To the
contrary, Kevin Speeks, one of the eyewitnesses testiﬁed and described
the man he saw that nigﬁt but did not make an in court identification of
Everett Mueller as being that man.

OTHER EVIDENCE

4. Whose hair was found in Charity Power’s anal area?

There is physical or forensic evidence that someone who was not
Everett Mueller had intimate contact with Charity Powers on the night
she was killed. According to an expert from the Federal Bureau of
Investigation, the only piece of physical evidence collected a;c the crime
scene - a hair fiber removed from the anal area of Charity Powers - “Was
not consistent with coming from either [Ms. Powers] or Mr. Mueller.”
App. 18-19 (Testimony of FBI forensic expert, Robert Fram). The
police gave the expert samples on two occasions of hair from Mueller’s
head, chest and pubic areas. None of the hair obtained matched that

found on Charity Powers’ body. This hair was never tested for DNA.
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The result of a DNA test can be run through the state’s DNA data bank
to determine whose hair it is. Mueller maintains that this testing would
show that the hair was from one of the other suspects the police had in

this case.

5. Why not collect scientific evidence which would confirm
Mueller’s innocence?

As stated above, no physical or forensic evidence connecting
Everett Mueller to Charity Powers, or these crimes, was ever found or
presented. Moreover, if, for instance, Mueller’s car or clothes were
combed forensically for evidence that Charity Powers had been in
contact with either, this would absolutely eliminate any lingering doubt
on your part that Charity Powers was ever in Mueller’s car or ever in

contact with him on the night of her death. These tests will further

" corroborate Mueller’s account of his innocence.

Page 11



6. Who were the other persons in the neighborhood who drove
cars similar to the one described as being at the Hardee’s and
where were these people on the night Charity Powers
disappeared?

Deborah Pruitt stated in a swom affidavit that there were at least
three vehicles in the neighborhood that looked identical to Mueller’s
wood-panel station wagon. App. 10-12 (affidavit of Deborah Pruitt).
She also reported that she saw fwo of these vehicles parked at Mueller’s
house on the night Cha;:ity Powers disappeared. Id. No attempt has
ever been made to determine the whereabouts of the ownérs of these
vehicles on the night of the crimes against Charity Powers nor have
these people ever been investigated in any way. According to Ms.
Pruitt, one of the vehicles was owned by a woman whose son resembled
Mueller in appearance. App. 11. Again, the son has never been
questioned or investigated.

Thus there is,ata mininium, available and “testable” forensic.
evidence, including DNA evidence, and other suspects and potential

suspects, against whom such evidence could be compared. Such
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evidence could provide definitive scientific evidence exculpating
Mueller. With your help, these yet unconfirmed or undiscovered facts
can be discovered and confirmed. With this; Everett Mueller will be
revealed as an innocent man who confessed to a crime he did not
commit.
WHY MUELLER FALSELY CONFESSED

From the time Charity Powers first disappeared, Mueller was
persistently questioned, followed, and harassed by members of the state
and federal law enforcement agencies investigating the crime. He
already suffered from severe mental health and alcohol abuse problems,
and began to deteriorate even more desperately into alcohol abﬁse and
related ill-health under the pressure created by the investigation. He
tried to avoid the harassing and intrusiYe treatment of law enforcement
personnel but failed. As a result, and in combination with his own
debilitating disease, Mueller became increasingly paranoid and
exasperated. His paranoia caused additional isolation and confusion.

Exasperated, isolated, and without the advice and protection of counsel,
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Mueller falsely told police what they insisted he must tell them in order
to avoid a death sentence.

Substantially false confessions, even to serious criminal behavior,
occur persistently in the justice system. App. 22-113 (Articles
explaining the phenomenon of false confessions). They may be the
result of a wide array of factors. According to leading experts in the
field of false confessions, false confessions are espécially likely when
they are precipitated by two broad factors, i.e. when the suspect is
particularly vulnerable and when the interrogation is psychologically
coercive. Academic literature and expert opinion shows that one can
isolate those factors more likely to be present in false confeséion cases.
When these factors are compared with those present in Petitioner's case,
they support his contention that his confession was false.

According to Dr. Richard Ofshe, the following types of interroga-
tion techniques and suspect characteristics increase the likelihood of a

false confession:
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Interrogation techniques

1

Interrogator repeatedly states his belief in suspect's guilt.
(Officers in Mueller’s case had been telling him he was
guilty for 4 months)

Suspect is isolated from those who undermine this belief.
(Officers repeatedly told Mueller’s friends and family that
Mueller was guilty)

Lengthy interrogation and emotional intensity.
(Interrogation of Mueller occurred persistently for several
months at his home and work, as well as on the street.
After his arrest, Mueller was kept in a tiny room at the
police station for 4 hours despite repeated requests to leave
and be taken to jail)

Interrogator repeatedly states there is clear proof of
suspect's guilt. (Officers told Mueller that they knew he was
guilty because they had obtained semen, hair, and fiber
samples implicating him [none of which is true])
Interrogator repeatedly reminds suspect of mental disorder
or memory problems that would explain lack of memory
for crime. (Officers repeatedly told Mueller that there were
two Everett Muellers, and that Mueller was a different
person (a person who could commit such a crime) when he
was drinking)

Interrogator demands that suspect accept his explanation of
crime. (Officers told Mueller that they knew what happened
and how it happened, and that they had all the evidence
they needed to convict Mueller of the crime)

Interrogator reminds suspect of harmful consequences of
repeated denials. (Officers repeatedly informed Mueller
that he was only hurting himself by not telling them what
they wanted to hear and that they couldn’t help him in any
regard [his sentence or where he would serve it] unless he
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confessed to the crime)

Suspect's characteristics

1 Good trust of people in authority.
2 Lack of self-confidence.
3 Heightened suggestibility.

Also, false confessions are most likely to occur in high profile
murder cases where police have a dearth of viable suspects and a lack of
objective evidence.

Gisli H. Gudjonsson, another expert in this area, focuses on the
specific vulnerabilities of the accused which are likely to affect how he
or she copes with interrogation and which may lead to a false
confession:

Suspect's characteristics

Low intelligence.

Mental illness.

Recent bereavement.

Proneness to anxiety.

High suggestibility.

Strong tendency to comply with people in authority.
Language problems.

NI ON DN BN

Coerced-compliant false confessions (as relevant to Petitioner's
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case) are most likely to occur when "powerful and highly salient

techniques of social control" are used.

Trial counsel should have been readily aware of these factors and

how they relate to Petitioner's case:

a.

b.

Petitioner possessed only a fifth grade education and
vocabulary;

the State identified Petitioner's history of emotional
instability, mental illness, and other diseases which indicate
a predisposition to anxiety;

Petitioner sustained significant head injury during early
childhood with the resulting possibility of brain damage
which (according to White) increases the likelihood that a
confession may be false. White;

Petitioner has a profound history of alcohol abuse and was
in withdrawal on the morning of arrest and mentally and
physically weak. ‘
Petitioner had been under surveillance for several months
and was the subject of lengthy questioning;

Petitioner's interrogators claimed they had concrete
physical evidence linking him to the crime, such as semen,
flesh and hair found on the girl's body (Video Tape of
Confession at 0410, 0057, and 0866; J.A. 568, 599-601 and
that they had witnesses who said Petitioner committed the
crime. (Video tape of Confession at 0410, 1489).
Petitioner's interrogators promised him that if he confessed,
they would tell the jury that the crime was an accident
(Video Tape of Confession at 1823, 1975, and 2885) they
would do their best to get him a name change and onto an
out-of-state program (Video Tape of Confession at 1741,
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1823, 2230, and 3005); and that they would help his
girlfriend on a federal parole violation. J.A. 584, 594,

h.  False confessions are most likely to occur in high profile
murder cases where police are pressed to identify a viable
suspect but lack objective evidence fits closely with the
facts of Petitioner's case.

In light of the above and the relevant academic research applied
to the current case, the facts surrounding Petitioner's confession cast
more than a reasonable doubt on whether his confession was genuine
and reliable. This evidence, coupled with the identification of someone
else at the Hardee’s near Charity Powers, the presence of physical
evidence at the crime scene connecting someone other than Mueller to
Charity Powers, and the complete lack of any physical or forensic

evidence connecting Mueller to Charity Powers’ abduction, rape, or

death, certainly indicates the overwhelming likelihood that the person

who committed this crime is still walking the streets.

Virginia Governors know well that people who confess to crimes
are not necessarily guilty. See also App. 22-113. In recent years

clemency has been granted to both Joseph Giarratano and Earl
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Washington, each of whom gave a full confession to the crimes charged.
Both had their death sentences commuted when they had a chance to
show - in clemency proceedings - that their confession were false and
that there was substantial evidence that they were innocent. Mr.
Mueller asks that his petition for clemency be considered in the same
careful manner that the petitions in these cases were considered, and that
he be provided the time and resources to make his equally persuasive
case for clemency.

Mueller asks the Governor to provide him the assistance of an
expert with special knowledge and experience in the field of false
confessions, and sufficient time for such an expert to review tﬁis case.
Mueller also asks that the Governor obtain and review the videotape of
the police interrogation on February 12, 1991. This videotape is now in
the custody of the Chesterfield County Circuit Court Clerk. By
reviewing this vicieotape the Governor will more fully appreciate the
need for further inquiry into the accuracy of the statefnent obtained from

Mueller.
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Conclusion

Mr. Mueller asks that the Governor give careful consideration to
the matters outlined above, and to his request for assistance in proving
his innocence. As the Governor is aware, the'CommonweaIth provides
no assistance in clemency proceedings, so the Governor himself would
have to act to make such assistance available. Mr. Mueller also requests
the opportunity to meet with the Governor or his representative and/or

to have someone meet with them on Mr. Mueller’s behalf.

Respectfully submifted,

EVERETT LEE MUELLER
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September 1999

The Honorable James S. Gilmore, III
Governor of the Commonwealth of Virginia
Office of the Governor

State Capitol, 3rd Floor

Richmond, Virginia 232189

Dear Governor Gilmore:
I did not kill Charity Powers. With your help, I can prove my innocence.
Do not let an innocent man be put to death on September 16, 1989.

The evidence against me

There isn’t any physical evidence that I committed any crimes against
Charity Powers because I didn’t. No one has ever discovered any evidence that I
killed Charity Powers. Because I didn’t. No one has ever found any evidence
that I raped or abducted hér. Because I didn’t. As a matter of fact, all of the
evidence discovered in the case shows that someone else did these things to
Charity Powers.

Even today, the only evidence that I did these things is my false
confession to police. Please let me tell you what I krnow about the death of
Charity Powers. I Qill also tell you why I said that I did something that I

didn’t do and how with your help I can prove my innocence.

What I know about the death of Charity Powers

/

Shortly after the news reports that Charity Powers disappeared, police came
and questioned me. They asked me if I knew anything about wﬁat happened to her
and told me that I was a suspect. They told me that a car like mine was seen
where she was laét seen and someoﬁe who looked like me was driving the car.

Not l¢pg after they talked to me, I was cutting through the woods on my way
back from Pike Pond in Chesterfield County and noticed some clothes off the path.

I saw a body a few feet from these clothes. The body was partially covered by



some leaves. I brushed some of the leaves off and could see that it was the body
of a girl with blond hair. The clothes were off. She looked to me to be dead.

I could not believe<what I was seeing. I’'d never seen anyone dead before. I
just went to pieces and started crying. I felt like I could not stand up. I
think I was there for about 5 minutes trying to pull myself together.

Around this time, I was a bad alcoholic and had been for years. I felt
sick if I didn’t drink. My hands would shake and I would sweat. I felt like I
was always about tc panic until I had a drink. That was the way I felt when I
saw her body.

When I finally started to think, I thought I should call the police. But
then I got scared. They had already questioned me about her disappearance.

Also, I had a criminal record and believed that, if I was charged with something,
I would get put away just because I had a record. Although I served my time and
did well in every prison program I was in, I still thought it would be used
against me.

I thought about the little girl’s body constantly. I couldn’t get her out
of my head. I thought that I shouldn’t just leave her there. I bought a shovel
and went back into the woods. It was the hardest thing I’ve ever done. I knew I
should not have been doing this. But I thought there was no choice.

I buried her and burned her clothes. I have always said that this was the
wrong thing to do. Afterwards, at night, I would lie in my bed thinking about
that little girl I found. I would wake up crying. I couldn’t handle the guilt.
I should n;t have buried her. I should have just called the police. I am so
aéhamed that I didmn’'t.

I was not the same person after I found and buried her. I felt like I was

losing my mind. I could not eat. I could not sleep. My drinking got worse.

All I wanted to do was drink more and more. I guess I was trying to drown the

pain and guilt I felt. I kept thinking that 1f I told anyone what I had done,



.

everyone would think that I attacked her. So I said nothing.

Why I Confessed

I drank more and more. The police followed me everywhere. They followed
my car. They stopped me on the street. They came to my work and spoke to my
bosses, to me and to other workers about me. They told them that I was a
convicted criminal. They séoke to my friends and my family. They told me and my
friends that I was guilty, that they knew I was guilty, and that they would make
sure that I was found guilty. Someone left posters and notes about the missing
girl on the windshield of my car.

At one point, I told police that I would take a lie detector test and went
to the police statiop to take the test. When I got there they said I alsoc had to
let them go through my car and belongings and I wanted to be with my car when
they went through it. When they kept telling me I was guilty I was afraid that
the test was rigged so I would be found guilty. I was too afraid to take it
then. I wish now that I took that test.

After several months of being harassed and questioned I was frustrated and
angry but I knew I couldn’t tell the police because they already decided that I
was guilty of more than I did.

When the police arrested me they told ﬁe that I was going to jéil. They
said they had all the evidence they needed to convict me and put me in prison.
They told me that the only choice I had was to talk to them or go to jail.
Because I didn’'t want to talk to them anymore, I asked them over and over to take
me to jail. They ignored me and kept after me. They said that I was definitely
going to jail. They said that if I told them that I did it they would make sure
that I was held somewhere where né one would know what I was in for. They said
that if I didn’t confess to everything, they would make sure everyone knew that I
was convicted of having sex with a little girl.

After over two hours of police telling me that I had to tell them that I



was guilty, I gave up and told them what they wanted to hear. I can’t explain
exactly why I told ﬁhem that I did it. I thought it was the only way to protect
myself in prison. I was tired and angry and thought I had no choice but to tell
them what they wanted to hear. I thought that I could get back at them if I told
them something that wasn’t true and that they would later find out wasn’t true.

I was so guilty about burying her body. I wasn’t thinking straight. When I get
fiustrated and upset I have a problem sometimes saying things without thinking
that hurt me and others. This happened to me again at trial when the prosecuting
attorneys got me upset.

I was relieved to tell someone in authority that I knew something about the
little girl. I felt better to get that out of me. Everything that I told them
was what I remembered about finding the body. I took the police up to where i
found the little girl’s body and showed them where I dug to bury her. I didn’'t
know how the little girl was killed. I told them I guess I strangled her, bﬁt I
later found out that she was not strangled. I told them I did the other things
they said because they said they wouldn’t help me unless I confessed to all of
it.

Evidence that I am innocent

Every piece of evidence in this case shows that I am innocent. Police
showed photographs of suspects including me to the four eyewitnesses at the
Hardee’s who saw the man who was with Charity Powers on the night she
disappeared.> The police asked)the witnesses to pick out the person at the
Hardee’s that night. Each of the four did NOT pick me and picked a photograph of
one of the other suspects. I have tried to find out who the other photographs
were but have been told that no one will tell me.

There wéé no physicai evidence even suggesting that I abducted, raped or

killed Charity Powers. The physical evidence that was found proved that someone

~else had intimate contact with Charity Powers. A hair found on her body did not



belong to me or Charity. Even though the Commonwealth can run the DNA of this
hair through its DNA bank, no tests have ever been done to find out whose hair
this is. There was nothing found in my car, my house, on my clothes or
Charity’'s, or on’my body or Charity’s (like fingefprints, blood, fibers, skin
etc.,) that indicated in any way that I had aﬁy contact with Charity Powers. I
didn’t.

There was no evidence that I had sex with her. I didn’'t.

The police said that my confession was accurate but in my confession I said
that Charity was choked and she was not. The medical examiner reported that
Charity Powers’ throat had been cut and that this was the cause of death.

I drove a car similar to the one described by the boys at the Hardee’s but
there were at least two other cars identical to mine in the neighborhood near the
Hardee’s. One of my neighbors gave a sworn statement that this is true. Not one
of the owners of these cars was questioned and not one of these cars was checked
by police.

I _can prove my innocence with vour help

With your help I can prove my innocence. I asked the courts to allow me
the help I needed to prove my innocence but I did not get the help I needed. I
hope that you will not make a decision on my clemency without any of the
available evidence of my innocence. You will have all of the evidence that the
Prosecutor presented against me but you will never hearAﬁy evidence. At my trial
there was just about no evidence put on for me.

I am not asking you to believe that I am innocent just because of this
letter. But I am asking you to give me a chance to prove my innocence in this
clemency. The court said that it could not look at evidence of my innocence at
this point, but you can. Being able to look at evidence of innocence means
little if you do not give’me a chance to get this evidence in the first place. I
don’t have the money to get this evidéncé myself but with a little time and a few

orders from you, I will prove to everyone that I am innocent.



Sincerely,

Everett L. Mueller, #190275
Sussex I State Prison

24414 Musselwhite Dr.
Waverly, VA 23891
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AFFIDAVIT OF KEVIN HUGHL8 SPEEKS
I, Kevin Hughlgd-#siecks, of 16060 Flatfoot Road, Dinwiddie, Virginia, do hereby
state the following:
1. 1 was a witness called by the prosecution in the 1991 capital murder trial of

Everett Musller.

2. 1 called the Chesterfield County Police the day after Charity Pawers disappeared
10 report that I had seen her at a Hardee's Restaurant on lefferson Davis Highway at
approximately 1:00 a.m. the previous moming, October 6, 1997. [ spoke with Licutenant

Shelwon.

3. After this phone conversation, [ \;vem ta the Chesterfield County Police Department
and ralked to Li. Shelton in person. Li. Shelton asked me if | would call the other three
friends that were with me at the Hardee's on the moming of Qctober 6, 1990. I agreed. and
later that day Chris Coaper, Stephen Cooper, and John Burke joined me at the Chesterficld
County Police Department to 1alk to detectives about Charity Power’s disappearance.

4. The four of us retrned together to the Chesterfield County Police Department on
3 or 4 more oceasions during that next week. I belicve we weat to- the police station on
Monday, Tuesday, and Wednesday of the following week., We were told on several
occasions that we would be meeting with a sketch artist who would sketch the man we saw at
the Hardee's, although we never met with any sketch arist.

5. On each visit 10 the station, we met with approximately three d;::ecrives who were
dressed in coats and ties. On our third or fourth visit, which I believe was on or around
Wednesday, October 10, 1990, the detectives asked each of us to accompany them into 2

small conference room on one of the upper floors of the Chesterfield County Police
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Depariment. On this day, therc were approximately 3 detectlves, one of whom was short

with brown heir and a brown mustache. We were each escorted individually and asked 10

look at 7 ar B polaroid photos of men to sse if we could pick out the man we saw a1 the

Hardee’s. After viewing the photos, 1 made a selection. I left the room and another one of
my friends was escorted into the same room.

6. After all of us hadA been taken into the conference room, the four of us left
together and compared -notcs about whar happened in the conference room with the pictures.
Each of us had selected one of the photos as the person we saw at the Hardee's from among

those spread out in front of us. Alier discussing and describing the photos, it was clear 10 us

that two of us chose the same man, while my other two friends had chosen other men. The
police did not ask me anymore questions regarding this phato ideniification after that day.
7. The above statements are true to the best of my recollection,
% ™ '//7 / " /
; {etd LI 42
Kevin Hughiasd Sheeks
uehlans e
ed and sworn before me this
Jﬁi day of October, 1997}
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' AFFIDAVIT OF STEPHEN S, COOPER

1, Siephen S. Cooper, of 3317 Walnut Cove Court, Chesterfield, Virginia, do hereby state the
following:

1. I was at Hardee’s Restaurant on Jefferson Davis Highway at approximataly 1:00 2.m. on
the morning of October 6, 1990 with Kevin Speeks. John Burke, and my brother Chris Caoper.

2. On QOctoher 7, 1990, Kevin Speeks called me and told me that the Chesterfield County
Police would like me to come to the police headquarters to discuss Charity Pawers’ disappearance. |
arrived at the police station that day and ralked with several detectives.

3. The four of us returned to the police station together on several more occasions. I believe
we rerurned 3 limes within that next week. The police told us we would be meeting with a skewch
artist, but that never happened.

4. On one occasion, 1 had a conversation with detectives that was being taped. On another
occasion, I was shown polaroid pictures of different cars. 1 was asked if I recognized any of these
cars as the one | saw in the Hardee's parking lot.

| 5. On a separate occasion, we were individually taken into a roon-; 10 ook at polaroid pictures
of men. T was taken into 2n upstairs room with 2 detectives and asked o ook at theses piétures 1o
se¢ if I recognized any of the men as the man I saw at the Hardee's Restaurant on the moming of
October 6, 1990. |

6. The above statements are true to the best of my recollection.

‘ ““Stephen S. Cooper

§i ﬁg and swomn before me this
T gﬁ day of October, 1937,

;i‘/-’/'zﬂ"z"k__ ':_iff:‘/ﬂ/s\
Notary Public -

'My commission expires 7-_/; 5/ 254(//
, Tk
v
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AFEIDAVIT

I, DEBORAH PRUITT, do hereby certify that the 'Iollowing is
true and accurate to the best of my knowledge. I live at 2926
Mount Clair Road, Chester, Virginia 23831. I was Everett Lee
Mueller’s next-door neiqhﬁor at the time of the disappearance of
Charity Powers.

| On the night of October 5, 1990, I went to bed around 11:00
o’clock p.m. Because the weather was fair that nignt,vI kept my

bedroom window open. I often keep my bedroom window open when I

sleep to get some fresh alr. Since my bedroom is on the side of

my house closest to Mr. Mueller’s house, I had a direct view to
his house, especially the front portion of it because his house
is at a slight angle to mine. Around 12:45 a.m. or 1:45 a.m. in
the early morning houxs of October 6, 1990, I was awaken by the
sound of a car pulling up the driveway of Mr. Mueller’s house. I
was not sure of the time, but remembered the numbers :45 since I
loocked at the clock and wondered who could be making all that
noise at that time of night. '

As I got up and walked towards the window, I looked ocut and
saw five individuals in the driveway of Mr. Mueller’s house.
They were Georgia Whitley, David Nixon, Charlie Buckler, another
man and another female with what appeared to be blond or light-

colored hair. Although I could not see for sure who the other

‘man was, I knew that it was not Mr. Mueller since I recognized

Mr. Mueller. At that time, Mr. Mueller was sharing the house
with Georgia Whitley and David Nixon. That night I saw two

identi¢a1 station wagons with wood-grained paneling in Mr.

1160 /09
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Mueller’s drive-way. One vehicle was Mr. Mueller’s; the other
belonged to the indiviciuals that I saw. | |

'I paid no attention to them and soon got back in ny bed and
fell back to sleep. I did not think much of that incident, not
even when I learned that Charity Powers had disappeared since I
found nothing suspicious at that time with what I saw. However,
when Mr. Mueller was arrested for the murder, rape and abduction
of Charity Powers, that incident then became significant to me.

I related this information to the police inves:tigators whé
questioned me, and also to Mr. Christopher J. Collins, one of Mr,
Mueller’s attorneys. T met with Mr. Collins shortly before Mr.
Mueller’s trial and related tom that information and also
other information as I will mention below:™aHowever, Mr. cOliins
appeared not to take what. T said seriously, and he kept saying to
me that Mr. Mueller was guilty. We spoke for only approximately
30 ninutes at the most., I also told Mr. Collins about the other
vehicle that looked jdentical to Mr. Mueller’s. There was also a
third station wagon which looked identical to Mx. Mueller’s.
That station wagon belonged to an elderly lady by the nanme of
lLouise, who lived on Jefferson Davis Highway, but I <o not know
exactly where. f0uize had a son named Ron, who looked simlilar to
Mr. Mueller in appearance. Ron would often drive Louise’s car.
Bo‘éh fouise and Ron would visit Georgia Whitley and David Nixon
and would drink beer in their house or in their trailer behind
théir ho’ﬁse'. I alsb related that information to the police.

T also told Mr. cCollins and the police that I found it

1161
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- best of my knowledge.

=

3

difficult to believe that Mr. Mueller would have committed sucn‘
offenses, because I have five children. Mr. Muelier had been
arcund both my teenage daughters and ny youngest son, and all of
my children 1liked hin. He got along well with them. My son and
my daughters spent time with him and nothing had ever happened to
then.

| Although I was "Subpoenaed as a witness to court, I was never

called to testify as a witness for either the COmmonwealth or Mr

Mueller. I give this affidavit freely‘ and voluntarlly and to the
ofifr. ..

' d

BORAR PRUITT
o .

: o
TATE OF VIRGINIA N

>
-
.

OF / ; )-wit': e

The foregoing Affidavit was signed and sworn to before me

. 7 '
thisJJd_— day of . i r 1994, by Deborah Pruitt.

My commission expires: /9? ‘:.?/—«?; /




AFFIDAVIT

I, GAIL TATUM, do hereby certify, under oath, the following:

I was a friend of Everett Lee Mueller for two to three years
until he was arrested for the murder of Charity Powers. When he
was arrested, I could not believe that he was capable of what the
police said that he did, because he was always so helpful to me
aﬁd my family. He would always be there to fix it when something
went wrong. I could depend on him at all times. He was always a
fine person and a gentleman with me. I never felt threatened by
him nor did he give me any reason to be.

I have two sons. At that time, they were 7 and 13 years
old. I left them with Everett sometimes when I was either at
work or had to go out on an errand. They went on outings with
him and spent the night with him on severél occasions. I never
felt that their safety would be at issue with Everett. They got
along fine with him.

‘ I spoke only at the trial with Everett’s trial attorneys.

They did not contact me before the trial, but I was subpoenaed.

I give this affidavit freely and voluntarily.

loctnenss bo Goell L A1luA=
cZAJh,L_¢“%k~“~,Lqu«4H

STATE OF VIRGINIA

OF ; 7 , to-wit:

The foregoing Affidavit was acknowledged before me this
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certification.

Q How many cases have you had
occasion to work on?

A Approximately 500 or so.

Q Have you testified in court
before? |

A Yes, I have.

Q As an expert witness in your
field?

A Yes, sir.

Q In connection with the Charity
Powers’ case, did you receive some evidence to
examine?

A Yes, sir, I did.

Q Did some of that evidenée consist

of a hair fiber from the rectum area of the
deceased, Charity Powers?

A Yes.

Q Did you also receive hair
samplés, other hair samples from Charity Powers that
were known to be Charity Powers’ hair?

A Yes, I did.

Q Did you receive hair samples thét
were known to be collected from Mr. Mueller?

A ~Yes, I did..

CRANE-SNEAD & ASSOC., INC.
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Direct - Fram
§53
Q What did your evaluation of that
evidence as to the hair found in the rectum show?
A That hair was not consistent with
coming from either the individual or Mr. Mueller.
Q Did you receive hair samples from

Mr. Mueller from various parts of his body?

A Yes.

Q | Did you, can you tell the Court
what_hair samples were collected from Mr. Mueller?

A Head samples, chest hair sample,
pubic hair samples.

Q Did you receive samples on more
than one occasion?

A Yes, sir, on two occasions.

Q Isn’t it correct thatﬂwhen you
didn’t get a match the first time, that you

requested additional samples be provided?

A Yes.

0 And those were provided?

A Yes.

Q And again, no match was found

between that hair and any of Mr. Mueller’s hair?
A That’s correct.
MR. COLLINS: Thank you, Mr.

Fram. Answer any questions Mr. Von Schuch

CRANE-SNEAD & ASSOC., INC.
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might have.

CROSS-EXAMINATION

BY MR. VON SCHUCH:

Q Could you tell us whether that

hair was a male hair or a female hair?

A No. I could not.

Q It could have been a female hair?
A | Yes, it could have been.

0 Can you tell the ladies and

gentiemen of the jury about hair transfer and how
hair is transferred?

A Yes, hair is transferred in a
large number of ways. The number one way is people
coming in contact with each other, in addition, a
person coming in contact with an object on which
that hair has already been transferred. So, for
example, hairs can transfer-if you bump into

somebody. Hairs can transfer if you sit in a chair

that someone else sat in. In addition, other ways

such as hairs being on an item of clothing, even as
far as clothes in a washer can pick up hairs from

other items of clothing on to them and have them

CRANE-SNEAD & ASSOC., INC.
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transfer. There are a large number of mechanisms,
ways that hairs can transfer.

0 Is it possible that any hair
found on an individual could have come from somecne
who they never had any contact with at all?

A Yes, it ié.

MR. VON SCHUCH: Thank your. No
further questions.

MR. COLLINS: I have no further
guestions.

THE COURT: You may stand down.

May the witness be excused?

MR. COLLINS: Yes, sir.

MR. VON SCHUCH: Yes, sir.

WITNESS STOOD ASIDE

MR. COLLINS: The defense would

rest, Your Honor.
THE COURT: Any rebuttal on

behalf of the Commonwealth?

CRANE-SNEAD & ASSOC., INC.
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Virginians Say They Want An Alternative

Virginiéné' Attitudes Toward the Death Penalty |

Politicians loudly support the death penalty because they believe it is popular -- and it's
easier than finding more complex, effective solutions to crime. Independent statewide polls from
1989 and 1993-1999 asked this question to a broad sample of Virginians:

"Would you favor abolition of the death penalty if the alternative were a life sentence with no
possibility of parole for 25 years, combined with a restitution program requiring the prisoner to
work for money that would go to families of murder victims?"

The response: The 1989 poll from Virginia Commonwealth University and the 1993-1999 polls
from the Center For Survey Research at Virginia Tech show that Virginians overwhelmingly
prefer the alternative over the death penalty. (See 1997 poll results below). The figure is
consistent with similar polls nationwide.

1999 Survey Results Once Again Show Virginians In Favor of Alternatives to
the Death Penalty

For the 7th consecutive year survey results from the Quality of Life in Virginia Poll show that
Virginians prefer an alternative to the death penalty. When surveyors asked 514 respondents
whether they supported the death penalty, 74 % agreed. This is the lowest percentage that
responded in favor of the death penalty in the 7 years. For the second consecutive year nearly 20%
opposed the death penalty which is the highest recorded in the 7 years of polling..

But when respondents were asked their views if there were the alternative of Life, with no
possibility of parole for a minimum of 25 years combined with restitution to the victims’ family,
54.8% agreed with the alternative and 40.5 % disagreed.

“What this survey shows us is that once again, for the 7th consecutive year, Virginians prefer an
alternative to the death penalty”, said Henry Heller, director of Virginians for Alternatives to the
Death Penalty. “If the public doesn’t really want the death penalty why are a large majority of our
legislators pushing it down our throats?”

b

1998 Poll Results

Results of the 1998 Poll are very encouraging. For the 6th consecutive year, Virginians support
for the death penalty is cut by more than half when given the alternative of life with no possibility
of parole for a minimum of 25 years combined with restitution to the victims' family. This year's
results also show a continuing downward trend in support of the death penalty overall. 75.4%
supported the death penalty in this year's poll. That is a decrease from 79.5% last from last year
and 82.8% from the year before. Consequently, opposition to the death penalty has risen through

~-the last 3 years. While 13.2% opposed the death penalty in 1996, and 17% opposed it last year,
nearly 20% opposed it this year. '

When given the alternative, 56.3% agreed with the alternative while 37.9% disagreed. This is
consistent within a percentage point of results through the last 4 years.

3 | 9/10/99 10:36 AM
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Results based on 726 compieted interviews with a margin of error +- 3.8%.

1997 Poll Results

The Center for Survey Research at Virginia Tech has released this year's (1997) results to their
annual poll. Highlights of the questions pertaining to the death penalty are:

When asked the generic question of for or against, 79.5% supported the death penalty,
compared to 82.8% last year. 17.1% opposed compared to 13.2% last year. While support
for the alternative of Life, with no possibility of parole for a minimum of 25 years combined
with restitution to the victims' families remained at 57%, support for the death penalty
decreased from 40.3& to 38.2%.

844 interviews were completed with a margin of error of +-3.4% at the 95% level of
confidence.

From This Year's Quality of Life in Virginia Poll (1997)
Question #1) Do you support the death penalty for convicted murderers?

Question #2) Would you favor an alternative sentence of Life, with no possibility of parole
for 25 years, plus restitution to the victims' families?

Question #3) Do you favor the Virginia law that does not allow any new evidence of
innocence in a death penalty case to be presented more than 21 days after the trial?

: From Quality of Life in Virginia: 1997 Poll
a0
80 ?9.5

B rovor

Oppose
Undecided

This annual survey reafﬁrms that support for the death penalty dwindles to a minority when the
public is glven the alternative of life, with no possibility of parole for 25 years, plus restitution to
the victims' families.

Virginians clearly oppose, by a 3 to 1 margin, the state law which prevents the accused from
introducing new evidence of innocence 21 days after trial.

Source: Center for Survey Research at Virginia Tech, 1997
... Based on 844 interviews - margin of error +3.4% .
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| CONFESSIONS

| No one says that police have brought out the rubber hose, but
- some of their interrogation techniques are raising questions
| about why innocents confess to crimes they didn’t commit.

\



BY MARK HANSEN

wo days after 12-year-
old Stephanie Crowe was
found stabbed to death on
the bedroom floor of her
Escondido, Calif., home,
her 1l4-year-old brother,
Michael, told police he had killed
his younger sister as she slept.

Not long afterward, one of his
friends and classmates told police
he stood lookout the night of
Jan. 20, 1998, while Michael and
a third boy sneaked into Steph-
anie’s bedroom and killed her.

Based entirely on the two
‘boys’ statements; police came up -
with the theory that Michael, jeal-
ous of the attention his sister was
getting, enlisted his friends in a
plot to kill her.

Mark Hansen is a reporter for
the ABA Journal His e-mail address
is markhansen@staff.abanet.org.

MOVIE STILL ARCHIVES

The only thing missing in the
investigation was the murder weap-
on. Police thought they found it
when they came across the young-
er brother of one of the boys play-
ing with a hunting knife. Later the
older boy told police he had been
given the knife after the killing-and
told to hide it.
~ With that, all three were ar-
rested on charges of conspiracy and
first-degree murder, and the case
became an overnight media sen-
sation: Three seemingly typical
teenagers from apparently “good”
homes whose shared fascination
with knives and computer games
had gotten way out of hand. One
TV tabloid show even went so far
as to describe the case as “The
Devil Son Who Murdered the Angel
Daughter.”

The only problem with the
whole scenario is that all three boys
may be innocent. That became clear
at the start of jury selection in a
trial in January, when prosecutors
disclosed that Stephanie’s DNA had
been found on a bloody sweatshirt
worn by a 29-year-old vagrant seen
knocking on doors and peering in
windows the night the girl was
murdered.

In late February, prosecutors
dismissed all charges against the
three, though they left open the
possibility that they may be refiled
later. By late May, the vagrant had
not been charged in connection
with Stephanie’s death.

If the boys hadn't joined in a
plot to kill Stephanie, the “confes-
sions” by two of them, who both
quickly recanted, raise troubling
questions about human nature. But
they also raise troubling questions
about standard police interrogation
tactics.

What kind of person would

.confess to a crime he or she didn’t

commit? And given the fact that
some people apparently do, what
makes them more likely than any-

body else to confess falsely?

The answer, experts say, is
that while practically anybody can
be made to confess to something
he or she didn't do under the in-
tense psychological pressures of a
modern police interrogation, the
young and the mentally impaired

are more susceptible than most.

That’s because the young and
the mentally impaired tend to be
more suggestible, more eager to
please, more deferential toward
people in positions of authority and
less capable of rational decision-
making than the average person.

The whole point of an interro-
gation, after all, is to extract a con-
fession from somebody police sus-
pect is probably guilty by leading
that person to believe the evidence
is overwhelming, his or her fate is
certain, and the benefits from con-
fessing outweigh the costs.

To do that, police interrogators
employ a variety of psychological
tactics designed to wear down a
suspect and break the person’s re-
sistance—from appealing to the
suspect’s conscience to fabricating
claims of evidence—all of which is
perfectly legal and highly effective.

Hopeless Confusion

But the same tactics that work
so well at getting the guilty to con-
fess sometimes work just as well
with the innocent, who tend to con-
fess to a crime they didn’t commit
for one of two reasons. Either they
come to the conclusion that their
situation, while unjust, is hopeless
and will only be improved by con-

fessing, or, their faith in their own

memory is so badly shaken they
come to believe they are guilty even
though they don’t remember it.
“The logic is really quite sim-
ple,” says Richard J. Ofshe, a soci-
ology professor at the University of
California at Berkeley who studies
the relationship between police in-
terrogation tactics and false confes-
sions. “If you put somebody in a sit-
uation he believes is hopeless and
you give him a choice between two
bad options, you can get him to say
just about anything you want.”
Ofshe recalls one case in which
police induced a suspect to confess
by telling him they had satellite

A person who reaches the breaking point just
wants to escape, and confession is a quick escape.

photos of him committing the crime.
In another case, he says, 2 quick-
thinking detective invented a new
type of bogus technology—called a
neutron proton negligence intelli-
gence test—to persuade a suspect
that police had scientific proof he
fired the gun used to kill two people.
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Saul Kassin, a social psycholo-
gist at Williams College in Williams-
town, Mass., who specializes in the
dynamics of police interrogations,
says average people tend to think
they would never confess to a crime
they didn't commit. But
average pecple don't un-
derstand how stressful a
police interrogation can be,
he says.

“We all have our break-
ing point,” Kassin notes.
“When somebody reaches
his or her breaking point,
all he or she wants to do is
escape. And the quickest
means of escaping a police
interrogation is to tell [in-
terrogators] what they
want to hear.”

The Vuinerahle Ones

The question, then, is
not whether innocent peo-
ple falsely confess, but how
often.

E. Michael McCann,
Milwaukee'’s district attor-
ney, says any experienced
prosecutor knows it can,
and sometimes does, hap-
pen, particularly when the
person confessing is a
young child or someone
with limited intellectual
abilities.

But McCann says a false con-
fession can usually be distinguished
from a truthful one depending on
whether it includes details about
the crime only the offender would
know. The danger, he says, is that
the false confessor could inadver-
tently have been provided those de-
tails before or during interrogation.

“Even the most conscientious
cop can make a mistake,” McCann
says. “That’s why you have to be ex-
tremely careful in a situation like
that, particularly if there is no in-
dependent, corroborating evidence
to go along with the confession.”

Some prosecutors admit there
are false confessions and there are
coerced confessions, but they say
there is no such thing as a police-in-

duced false confession.
“Innocent people do confess

sometimes, which is a real problem
for law enforcement,” says Joshua
Marquis, the Clatsop County, Ore.,
district attorney. “But the idea that
somebody can be induced to falsely
confess is ludicrous. It’s the Twin-
kie defense of the 1990s. It’s junk
science at its worst.”

52 ABA JOURNAL / JULY 1999

Paul Cassell, a law professor at
the University of Utah and a for-
mer federal prosecutor. studies the
phenomenon of false confessions.
He says the problem doesn't appear
to be pandemic, as others have sug-

PAUL CASSELL People with mental limitations are at special
risk of confessing, but it rarely results in wrongful conviction. August, when the police an-

gested, but confined to a very nar-
row and especially vulnerable sub-
set of the population, namely the
mentally impaired.

“The evidence suggests that
those with mental limitations are
at special risk of false confessions,
but that it’s actually quite rare and
hardly ever results in a wrongful
conviction,” he says.

Yet Kassin says there have
been enough documented instances
of false confessions in capital cases,
which tend to get far more scrutiny
than noncapital cases, to suggest
that the problem is a lot bigger
than anyone would like to think.

Ofshe and a colleague, Richard
A. Leo, a professor of criminology,
law and society at the University
of California at Irvine, claim to
have identified more than 250 like-
ly cases of false confessions in the
post-Miranda era. Sixty of these
have been documented in an article
they wrote for the Winter 1998 is-
sue of the Journal of Criminal Law
and Criminology. 88 J. Crim. L. &
Criminology 429.

In their article, Ofshe and Leo
not only analyzed the evidence in

the 60 cases they examined but
grouped them into three categories:
34 of which they classify as proven
false confessions, 18 as highly prob-
able and eight as probable.

One case they classify as prob-
able may even have resulted
in an innocent man’s exe-
cution, the authors contend.
That is the case of Barry Lee
Fairchild, who was executed
in 1995 for being an accesso-
ry in the 1983 abduction,
rape and murder of a Pulas-
ki County, Ark., woman.

According to Ofshe and
Leo, no independent evi-
dence linked Fairchild to
the crime. And Fairchild, a
mentally handicapped man
who had steadfastly main-
tained his innocence, insist-

crime only because he had
been beaten and tortured
by the local sheriff and one
of his deputies. (Two former
sheriffs now admiit that beat-
ings were a common interro-
gation tactic at the time of
Fairchild’s arrest.)

A case Ofshe says is
sure to appear on the next
list surfaced in Chicago last

nounced they had solved the
July 28 murder of an 1l-year-old
girl, Ryan Harris, with the arrest of
two boys, ages 7 and 8, both of whom
were said to have confessed to the
crime. But charges against the boys
were dropped after semen found on
the victim’s underwear was linked
to Floyd Durr, an ex-convict who
was already awaiting trial for sexu-
ally assaulting three young girls. In
late April, Durr was charged with
Harris’ murder as well.

Interrogation Tactics

But the Stephanie Crowe case
is a textbook example of how a po-
lice interrogation can go wrong, ac-
cording to Ofshe, who was an ex-
pert for the defense, and others
connected with the case.

Police thought from the begin-
ning that the murder was an inside
job because the house showed no
sign of forced entry. And they quick-
ly settled on Michael as the prime
suspect. One of the first officers on
the scene had described him as be-
ing “inappropriately bereaved.”

" Michael, who was immediately
separated from his parents, was
brought in to the station for ques-
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ed he had confessed to the:
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tioning the day after Stephanie’s
murder. Over the course of the next
five hours he adamantly and re-
peatedly insisted he had nothing to
do with his sister's death. But he
was brought back the next day and
administered a controversial lie de-
tector test known as a computer-
ized voice stress analyzer—which
he was told he had failed-—and then
grilled for another six hours.

Police used every trick in the
book to get Michael to confess, ac-
cording to a transcript of the inter-
rogation, most of which was video-
taped.

They told him there was a

mountain of evidence against him.
They made him write a note of apol-
ogy to his dead sister for having
killed her. They told
him his parents hated
him and never wanted
to see him again be-
cause they had come to
believe he had killed
his sister. And they told
him if he confessed he
would receive psycho-
logical treatment in-
stead of prison, where,
he was reminded, he
would have to shower
with some unsavory
characters.
At one point in the
interrogation Michael
began to wonder aloud
whether he might have
had something to do
with his sister’s death,
though he still main-
tained he had no mem-
ory of it. Eventually, he
came to accept the no-
tion that he must be
guilty.

“l completely blocked myself
out,” he said near the end of the
session. “And I wouldn’t even know
that I did it if she wasn’t dead. It
just as easily could have been a
dream. I can’t remember.”

After Michael’s confession, po-
lice repeated the same process with
Joshua Treadway, the 14-year-old
friend who supposedly stood look-
out. After 11 hours of questioning,

. he not only confessed but implicat-

ed 15-year-old Aaron Houser.
“You'd have to know Josh to
understand why,” says Mary Ellen
Attridge, Treadway’s public defend-
er. “He's very naive and very
gullible. There’s not a streetwise
bone in his body.”
" Meanwhile, Richard Rayrhond
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Tuite. the 29-vear-old vagrant and
a diagnosed schizophrenic with a
lengthy arrest record who is now
serving a three-year sentence for an
unrelated burglary, was questioned
by police the day Stephanie’s body
was found. ‘

But he was quickly discounted
as a possible suspect. And while the
red sweatshirt Tuite was wearing
during questioning was confiscated,
it wasn't until late last year, when
Attridge spotted what appeared to
be blood stains on one sleeve, that it
was tested for DNA.

The Crowe family has already
filed a civil rights suit against the
Escondido police and the San Diego

" County district attorney’s office.

And the Treadway and Houser fam-

A requirement that all interro-
gations be recorded, which is now
the rule in only two states—Alaska
and Minnesota—would help, he and
other experts say.

What the Justice System Gan Do

But the real solution, they ar-
gue, would be to give courts author-
ity to evaluate the reliability of a
confession by comparing a suspect’s
account of the crime with the known
facts. If the substance of the con-
fession conformed closely with the
facts, it would be admitted; if not,
the confession would be suppressed.

But Cassell of the University
of Utah isn't convinced that false
confessions are as serious a prob-
lem as Ofshe and others suggest.
Cassell doesn’t believe

~~~~~~~~

RICHARD OFSHE An expert wilness in at least 125 cases of false
confession, he says something must be done to reduce them.

ilies are said to be contemplating
similar legal action.

“It’s like one long nightmare,”
says Stephen Crowe, Michael and
Stephanie’s father, who bitterly ac-
cuses police and prosecutors of try-
ing to put away three innocent boys
to save their own behinds. “I don’t
know how they sleep at night.”

" Ofshe, who estimates that he
has appeared as an expert witness
in more than 125 false-confession
cases, admits that his view of police
interrogation tactics may be skewed
by his experience with the practice.
But he says the evidence he and
others have amassed should per-
suade any fair-minded person that
something needs to be done to re-
duce the likelihood of police-induced
false confessions.

[ giving the courts authori-
i ty to scrutinize confes-
sions is a good idea. The
consequence, he suggests,
would be suppression of
more truthful confessions
from the guilty.

Cassell says that his
examination of the facts
in nine of the 29 cases
in which Ofshe and Leo
claim a false confession
may have led to the
wrongful conviction of an
innocent person shows
that all nine confessors
were probably guilty.

In the Fairchild rape
and murder case, for ex-
ample, Ofshe and Leo
claim there was no in-
dependent evidence con-
necting the defendant to
the crime. But Cassell
says he found that Fair-
child took police on a tour of the
crime scene after confessing, and
that a watch recovered from his sis-
ter, which Fairchild claimed to have
bought in a pool hall, was identical
to the victim’s missing watch.

" Ineight of the nine cases he ex-
amined, Cassell says, the defen-
dant appeared to be mentally re-
tarded or suffering from serious
mental problems.

The only solution, he says, is to
videotape all interrogations and do
away with the Miranda warning,
which he says does nothing to pro-
tect the innocent and only makes it
tougher to get truthful confessions
from the guilty.

In the meantime, the innocent

may have only their willpower to .
- W

rely on.
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FALSE CONFESSIONS BY ADULTS *  iws digiioias,
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The use by police of bright lights, rubber hoses and other physical methods of
extracting confessions was once common in North America. However, court
decisions rendering such confessions inadmissible have led to the abandonment
of such techniques. Trial judges have even rejected confessions that were
obtained though threats of lengthy sentences or promises of short sentences.
Police now generally use psychological pressures, which may well be more
effective.

Some modern methods include (1):

feigned sympathy and friendship,
appeals to God and religion,
blaming the victim or an accomplice
placing the suspect in a sound-proof, starkly furnished room
approaching the suspect too closely for comfort
overstating (or understating) the serious of the offense and the magnitude
of the charges
presentation of exaggerated claims about the evidence
claiming falsely that another person has already confessed and implicated
the suspect
9. other forms of trickery and deception.
10. wearing a person down by a very long interview session
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The results is that some individuals confess to crimes that they did not do.
Sometimes they even grow to believe that they are guilty.

Some police departments use a 1985 book, Criminal Interrogation and
Confessions as a reference. It recommends isolation of the suspect, and involving
the suspect in possible crime scenarios. "An innocent person will remain
steadfast in denying guilt.”

- Saul M. Kassin is a leading researcher into false confessions. He divides them into
- three categories:

1. voluntary, involving no external pressure
2. "coerced-compliant” in which the person realizes that they are not guilty
but confesses to the crime to receive a promised reward or avoid an
___adverse penalty ;
3. "coerced-internalized” in which an innocent suspect is induced to believe
that they are guilty.

Police and courts often doubt that the second two cases actually exist.
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Lab Experiment



Dr: Kassincand his student Catherine L.-Kiechel designed-a {1, 3)lab experiment
that demonstrates how inrocent pecple can be ted to afalse confession, and
that some may even become convinced that they are guilty. In the study,

_ college students were asked to type letters on a keyboard as they were
pronounced by a researcher. Some researchers read out the letters quickly (67
per minute); others slowly (47 per minute). The subjects were warned to not
touch the ALT key, because a bug in the testing program would cause the
computer to crash and lose all of the data. One minute into the test, the
computer was manually caused to crash. In half the tests, the researcher said
that they had actually seen the subject depressing the ALT key. At first, the
subjects correctly denied hitting the key. The researcher then hand-wrote a
confession and asked the subjects to sign it. The penalty would be an angry
telephone call to the subject by Dr. Kassin. 100% of the subjects who had been
typing the letters quickly and had been told by the researcher that they had
been observed hitting the ALT key signed the confession; 65% of them believed
themselves guilty; 35% even confabulated non-existent details in order to fit
their belief. Overall, 69% signed the note and 28% believed that they were
actually guilty. ‘
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Suspects who are Developmentally Handicapped

Richard Ofshe, a sociologist at the University of California, Berkeley has
researched the effects of interrogation techniques. He said "Mentally retarded
" people get through life by being accommodating whenever there is a
disagreement. They've learned that they are often wrong; for them, agreeing is
a way of surviving.” Obtaining a confession from such people “is like taking candy
from a baby." Florida lawyer Delores Norley has trained police in 30 states to
handle interviews of developmentally handicapped suspects. She says that they
often have “an excessive desire to please...This is especially true with authority
figures.” She and her colleagues are currently aware of some 100 cases of
possibly false confessions by impaired defendants.

-.-,-.-.~.\»~-:>:-:-;:-:—.
Some Examples of Apparently False Confessions

¥ Perhaps the most famous recent case is that of Paul Ingram, a police officer
from Olympia, WA. He was subjected to:
% 23 interrogations over five months
% hypnotism
% coertion by his church minister to confess
= provided with graphic crime details |
% influenced by a police psychologist who told him that sex offenders often
repress memories of their crimes

He eventually confessed to sexual assault of his two daughters, as well as
killing infants in Satanic rituals. No hard evidence was ever produced; some
evidence proved that some of the accusations were false. The case became



Satanic Ritual Abuse in the US. Dr. Ofshe told him that his children had
disclosed that he had forced them to engage in sexual activities with each
other. The statement was false; the scenario was invented by Dr. Ofshe as a
test, and confirmed by the children to have not happened. Within days,
Ingram generated false memories of the non-existent event and wrote out a
confession. One unusual factor that facilitated ingram's confession was his
religious belief that Satan can cause a person to perform horrendous acts and
then destroy their memory of the events. Ingram later came to the
realization that his memories were false, and attempted to change his plea

* to not-guilty. This was denied; he received a 20 year jail sentence and is
currently imprisoned for crimes that he did not commit and which probably
never happened.

%% In 1979, Girvies Davis, aged 20, confessed to 11 crimes, including the murder
of an 89 year old man in Belleville, IL. Davis was an alcoholic with a
childhood history of brain damage and suicide attempts. During his teenage
years, he was diagnosed with “organic brain dysfunction,” which doctors
believe was induced by a bicycle accident when he was 10 years of age. They
believe that he falls within the "borderline range of intelligence.” There was
absolutely no evidence linking him to the murder, other than the confession.
Police say that the confession was freely given; Davis says that it was
coerced. He was executed by the State of Illinois on 1995-MAY-18.

¥& The confession of Jessie Misskelley, Jr. who was convicted of participating in
the sex-murders of three boys in West Memphis AR in 1993, may well be
false. He was 17 years old at the time of the confession, and has an 1Q of 72
(vs. a normal value of 100). Although a polygraph (lie detector) test
indicated his innocence, he was interrogated for over 5 hours. He retracted
his confession afterwards, claiming that he had caved in under police _
pressure. He pleaded not-guilty at trial. An expert testified at the trial that
Jessie was a prime candidate for a false confession, because of his young age
and low Q.

The Arkansas Supreme Court, in its ruling in this Memphis case, (4) outlined
some of its criteria for determining the accuracy of the confession:

# the "voluntariness” is judged on the basis of many factors, including: “the
age, education and intelligence of the accused, the advice or lack of
advice on constitutional rights, the length of detention, the repeated or
prolonged nature of questioning, or the use of mental or physrcal
punishment.”

& Confessions while in custody are assumed to be involuntary, and the
burden is on the State to show that the confession was voluntarily
made.”

- &-"A confession obtained through a false promise of reward or leniency is
invalid”

& “youth alone [is] not sufficient to exclude confession.”

% A "low intelligence quotient alone will not render confession
involuntary.”

2 "Between the first time appellant was advised of his rights and the time
he gave his first statement a period of just over four hours elapsed,
which was not undue
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statement)”

@ "...where a person under age eighteern 'is charged as an adult in circuit
court, failure to obtain a parent's signature on a waiver form does not
render a confession inadmissible."
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NATIONAL CONFERENCE ON WRONGFUL CONVICTIONS AND THE DEATH
PENALTY - The Wrongly Convicted

November 13-15, 1998 Northwestern University Legal Clinic Chicago, lllinois

THE WRONGLY CONVICTED

The following brief synopses are intended to provide a general flavor of the nature
of each of the 75 cases since 1972 in which people have been exonerated after
having once been sentenced to death. Each of these cases deserves book-length
treatment, and we apologize in advance for any material omission or errors in the
facts as set forth here.

Source: http://www.ncwedp.com/wrongly.htmi
Note: only the cases involving false confessions are listed below

David Keaton

Florida

Convicted 1971; Released 1973

Mr. Keatocn was sentenced to death after having been convicted of kllllng a police
officer during an armed robbery. The case against him was built on a confession,
which Mr. Keaton consistently maintained was a false confession that had been
coerced out of him through threats, lies and beatings. In the aftermath of the trial, a
close friend of the slain police officer learned about some of the tactics that had
been used to extract confessions in the case: one of the suspects had been beaten
bloody and the police had slammed a door so hard on another suspect’s that the
toe was severed. Moreover, it emerged that the police had repeatedly shown
pictures of the suspects to the witnesses in order to prompt an identification. When
the trial judge learned of the attempts by police and prosecutors to suppress
exculpatory evidence, he ordered that all evidence be brought to directly to court.
Based on a review of the real facts, the judge dismissed all charges against Mr.
Keaton.

Wilbert Lee

Florida

Convicted 1963; Released 1975

Mr. Lee, together with Freddie Pitts, was sentenced to death after having been
convicted of killing a gas station attendant. The case against them was built on the
police claim that these two African-American men, arrested in a segregated town,
had confessed to the murder. In fact, it turned out, these confessions had been
mercilessly beaten out of the two men. With just a few weeks of their sentencing
(which took the all-white jury twenty minutes to decide), the local sheriff learned
that another man who had been arrested for another gas station robbery had
confessed to the murder for which Mr. Lee and Mr. Pitts had been sentenced to
death. The Sheriff responded to this information by declaring that he wanted
~nothing to do with any other person’s confession because "l already got two
niggers waiting for the chair in Raiford for those murders.” A polygraph examiner
who had heard this other man confess took the matter to the press, and once these
facts emerged a new trial was ordered. During that second trial, however, the jury
again convicted Mr. Lee and Mr. Pitts. Ultimately, Florida’s governor investigated
the case and uncovered the truth. Both Mr. Lee and Mr. Pitts were pardoned on the
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groundsoof innocence! I 1848, after many 'years: of ‘stivqgle, they were cuforu.J
some cormnpensation from the State of Florida for the damage they suffered.

Robert Lee Miller, Jr.

Oklahoma

Convicted 1988; Released 1998

Mr. Miller was convicted of the rape and murder of two elderly women based on a
supposed confession, even though the supposed confession was inconsistent with
over 100 facts of the cases. After seven years on death , DNA testing excluded Mr.
Miller as the person who raped the victims, and his conviction was overturned.
Three years later, the prosecution announced that it would not be pursuing any
charges against Mr. Miller, who had passed a lie detector test denying any
involvement in the crime.

James Richardson
Florida
Convicted 1968; Released 1989
Mr. Richardson was sentenced to death after being convicted of murdering seven of
his children by poisoning him with the pesticide parathion. The prosecution built its
case around the claim that Mr. Richardson, a poor migrant farm worker, had
"purchased life insurance policies for the children the very evening before their
deaths. Police officers testified, moreover, that they found a sack of parthion in Mr.
Richardson’s shed. In addition, the prosecution presented the testimony of two
jailhouse informants who claimed to have heard Mr. Richardson incriminate himself.
After Mr. Richardson was convicted and sentenced, a new group of lawyers began
to investigate the case. This investigation revealed that Mr. Richardson had never,
in fact, bought any life insurance for his children. Moreover, the police had not
found the bag of parthion when they exhaustively searched the shed during their
crime scene investigation, but the police :ad later received a tip from a woman
named Bessie Reese that the parthion was there. It would later be shown that
Bessie Reese, who was babysitting the children when they died, had been convicted
herself of killing her husband, who had dies of poison-like symptoms. Reese was
upset at Mr. Richardson at the time of the children’s deaths because her third
husband had just left her for Mr. Richardson’s cousin. Years after the crime, while
Reese was living in a nursing home, she confessed to killing the children, although
the prosecution discounted her confession due to her senility. In 1989, some 21
years after Mr. Richardson was convicted, then-Dade County District Attorney Janet
Reno was named special prosecutor to examine the case. Based on her conclusions
that a grave injustice had been done to Mr. Richardson, he was released and
charges were dropped.

Johnny Ross

Louisiana

Convicted 1975, Released 1981

Mr. Ross was sentenced to death for a rape he was alleged to have committed when

he was 16 years old. The trial--which lasted but three hours--consisted of the
prosecution’s claim that Mr. Ross had signed a confession after the victim had

identified him. Mr. Ross, by contrast, consistently maintained that he had signed a

blank piece of paper after he was beaten by his interrogators. On appeal, the

conviction was upheld, although the death sentence was vacated and Mr. Ross was

sentenced to a term of years. Several years later, tests revealed that the blood type

of the rapist positively did not match Mr. Ross’s blood type. Based on this new
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evidence) the Naw Orieans District Attarmney agrzed to drop chérges and have Mr.
Ross released from prison.

The following cases are taken from the Death Penalty Information Center's website
at www.essential.org/dpic :

Ronald Jones Illinois Conviction 1989 Charges Dropped 1999

Jones was a homeless man when he was convicted of the rape and murder of a Chicago woman.
After a lengthy interrogation in which Jones says he was beaten by police, he signed a confession.
Prosecutors at his conviction described him as a "cold brutal rapist” who "should never see the light
of day." (NY Times 5/19/99). Recent DNA testing revealed that Jones was not the rapist and there
was no evidence of any accomplice to the murder. The Cook County state's attorney filed a motion
asking the Illinois Supreme Court to vacate Jones's conviction in 1997, In May, 1999, the state
dropped all charges against Jones. He is being temporarily detained pending another matter in a
different state. :

Henry Lee Lucas Texas Conviction 1984 Commuted to Life 1998

Lucas originally confessed to the murder of an unnamed hitchhiker in Texas in 1979. He also
confessed to hundreds of other murders including the murder of Jimmy Hoffa and his fourth grade
teacher, who is still alive. Most of his confessions have proved false. Two investigations by
successive Attorneys General in Texas have concluded that he almost certainly did not commit the
murder for which he faced an execution date of June 30, 1998. Gov. George Bush commuted his
sentence to life upon recommendation of the Board of Pardons and Paroles in June, 1998.

Leo Jones Florida Convicted 1981 Executed 1998

Jones was convicted of murdering a police officer in Jacksonville, Florida. Jones signed a
confession after several hours of police interrogation, but he later claimed the confession was
coerced. In the mid-1980s, the policeman who arrested Jones and the detective who took his
confession were forced out of uniform for ethical violations. The policeman was later identified by
a fellow officer as an "enforcer" who had used torture. Many witnesses came forward pointing to
another suspect in the case.
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I. Introduction

A. DEFINING THE PROBLEM

Because a confession is universally treated as damning and
compelling evidence of guilt, [FN1] it is likely to dominate all
other case evidence and lead a trier of fact to convict the
defendant. [FN2] A false confession is therefore an
exceptionally dangerous piece of evidence to put before anyone
adjudicating a case. In a .criminal justice system whose formal
rules are designed to minimize the frequency of unwarranted
arrest, unjustified prosecution, and wrongful <conviction,
police-induced false confessions rank amongst the most fateful of
all official errors.

*430 As many investigators have recognized, the problems caused
by police- induced false confessions are significant, recurrent,
and deeply troubling. [FN3] ©Police elicit false confessions .so
frequently that social science researchers, lzgal scholars, and
journallsts have discovered and documented numerous case examples
in this decade alone. [FN4]

*431 Yet no one knows precisely how often false confessions
occur in the United States, how frequently false confessions lead
to wrongful convictions, or how much personal and social harm
false confessions cause. This is because: (1) no organization
collects statistics on the annual number of interrogations and
confessions or evaluates the reliability of confession
statements; (2) most interrogations leading to disputed
confessions are not recorded; and (3) the ground truth (what
really happened) may remain in genuine dispute even after a
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defendant has pled *432 guilty or been convicted. [FN5] These
problems prevent <researchers from defining a universe of
confession cases, sampling a subset, and confidently determining
the truth or falsity of each underlying confession.

Until these methodological obstacles are overcome, no one can
authoritatively estimate the rate of police-induced false
confessions or the annual number of wrongful convictions caused
by false confessions. [FN6] The lack of such information also
prevents researchers from estimating the full magnitude of
personal and social harm that police-induced false confessions
cause: the days and months innocent persons spend in pre-trial
incarceration; the resources, time, and dollars wasted
prosecuting and defending them; the months and years defendants
languish in prison after wrongful conviction; and the additional
crimes carried out by the true perpetrators.

Although it is presently not possible to estimate the magnitude
of harm caused by false confessions, this article sheds light on
another dark corner of the problem by addressing the following
questions: What is the impact of demonstrably unreliable
confession evidence on criminal justice officials? What are the
consequences of false confessions on defendants as they move
through the criminal justice system? And how much influence does
a false confession alone exert on the decision-making of jurors?

B. FALSE CONFESSIONS AND THE ADMINISTRATION OF JUSTICE

Following Edwin Borchard's pioneering study of miscarriages of
justice, [FN7] a series of investigators [FN8] have documented
numerous cases of wrongful arrest and conviction of the innocent
in the United States. [FN9] We continue the tradition of research
*433 into errors in the criminal justice system by reporting a
study of sixty cases of police-induced false confessions in the
post-Miranda era, [FN10] and by analyzing the consequences of
these *434 errors affecting defendants as they move through the
criminal justice system. [FN11]

We suggest that confessions are regarded as the most damning
and persuasive evidence of guilt simply because most suspects who
confess are guilty, and because most confessions are corroborated
by additional evidence. Under these conditions, however, it is
impossible to isolate the effect of the defendant's "I did it"
admission [FN12] on the decision-making of criminal Jjustice
officials and Jjuries Dbecause the confession co-varies with
inculpatory witness or physical evidence. The research reported
here isolates the effect of a defendant's "I did it" statement on
the decision-making of criminal justice officials and juries by

_studying only cases in which the defendant's confession is not

supported by any physical or reliable inculpatory evidence. The
research design thus allows measurement of the effect of an
untrue admission when a detective, prosecutor, judge or jury is
required to weigh the admissicn against evidence that would
ordinarily establish the defendant's innocence.



*435 This article explores whether contemporary American
psychological interrogation practices continue to induce false
confessions like the third degree methods that preceded them.
This article also analyzes how likely police-induced false
confessions are to lead to' the wrongful arrest, prosecution,
conviction, and incarceration of the innocent. And this article
examines with field data [FN13] whether confession evidence
substantially biases a trier of fact even when the defendant's
statement was elicited by coercive methods. [FN14] We explore
this issue with cases in which the defendant's statement has not
only been coerced but is also demonstrably unreliable, and in
which other: evidence proves or strongly supports the defendant's
innocence.

Part II of this article discusses the selection and
classification of the sixty disputed confession cases under
study. [FN15] Part III describes the findings of our research.
Part IV analyzes the deprivations of liberty and miscarriages of
justice associated with the sixty cases described in this
article. Finally, Part V discusses the import of this research
and offers some concluding remarks.

II. Method
A. SELECTION AND CLASSIFICATION

Cases of disputed confessions were identified through multiple
sources: electronic media database searches; directly from case

files; [FN16] and from secondary sources. The sixty cases
discussed *436 below do not constitute a statistically adequate
sample of false confession cases. Rather they were selected

because they share a single characteristic: an individual was
arrested primarily because police obtained an inculpatory
statement that later turned out to be a proven, or highly likely,
false confession.

Based on the information that we obtained and reviewed, all of
the cases studied satisfy the following conditions: no physical
or other significant and credible evidence indicated the
suspect's guilt; [FN17] the state's evidence consisted of little
or nothing more than the suspect's statement "I did it;" and the
suspect's factual innocence was supported by a variable amount of
evidence--often substantial and compelling--including exculpatory
evidence from the suspect's post-admission narrative. [FN18] For
every case included in this study, there was no credible evidence
corroborating the defendant's "I did it" admission or supporting
the conclusion that he was guilty. [FN19]

Based on the strength of the evidence indicating a defendant's
probable innocence, each case was classified into one of three
categories: proven false confession; highly probable false
confession; or probable false confession.
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For the thirty-four cases classified as proven false
confessions, the confessor's innocence was established by at
least one dispositive piece of independent evidence. [FN20] For
example, a defendant's confession was classified as proven false
if the murder victim turned up alive, the true perpetrator was
caught and *437 proven guilty, or scientific evidence exonerated
the defendant. Not only was the confessor definitively excluded
by dispositive evidence, but the confession statement itself also
lacked internal indicia of reliability. Any disputed confession
case that fell short of this standard--no matter how questionable
- the confession and no matter how much direct or circumstantial
evidence indicated the suspect was innocent--was excluded from
this category.

For the eighteen cases classified as highly probable false
confessions, the evidence overwhelmingly indicated that the

defendant's confession statement was false. [FN21] In these
cases, no credible independent evidence supported the conclusion
that the confession was true. Rather, the physical oxr other

significant independent evidence very strongly supported the
conclusion that the confession is false. 1In each of these cases,
the confession lacked internal reliability. Thus, the
defendant's statement is classified as a highly probable false
confession because the evidence led to the conclusion that his
innocence was established beyond a reasonable doubt.

For the eight cases classified as probable false confessions,
[FN22] no physical or other significant credible evidence
supported the conclusion that the defendant was guilty. There
was evidence supporting the conclusion that the confession was
false, and the confession lacked internal indicia of reliability.
Although the evidence of innocence in these cases was neither
conclusive nor overwhelming, there were strong reasons--based on
independent evidence--to believe that the confession was false.
Cases are included in this category if the preponderance of the
evidence indicated that the person who confessed was innocent.

We recognize that for any case that could not be classified as
a proven false confession, there is a possibility that our
classification of’ the case might be in error. Despite strong
evidence supporting the conclusion that the confession is false,
it remains theoretically possible that one or more of the
defendants we classify as false confessors may have committed the
crime. Nevertheless, we believe that the disputed confessions
discussed in *438 this article would be judged false by an
overwhelming majority of neutral observers with access to the
evidence we reviewed. [FN23]

"B, POST-ADMISSION NARRATIVE ANALYSIS

When evaluating the likelihood that a person committed a crime,
investigators should first consider witness statements,
biological evidence linking the suspect to the crime
(fEingerprint, DNA, hair, etc.), and alibi -evidence. The




identification by an eyewitness, the identification of the person
as the donor of one or more type of biological material found at
the crime scene, and the lack of an alibi all point to guilt. By
contrast, an opposite pattern of evidence (e.g., no match with
eyewitness descriptions, exculpating biological evidence, and the
existence of an unimpeachable alibi) all support innocence.

In addition to these traditional sources of evidence, the
defendant's post- admission narrative of the crime may provide
helpful evidence of guilt or innocence, assuming contamination
[FN24] has been eliminated. If a suspect has made an "I did it"
admission and given a post-admission narrative of a crime, the
fit--or lack thereof--between the contents of the narrative and
the crime scene facts provides evidence of guilt or innocence.
Evaluation of the fit can reveal that a suspect possesses the
sort of accurate, perscnal knowledge of the specifics of the
crime that the perpetrator would be expected to have, or it can
demonstrate the suspect's ignorance of the crime because his
answers about the crime scene evidence are grossly incorrect.
[FN25] '

The fit between the specifics of a confession and the crime
facts determines whether the "I did it" admission should be
judged as reliable or unreliable evidence. There are at least
three indicia of reliability that can be evaluated to reach a
conclusion about the trustworthiness of a confession. Does the
statement: (1) lead to the discovery of evidence unknown to the
police? (e.g., location of a missing weapon that can be proven to
have been used in the crime, location of missing loot that can
*439 be proven to have been taken from the crime scene, etc.);
(2) include identification of highly unusual elements of the
crime that have not been made public? (e.g., an unlikely method
of killing, mutilation of a certain type, use of a particular
device to silence the victim, etc.); or (3) include an accurate
description of the mundane details of the crime scene which are
not easily guessed and have not been reported publicly? (e.g.,
how the victim was clothed, disarray of certain furniture pieces,
presence or absence of particular objects at the crime. scene,
etc.). '

If, for example, a suspect's post-admission narrative either
leads the police to missing evidence, or reveals that the suspect
knew precisely how the victim was bound and mutilated, or which
window was jimmied open with what sort of unlikely tool, then the
suspect possesses actual knowledge of the crime that would
reasonably be expected of the perpetrator. Therefore, the
suspect's confession should be deemed reliable. If, on the other
hand, the suspect is unable to provide police with accurate
information revealing evidence not already known to them (e.g.,
where to locate the murder weapon or the loot), is demonstrably
wrong about the method of killing, or is demonstrably inaccurate
about the specifics of the crime scene, then the statement should
be judged unreliable and, if anything, treated as evidence of
innocence. Therefore, the statement should be seen as lacking



evidence of actual knowledge--something to be expected of a false
confessor who has not been contaminated by the police or due to
leakage of information into the community.

When the police elicit a post-admission narrative from a
suspect, they typically seek only information about major crime
elements (e.g., location of the' missing weapon, type of
mutilation, etc.). However, a suspect's report about the mundane
(but unique or improbable) details of the crime and the crime
scene is of great value in establishing a suspect's guilt or
innocence. [FN26] This is true, in part, because the suspect's
knowledge of *440 mundane details is less likely to be the result
of contamination by the police. Mundane details are less likely
to have been mentioned during off-tape conversations or during
the pre-admission phase of an unrecorded interrogation.

A suspect's post-admission narrative need not demonstrate
indicia of reliability in each category for it to reveal personal
knowledge of the crime. It is generally accepted that one or more
aspects of a crime may be so heinous that a guilty party may
refuse to state them even while admitting to other major

components of the crime. For example, Richard Allen Davis, who
admitted to kidnapping and killing a child, was not willing to
admit that he also raped her. [FN27] Nevertheless, 1f a

defendant has been properly and thoroughly debriefed, his
personal knowledge of the crime should allow him to supply
sufficiently detailed information to prove a confession's
reliability by demonstrating his specific knowledge of what
happened (e.g., the circumstances of the kidnapping, the child's
clothing, the location of the killing ground, the description of
the killing scene, etc.), even if he resists confessing to
certain particularly heinous acts.

C. POLICE~INDUCED FALSE CONFESSION

Police-induced false confessions arise when a suspect's
resistance to confession is broken down as a result of poor
police practice, overzealousness, criminal misconduct and/or
misdirected training. [FN28] Interrogators sometimes become so
committed to «closing a case that they improperly |use
psychological interrogation techniques to coerce or persuade a
suspect into giving a statement that allows the interrogator to
make an arrest. Sometimes police become so certain of the
suspect's guilt that they refuse to even- handedly evaluate new
evidence or to consider the possibility that a suspect may be
innocent, even when all the case evidence has been gathered and
overwhelmingly demonstrates that the confession is false. Once a

confession is obtained, investigation often ceases, and
convicting the *441 defendant becomes the only goal of both
investigators and prosecutors. As the investigative process
progresses, some interrogators, who overstepped procedural
boundaries to obtain a false confession, engage in criminal
conduct to cover up their procedural violations (e.g., coerce

false witness statements, suborn perjured testimony from
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snitches, or perjure themselves at suppression hearings or at
trial). Furthermore, some prosecutors who are determined to
convict obstruct justice by withholding exculpatory evidence from

the defense. [FN29]

*443 American police are poorly trained about the dangers of
interrogation and false confession. Rarely are police officers
instructed in how to avoid eliciting confessions, how to
understand what causes false confessions, or how to recognize the
forms false confessions take or their distinguishing
characteristics. [FN30] Instead, some interrogation manual
writers and trainers persist in the unfounded belief that
contemporary psychological methods will not cause the innocent to
confess [FN31]--a fiction so thoroughly contradicted by all of
the research on police*444 interrogation [FN32] that it can be
labeled a potentially deadly myth. This fiction perpetuates the
commonly held belief that only torture can cause an innocent
suspect to confess, and it allows some police to rationalize
accepting coerced and demonstrably unreliable confession
statements as true. [FN33]

D. FALSE CONFESSION CASES

The identification of the sixty cases examined and their
classification into three categories of disputed confession cases
(Proven, Highly Probable and Probable False Confessions) 1is
reported below:

Table Al

First Category: Proven False Confessions (N =34)

Case Confessor Year Source (s)
ID
é] Anthony Atkinson 1990 Colwell; [FN34] Demoretchky [FN3
2 Richard Bingham 1996 Associated Press [FN36]
3 Leo Bruce . 1991 Kimball & Greenberg; [FN37] Parl
off [FN38]
4 Lavale Burt 1985 Radelet et al.; [FN3°9] Warden [F
N40]
5 Christopher Cole 1995 Smith [FN41]
"6 Bradley Cox 1980 Huff et al. [FN42]
7 Billy Gene Davis 1990 Phillips [FN43]

8 Pedro Delvillar 1987 Feldman; [FN44] Pristin [FN45]

¢
S

—iy



S
10
11

12
[FN50]

13

14

Ralph Jacobs
William Kelley
Guy Lewis

Steven Linscott

Jose Martinez

Christina Mason

Creno [FN53]

15 Robert Moore
16 Rick Nieskins
17 Mark Nunez
off [FN58]

18 Dante Parker

eenberg [FN60]

19 George Parker
FN62]

20 Laverne Pavlinac
21 George Peterson
erg [FN65]

22 John Purvis

23 Paul Reggetz

24 Peter Reilly

25 Ivan Reliford

26 Melvin Reymnolds
73]

27 James Reyos

28 Martin Salazar
29 Donald Shoup

30 Christopher Smith
31 Ruben Trujillo

1891

1990

1994

1980

1993

1993

1996

1985

1991

19951

1880

1981

1890

1983

1979

1973

1986

1979

1982

1996

1996

1991

1987

Booher [FN46]
Shellem [FN47]
Perrusquia [FN438]

Connors et al.; [FN49] Linscott

Granberry [FN51]

Rossmiller; [FN52] Rossmiller &

Herbert; [FN54] Dwyer [FN55]
Smith [FN56]

Kimball & Greenberg; [FN57] Parl

Ofshe & Leo; [FN59] Kimball & Gr

Bedau & Radelet; [FN61] Nathan [

Siegel [FN63]

McMahon; [FN64] Kimball & Greenb

Davis [FN66]
Yant; [FN67] Paxton [FN68]

Connery; [FN69] Barthel [FN70]

UPI [FN71]
Ganey; [FN72] Radelet et al. [FN
Carroll; [FN74] Swindle [FN75]

Ofshe & Leo; [FN76] Folks [FN77]
Holland; [FN78] Murphy [FN79]
Booher [FN80]

Feldman; [FN81l] Pristin [FN82]

<




32 David Vasquez 1984 Mones; [FN83] Douglas [FN84]

33 Earl Washington 1983 White; [FN85] Hourihan [FN86]

34 Johnny Lee Wilson 1986 Ofshe & Leo; [FN87] Shapiro [FNS8
8] :

*447 Table A2

Second Category: Highly Probable False Confessions (N =18)

Case

Identification

35
90]

36
37
38

39
ranken [FN95]

40

Crim. Prac.

41
; [FN99] Mount

42
[FN102]

43
N104]

44
et al.

e A5

[FN108]-

46

Confessor

George Abney

Melvin Beamon
William Boyd
Betty Burns

Jack Carmen

Edgar Garrett

Gary Gauger

Joseph

Giarratano

Paul Ingram

John Knapp

Richard

Lapointe

Jessie

Year

1986

1988
1983
1989

1975

1995

1993

1979

1988

1973

1988

1983

Sources

Cooper; [FN89] Ofshe [FN

Radelet et al. [FN91]
Drell [FN92]

Siegel [FN93]

Radelet et al.; [FN94] F

Ofshe & Leo; [FN96] BNA

[FN97]
[FN98] Quintanilla

Man.
Held;

[FN100]

Arney; [FN101l] McCarthy

Ofshe; [FN103] Wright [F

Parloff; [FN105] Radelet

[FN106]

Connery; [FN107] Perske

Ofshe; -[FN109] Chase [FN



1101

47
& Aronson

48
] Martin &

49
he [FN116]

50

7} BNA Crim.

51
FN120]

52
FN122]

Miskelley

Bradley Pagé

Juan Rivera

Tom Sawyer

Martin Tankleff

Douglas Warney

Dale Zamarrippa

1284

1893

1986

1988

1996

1993

*449 Table A3

42

Page; [FN111l] Pratkanis

[FN112]

Brandon & Martin; [FN113

Parsons [FN114]
Ofshe & Leo; [FN115] Ofs

Writ of Hab. Corp; [FN1l

Prac. Man. [FN118]
Herbert; [FN119] Dwyer [

Thomas; [FN121] Manson |

Third Category: Probable False Confessions (N =8)

Case

Identification

53
[FN124]

54
[FN126]

55
[FN128]

56
57
e
59

60
; [FN134]

Confessor

Luis Benavidez
Jane Bolding
Barry Fairchild

Tammy Harrison
Charles Lawson
Linda Stangel
Cyril Walton

Delbert Ward

Year

1992

1985

1983

1979

1991

1995

1951

1990

Sources

Lozano; [FN123] Bidwell

Ginsburg; [FN125] Patch

ABC News; [FN127] Perske

Hart [FN129]
Houtz [FN130]
Freedlander; [FN131]
Darby [FN132]

Perske; [FN133] CBS News



Wecht [FN135]
III. Findings

A. PROVEN FALSE CONFESSIONS

There are four sub-types of proven false confessions: the
suspect confessed to a crime that did not happen; the evidence
objectively demonstrates that the defendant could not possibly
have committed the crime; the true perpetrator was identified and
his guilt established; or the defendant was exonerated by
scientific evidence. ’

1. The Suspect Confessed to a Crime That Did Not Happen

Police interrogators may extract a confession to a crime that
did not, in fact, occur. In Austin, Texas in 1990, after twice
‘failing *450 a polygraph test, Billy Gene Davis confessed that he
killed his ex-girlfriend; she subsequently turned up alive in

Tucson, Arizona. [FN136] Even 1f the underlying event did in
fact occur, police may induce a confession to a non- existent
crime. In 1993, Phoenix, Arizona police elicited a confession

from Christina Mason to killing her three-month-old infant by
letting another woman inject the child with heroin and cocaine to
prevent it from crying. [FN137] The autopsy, however, revealed no
drugs other than Tylenol in the baby's body, and the medical
examiner concluded that the likely cause of death was pneumonia
or a viral infection. [FN138]

2. The Defendant Could Not Have Committed The Crime

Police may extract a confession from an individual who could
not have committed the crime. In 1987, Los Angeles, California
police interrogators elicited false confessions from two
suspects--Ruben Trujillo and Pedro Delvillar--to the same double
murder and robbery. [FN139] Yet both men were in police custody
(one in a county jail and the other at a California Youth
Authority facility) for other crimes when the murders occurred.
[FN140] In another example of flawed interrogation, police in
Laguna Beach, California obtained a confession to arson from Jose
Soto Martinez in 1993, but prosecutors dismissed charges when
they discovered that Martinez had been in a Mexican prison at the
time of the arson. [FN141] Similarly, in 1986 Montana police
elicited a false confession to a sexually motivated kllllng from
Ivan Reliford, but later discovered that Reliford was in custody
when the crime was committed. [FN142]

The cases in this study reveal many reasons why someone could
not have committed the crime to which he confessed. In 1973,
Connecticut State Police elicited a confession from Peter Rellly
to killing and mutilating his mother. [FN143] After a jury
trial, conviction, and then reversal by an appellate court, the
prosecutor #*451 handling the second trial discovered that the



former prosecutor's files contained documents showing that Reilly
arrived at the scene of the murder only minutes before the police
and thus could not have committed the crime. [FN144]

In 1982, James Harry Reyos confessed in New Mexico that he had
killed a Catholic priest a year earlier. [FN145] The victim died
between 7 p.m. and midnight in Odessa, Texas, [FN146] but gas
receipts and an eyewitness established that Reyos was in Roswell,
New Mexico (200 miles away) at 8 p.m. that evening, [FN147] and a
speeding ticket proved that he was also in Roswell shortly after
‘midnight. [FN148] To have committed the murder, Reyos would have
had to drive 200 miles to the murder site, kill the priest in no
more than one minute and speed 215 miles back to where he
received the speeding ticket--in four hours (averaging well over
100 miles an hour on narrow, country roads). Eventually the
state's attorney handling Reyos' appeal conceded that Reyos could
not have committed the crime. [FN149]

In 1995, in Portland, Oregon, police extracted false
confessions from Rick Nieskins and Christopher Cole to the 1991
murder of John Sewell. [FN150] Both men were charged with

homicide, and both spent thirteen months in jail awaiting
trial--even though two other men had been convicted of Sewell's
murder in 1991 and had always maintained that they acted alone.
[FN151] Prosecutors eventually dropped charges against Nieskins
after records showed that he could not have committed the crime
because he was at a homeless shelter in Seattle at the time of
the killing. [FN152] Once they acknowledged Nieskins' false
confession, prosecutors admitted that Cole also could not have
been involved in the crime and dropped charges against him.
[FN153]

*452 3. The True Perpetrator Was Identified and His Guilt
Established

Police may elicit a confession that is proven false when the
true perpetrator is identified. Sometimes this occurs
fortuitously when police encounter the perpetrator in connection
with another crime and obtain a demonstrably reliable confession.
In 1979, after twenty-one hours of interrogation by West Virginia
State Police, Paul Reggetz confessed to murdering his wife and
two children. [FN154] Reggetz spent eleven months in pre-trial
incarceration before one of his neighbors confessed. [FN155] 1In
1990, Suffolk County, New York police interrogated Anthony
Atkinson for three-and-a-half hours before he confessed to murder
and sodomy. [FN156] Later, two other men confessed to the crime,
and charges against Atkinson were dismissed. [FN157] In 1994,
Guy Lewis confessed to Memphis, Tennessee police to shooting and
“killing his girlfriend. [FN158] The prosecutor was preparing to
bring charges against him when Tony Hedges and Michael Maclin
were arrested and each confessed to the murder. [FN159] 1In 1996,
Robert Moore confessed to the capital murder and robbery of a
taxi driver after Nassau County, New York detectives interrogated
him for twenty-five hours. [FN160] Moore was released only
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because police happened to arrest one of the actual killers on
unrelated charges, and he confessed and identified his two

co-perpetrators. [FN1g61l] In 1996, in Daytona Beach, Florida,
police extracted a confession to capital murder and robbery from
Donald Shoup, a mentally handicapped teenager. [FN162] While

Shoup was awaiting trial, the true killer confessed. [FN163]

In one of the century's most dramatic and disturbing false
confession cases, prosecutors dismissed charges against three
false confessors after routine detective work identified the true
*453 killers. [FN164] In 1991, during interrogations that lasted
up to twenty-one hours, Maricopa County Sheriffs in Phoenix,
Arizona coerced false confessions from Leo Bruce, Mark Nunez, and
Dante Parker to the mass murder of nine persons at a Buddhist
temple. [FN165] While prosecutors were preparing capital cases
against the defendants, a ballistics test was carried out on a
rifle that was picked up for testing the same day that Bruce,
Nunez, and Parker were interrogated. [FN166] It proved to be the
murder weapon. The rifle had been in the possession of Jonathan
Doody and Alex Garcia the night of the murder. Searches led to
the discovery of loot in the possession of both Doody and Garcia.
Both adolescents confessed to the murders, and Garcia supplied
the police with a detailed account of how he and Doody planned
and carried out the killings. [FN167]

Garcia not only confessed to the nine Temple murders, but also
to murdering Alice Marie Cameron shortly before being arrested
for the Temple murders. [FN168] The police delayed doing the
ballistics test on the rifle that led to Garcia's arrest because
they were occupied first with coercing false confessions from
Bruce, Nunez, and Parker and then with the media storm and public
protests against the police that followed the disputed
confessions. [FN169]

To make matters even worse, Maricopa County Sheriffs had also
extracted a confession to Cameron's murder from George Peterson,
a mentally 1ll adult, during a sixteen hour interrogation.
[FN170] When Garcia admitted to the Cameron murder fourteen
months later, Peterson was awaiting trial for capital murder for
the same crime. [FN171]

*454 4. The Defendant Was Exonerated By Scientific Evidence

Police may elicit a confession that is conclusively proven
false by scientific evidence. In 1996, police in West Palm
Beach, Florida elicited a confession to capital murder from
Martin Salazar, but prosecutors dropped charges when the defense
discovered that fingerprint evidence clearing Salazar had been
withheld by the police and the prosecutor. [FN172] During an
- interrogation in 1980, Chicago police reshaped a dream by Steven
Linscott into a murder confession, but DNA testing established
his innocence many years later. [FN173] 1In 1983, Virginia police
elicited several confessions from Earl Washington--including one
to the rape and murder of Rebecca Williams. [FN174] In 1993, DNA

~

45



evidence established that Washington could not have = been
responsible for any cf these crimes. [FN175] 1In 1996, in Sitka,
Alaska, Richard Bingham confessed to being the lone rapist and
killer of seventeen- vyear-old Jessica Baggen. [FN176] DNA
testing excluded Bingham as the source of the semen found in the
victim. [FN177] The foreign hair found on the victim's body was
not Bingham's nor was the fingerprint found on a cigarette pack
at the crime scene. [FN178] Bingham was also unable to describe
the unusual properties of the physical scene where the body was
found nor the unusual way in which the victim had been silenced.
[FN179] Bingham was acquitted at trial. [FN180]

Notwithstanding the numerous examples of proven false

confessions reported in this article, it 1is difficult to
establish conclusively that a defendant's confession is false
even when the evidence of innocence is compelling. Once a

suspect has confessed, it is rare for the crime to evaporate, for
the true perpetrator #*455 to be apprehended, for police or
prosecutors to discover that the defendant could not have
committed the crime, or for scientific evidence to exonerate him.
The standard for inclusion into the proven false
category--established innocence--is a formidable barrier.

B. HIGHLY PROBABLE FALSE CONFESSIONS

While our research has unearthed numerous examples of highly
probable false confessions, only a small number of these cases

are reported here.
1. BRradley Page

In 1984, Oakland, California police persuaded Bradley Page that
he killed his girlfriend, Bibi Lee. [FN181l] His vague, confused,
and speculative confession occurred during a sixteen hour
interrogation that was only partially recorded. [FN182] Despite
Page's confession, no evidence (physical or otherwise)
corroborated his involvement in the crime. [FN183] On the other
hand, abundant evidence supported the conclusion that he was
innocent. [FN184]

Page's post-admission narrative did not fit the known crime
facts. Page stated that Lee died after he slapped her with the
back of his hand, [FN185] causing her to fall and become
unconscious as a trickle of blood came from her nose. [FN186] It
was not until days after the interrogation that the coroner
determined that Lee had three large breaks at the base of the
skull, causing considerable bleeding. [FN187] At the time of
Page's interrogation the police did not know the extent of Lee's
--gkull fractures, nor *456 apparently did Page. [FN188] Page also
stated that he made love to the dead body on a blanket taken from
his vehicle; [FN189] in fact, the blanket contained no evidence
of sexual activity, [FN190] no blood stains from Lee's massive
head wounds, [FN191] no signs of having been washed, [FN192] and
the hairs found on the blanket were not Lee's. [FN193] Page
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guessed that he used a spare hubcap that was in his wvehicle in an
attempt to bury Lee, [FN194] but the fibers and soil from the
hubcap did not match either the fibers of Lee's clothing or the
soil where her body was found. [FN195] Page also stated that he
dragged Lee's body more than 100 yards before burying it. [FN196]
Had this happened there would have been a trail of blood [FN197]
that surely would have been found by the wvarious search and
rescue and dog tracking teams that, beginning the day after her
disappearance, spent hundreds of hours combing the area where
Lee's body was eventually found. [FN198]

In addition to the numerous discrepancies between Page's
post-admission narrative and the facts of the crime, police
ignored eyewitness evidence pointing to another suspect. [FN199].
In *457 1994 CBS News identified Michael Ihde--whose appearance
was consistent with the reported eyewitness evidence and whose
DNA and pattern of killing 1linked him to other 1local area
‘murders--as Lee's murderer. [FN200] Ihde was in prison in
Washington State for two similar murders when he bragged that he
killed three San Francisco Area women--one of whom was non-white
(Lee was Asian American). [FN201] Having convicted Page after
two jury trials, [FN202] Alameda Country prosecutors declined to
charge Ihde with Lee's murder, but did charge him with a similar
murder that happened within weeks of Lee's death. [FN203]

2. Tom Sawyer

In 1986, Clearwater, Florida police coerced a confession from
Tom Sawyer to the rape and murder of Janet Staschak after sixteen
hours of interrogation that included numerous threats. [FN204]
There was no evidence 1linking Sawyer to the crime, [FN205] and
his post-admission narrative £fit poorly with the facts of the
case. [FN206] For example, presuming that Staschak had been
sexually assaulted, the interrogators led Sawyer to admit to both
vaginal and anal rape during the creation of the post-admission
narrative of the crime, [FN207] but the medical examiner reported
no evidence of sexual assault. [FN208] Despite strenuous efforts
by the interrogators, Sawyer was unable to corroborate ' the
confession by supplying information about the victim's missing
clothing, missing *458 keys, or the tape used to bind her.
[FN209] After the trial judge suppressed Sawyer's confession,
[FN210] the state dismissed the charges, since no evidence of his
guilt existed. [FN211]

3. Martin Tankleff

After five-and-one-half hours of accusatory interrogation in
1988, [FN212] Suffolk County, New York police obtained a
confession from Martin Tankleff, then seventeen-years-old, to

brutally stabbing and murdering his parents. [FN213] No evidence
~linked Tankleff to the crime, and his post- admission narrative
did not match the facts of the case. [FN214] Instead, Tankleff's
narrative matched (indeed it was) the flawed theory of the crime
that police detectives held at the time of Tankleff's
interrogation. [FN215] Tankleff confessed to killing his parents




with a dumbbell and a watermelon knife, yet both items tested
negative for blood traces, hair and fibers. [FN216] Medical
testimony established that the head injuries to Martin's father
were caused by a hammer. [FN217] Tankleff confessed to beating
his mother with a dumbbell and then fighting with her, which
would have been consistent with the defensive wounds on her arms,
but Tankleff's body was unscratched and the absence of any
bruises suggested that he had not been in a 1life or death
struggle with anyone. [FN218] Tankleff confessed that he took a
shower to wash away the substantial bloodstains the killings
would have left on the perpetrator, but no blood residue or hairs
from his parents were found in his shower. [FN219] Tankleff had
one bloodstain on his shoulder that could have been acquired when
he discovered the bodies, but would have been washed away if he
showered to remove the substantial bloodstains that likely marked
the killer. [FN220] Tankleff confessed to assaulting his parents
between 5:35 a.m. and 6:10 a.m., but his mother's time *459 of
death was established to be much earlier. [FN221] Tankleff
confessed to killing his mother and then walking through the
house before attacking his father, but none of his mother's blood
was found along this pathway. [FN222] - The killer used gloves,
but Tankleff's confession made no reference to gloves. [FN223]
Tankleff confessed that after showering he removed his father
from the chair and did not shower again, yet Tankleff's clothes
were not Dbloodstained. [FN224] His confession was not
corroborated by the physical evidence that should have linked him
to the crime (if, in fact, he were guilty) and was merely a
regurgitation of the factually erroneous theory the detectives
admitted they had initially held. Nevertheless, a jury convicted
Tankleff of two counts of second degree murder. [FN225]
Tankleff's judge sentenced him to prison for fifty years to life.
[FN226]

4. Richard Lapointe

In 1989, two vyears after the murder of Bernice Martin,
Manchester, Connecticut Police interrogated Richard Lapointe, the

husband of the victim's granddaughter. [FN227] During an
unrecorded nine and one-half hour interrogation, Lapointe, a
mentally handicapped adult, signed three contradictory

confessions to raping, stabbing, and strangling the wvictim.
[FN228] ©No physical evidence either linked Lapointe to the crime
or corroborated any of his incriminating statements. In fact,
each of Lapointe's three confessions was inconsistent with the
others and contradicted the facts of the crime. [FN229] In 1992,
a jury convicted *460 Lapointe of capital felony murder and eight
related charges, and sentenced him to life in prison without the
possibility of parole plus sixty years. [FN230] Lapointe remains
“inprison today with little hope of ever being released.

An analysis of the fit between Lapointe's post-admission
narrative and the facts of the crime reveals that it would have
been virtually impossible for Lapointe to have committed the
crime in the time available to him. In an interview with his

43



wife immediately following Lapointe's arrest (an interview police
chose to record), [FN231] Mrs. Lapointe recounted her husband's
activities on the day of her grandmother's death. Her account
provided Lapointe with an alibi for all but thirty to forty-five
minutes of the day. [FN232] 1In that brief period Lapointe would
have had to have walked ten minutes to Bernice Martin's
apartment, have coffee with her, rape her, bind her, stab her,
set fire to the apartment and walk back to his residence. [FN233]
Yet, when he returned after his walk Lapointe did not appear
sweaty or disheveled. [FN234] Lapointe confessed to killing the
victim at the location in her apartment where the police believed
she had been stabbed, on the couch. [FN235] However, medical
testimony established that she was not killed while on the couch.
[FN236] Lapointe admitted to an erroneous police theory of the
victim's death, manual strangulation with both hands, [FN237] but
the medical examiner reported that the victim died from
strangulation by compression (i.e., a Dblunt object had been
pushed against the right side of her neck). [FN238] Lapointe
confessed to moving the victim's body (the police theory of the
crime at the time of the interrogation), which weighed 160
pounds. [FN239] However, Lapointe, suffers *461 from
Dandy-Walker Syndrome [FN240] and has shunts surgically inserted
in his head that render him incapable of lifting more than fifty
pounds. [FN241l] Lapointe confessed to the sexual assault theory
of the crime held by the police--rape with his penis. In fact,
the wvictim was raped with a blunt instrument. [FN242] The
killer's gloves were left behind at the crime scene, but they
were too large to fit Lapointe's tiny hands. [FN243] Eyewitnesses
saw a large man who did not match Lapointe's description running
away from the crime scene; [FN244] they insisted that this man
was not Lapointe. [FN245]

5. Jessie Misskelley, Jr.

In 1993 West Memphis, Arkansas police coerced a confession from
Jessie Lloyd Misskelley, Jr., a mentally handicapped
seventeen-year-old. [FN246] He confessed to participating as an
accessory in the brutal murder of three eight- year-old boys.
[FN247] Misskelley's statement to police was inconsistent with
the facts of the case, was not supported by any evidence, and
demonstrated that he lacked personal knowledge of the crime.
Misskelley confessed that he witnessed the murders taking place
around noon [FN248] when, in fact, the wvictims were all in
school. They did not disappear until after approximately 5:30
p.m. [FN249] Misskelley confessed that a brown rope had been
used to bind the boys [FN250] *462 when, in fact, shoelaces of
various colors had been used. [FN251] Numerous alibi witnesses
testified that at the time the three children disappeared and for
the next five hours (during which the murders probably occurred),
Misskelley was at a wrestling competition in a town forty miles
away from the crime scene. [FN252] Despite the complete lack of
any evidence of Misskelley's participation in the crime and
despite his grossly incorrect confession, an Arkansas jury
convicted Misskelley of one count of first degree murder and . two




counts of second degree murder. [FN253] He is currently serving
a life sentence. [FN254]

6. Gary Gauger

In 1993, after eighteen hours of confrontational, intense and
highly deceptive interrogation in McHenry County, Illinois,
sheriff's detectives extracted from Gary Gauger a hypothetical,
unsigned confession to the brutal murder of both his parents.
[FN255] According to police, Gauger said that he approached his
parents from behind and slit their throats. [FN256] However, his
alleged confession was inconsistent with the facts of the crime.
[FN257] Even though police confiscated more than 160 items from
the house where the double murders occurred, [FN258] not a single
piece of evidence 1linked Gauger to the crime. [FN259] Police
could not find any of Gauger's blood on knives [FN260] or
faucets, [FN261] even though he allegedly washed his hands after
the double murder. [FN262] Gauger gave the police the wrong
number of slash wounds to his *463 mother's throat, and his
confession did not make any mention of the additional bludgeon
waounds that his father suffered. [FN263] Gauger confessed to the
police theory of the crime--slashing his parents' throats from
behind while they were standing. [FN264] If they had been killed
as Gauger described, blood would have spurted from both parents'
throats across the room and onto the walls. [FN265] Though
police found the victims 1lying in pools of blood, there was
little or no blood on the walls and shelves surrounding them.
[FN266] Moreover, medical testimony established that the
victims' throats were slit while they were on the ground, not
while they were standing. [FN267] An autopsy revealed that both
victims had been beaten over the head, and that Gauger's father
had been stabbed in the back--facts not contained in the
confession. [FN268] . A jury convicted Gauger of first degree
murder. [FN269] The trial judge initially sentenced. him to death,
[FN270] but subsequently re- sentenced Gauger to life
imprisonment without eligibility of parole. [FN271] Sixteen
months later, an Illinois Appeals Court reversed his conviction
and released him from prison because police had improperly
obtained his confession. [FN272] Since then, federal prosecutors
have charged two men belonging to a Detroit-based motorcycle gang
with the murders of Gauger's parents. [FN273]

7. Edgar Garrett

In 1995, police in Goshen, Indiana persuaded Edgar Garrett that
he killed his daughter, Michelle, [FN274] who had mysteriously
*464 disappeared. [FN275] During fourteen hours of interrogation,
[FN276] Garrett gave an increasingly detailed confession
" describing how he murdered his daughter, [FN277] whose body had
not yet been found. [FN278] No independent evidence linked
Garrett to the crime or corroborated his confession, [FN279] and
his post-admission narrative contradicted all the major facts in
the case. [FN280] Garrett confessed to walking into a park with

his daughter through new-fallen snow, bludgeoning her with an axe




handle at a river's edge and dumping her body in the river.
[FN281] However, the police officer who arrived first at the
crime scene did not see footprints in the snow-covered field at
the entry to the park, but instead saw tire tracks entering the
park, bloody drag marks leading from the tire tracks to the
river's edge and a single set of footprints going to and
returning from the river. [FN282] Obviously, Michelle Garrett's
body had been unloaded from a vehicle and dragged to the river,
but Edgar Garrett did not own a car, and no evidence was ever
uncovered that he had access to a car that day. [FN283]
Michelle's coat was recovered from the river separately from her
body, [FN284] suggesting Michelle had been killed indoors and
transported to the river-bank.

Garrett's confession expressed the theory the police held at
the time of the interrogation--that Michelle was clubbed to
death. [FN285] It was not until weeks later, when her body was
recovered, that the police and Garrett learned that Michelle had
been stabbed thirty-four times. [FN286] Michelle's head showed
no evidence of blunt force trauma, and, not surprisingly, the axe
handle Garrett supposedly used to kill her carried no traces of
*465 her hair or blood. [FN287] At trial, the jury acquitted
Garrett of capital murder. [FN288] ’

8. Douglas Warney

In 1996, Rochester, New York police elicited a confession from
Douglas Warney to the brutal stabbing and murder of
sixty-three-year-old William Beason. [FN289] Warney, a mentally
handicapped man who was suffering from AIDS-related dementia at
the time of his interrogation, [FN290] confessed to stabbing
Beason fifteen or more times. [FN291] The District Attorney
initially charged Warney with capital murder, [FN292] but reduced
the charge to second degree murder after the New York media
published several high profile stories criticizing his charging
decision (even though the confession, if true, supported a
capital charge). [FN293] There was no physical evidence linking
Warney to the brutal murder. [FN294] Instead, virtually all of
the physical evidence contradicted Warney's confession. [FN295]
Warney confessed that he stabbed Beason in the kitchen, but
Beason was found stabbed in his bedroom. [FN296] There was no
blood in the kitchen. [FN297] Warney confessed that he cut his
finger during a struggle with Beason and wiped his hand in the
bathroom. [FN298] A medical examination shortly after Warney's
arrest revealed no evidence of a cut, [FN299] and laboratory
tests showed that the blood in the bathroom did not come from
Warney or Beason. [FN300] The killer left a trail of blood at
the scene, but none of the blood matched Warney's blood type.
[FN301] Warney confessed that he threw his bloody *466 clothes
into a garbage can outside his apartment, but the garbage
contained no bloody clothing. [FN302] Warney confessed that he
drove his brother's brown Chevy to the murder, but his brother
had not owned a Chevy for six years and did not own a car at the
time of the killing. [FN303] Nevertheless, ~ a jury convicted
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Warney of second degree murder, [FN304] and the judge sentenced
Warney to twenty-five years to life. [FN305]

C. PROBABLE FALSE CONFESSIONS

1. Tammy Lynn Harrison

In 1979, following several days of intensive interrogation by
Duncanville, Texas police Lieutenant Robert Moore, Tammy Lynn
Harrison, a seventeen-year- old, signed a confession to stabbing
her mother to death. [FN306] Moore coerced Harrison's confession
by repeatedly telling her that she would die in the electric
chair if she did not confess. [FN307] There was no physical or
other evidence connecting Harrison to the crime, [FN308] and she
steadfastly maintained her innocence, [FN309] repudiating her
post-admission narrative while making it. [FN310] After the
trial Jjudge ruled Harrison's confession inadmissible, the
prosecutor dismissed all charges for lack of evidence. [FN311]
Shortly after the confession was suppressed, the Duncanville
Police Department fired Lieutenant Moore. [FN312]

2. Barry Lee Fairchild

In 1983, Pulaski County, Arkansas sheriffs extracted a
confession from Barry Lee Fairchild, [FN313] a mentally
handicapped African-American, *467 [FN314] to participating as an
accessory in the abduction, rape and murder of Majorie Mason.
[FN315] There was no independent evidence connecting Fairchild
to the crime; [FN316] in fact, blood, hair and semen failed to
positively 1link Fairchild to the crime. [FN317] = Fairchild
maintained his innocence and insisted that he confessed only
because Sheriff Tommy Robinson and Deputy Sheriff Larry Dill
physically Dbeat, assaulted, and threatened Thim. [FN318]
Fairchild's videotaped confession statement shows him looking
away from the camera and responding to the prompting of others in
the room. [FN319] In 1990--seven years after Fairchild's
conviction on capital murder charges-- thirteen African-American
men publicly disclosed that, like Fairchild, they too had been
detained for questioning about the Mason murder and were
tortured. [FN320] One of these men, Michael Johnson, reported
that he heard sheriffs in the next room torture Fairchild *468
into confessing. [FN321] Two former Pulaski County Sheriff
Deputies, Frank Gibson and Calvin Rollins, have admitted that
physical assault and abuse were common interrogation tactics at
the time of Fairchild's arrest. [FN322] Nevertheless, all of
Fairchild's legal appeals failed, and he was executed on August
31, 1995. [FN323}]

3. Jane Bolding

In 1985, after twenty-three hours of continuous interrogation,
Virginia police extracted a confession from nurse Jane Bolding to
injecting two patients with fatal doses of potassium. [FN324]
The prosecution charged her with three counts of first degree
murder and seven counts of assault with intent to murder. [FN325]
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No credible evidence 1linked Bolding to the crimes. [FN326] The
medical examiners had initially classified Bolding's patients as
dying from natural causes. [FN327] The trial judge suppressed
Bolding's confession and then acquitted her of all charges.
[FN328] He wrote that, "the state at most has placed the
defendant at the scene. The state's reach exceeded its
grasp. The evidence failed to supply the missing link that would
tie the defendant to the criminal act." [FN329]

4. Delbert Ward

In 1990, New York State Police interrogated Delbert Ward, a
fifty-nine-year- old illiterate and mentally handicapped farmer.
Ward eventually signed a confession admitting that he had
murdered his brother, William, by putting his hand over William's
nose and mouth. [FN330] Ward reported that he had been
intimidated *469 into confessing, [FN331] and thereafter
steadfastly maintained his innocence. [FN332] When the Assistant
Medical Examiner of Onondaga County, Dr. Humphrey Germaniuk,
filled out William Ward's death certificate and turned the body
over to the funeral home, he did not believe that a homicide had
occurred. [FN333] However, immediately after learning of Delbert
Ward's confession, Dr. Germaniuk re-classified William Ward's
death as a homicide. [FN334]

There was no credible evidence linking Delbert Ward to his
brother's death. Instead, the evidence supported the conclusion
that William Ward died of natural causes, not of asphyxiation.
Four common and telltale signs that should have been present if
William Ward had died of asphyxia were not there: (1) William
Ward's nose and mouth were free of trauma or blood; (2) there was
no evidence of regurgitation; (3) there was no thinning of the
blood; and (4) there was not a bluish or purple appearance to the
skin. [FN335] At the same time, William Ward's enlarged heart,
clogged coronary and pulmonary arteries, and his fluid-filled
lungs supplied clear evidence that he had died of natural
disease. [FN336] Nevertheless, at trial, Dr. Germaniuk testified
for the prosecution that William Ward died of asphyxiation,
[FN337] while the forensic pathologist Dr. Cyril Wecht testified
for the defense that William Ward died of natural causes. [FN338]
After almost *470 nine hours of deliberation, the jury acquitted
Ward of murdering his brother. [FN339] Two days after the trial,
the investigator who had elicited Ward's false confession "was
reprimanded and ended up taking an early retirement in Florida."
[FN340]

5. Luis Roberto Benavidez

In 1992, in Simi Valley, California, Luis Roberto Benavidez
confessed to the slaying of Marcos Anthony Scott more than two
years earlier. [FN341l] Benavidez claimed that he confessed only
because his interrogators threatened to send his girlfriend to
prison for the murder and place their two-year-old daughter in a
foster home if he did not confess. [FN342] The police denied
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that they coerced Benavidez's confession, [FN343] and the judge
ruled that the confession was admissible. [FN344] There was no
credible evidence 1linking Benavidez to the crime, and the jury
acquitted Benavidez of the murder charge. [FN345] The jury
forewoman stated that "the prosecution did not prove that Roberto
was the killer. We had to find corroborating evidence besides
his confession that pointed to his guilt. . . . there was no
separate evidence to substantiate the murder charge." [FN346]

6. Linda Stangel

In 1995, Oregon State Police coerced Linda Stangel into
confessing to shoving her boyfriend, David Wahl, off a trail 320
feet above the Oregon Coast. [FN347] After Wahl's death, Oregon
State Police lured Stangel from her home state, Minnesota, back
to Portland by secretly funding her trip (via Wahl's family) to

attend *471 Wahl's memorial service. [FN348] After Stangel
arrived in Portland, the police transported her to the scene of
the alleged crime, several hours away. [FN349] Knowing that

Stangel was terrified of heights, [FN350] two detectives obliged
her to walk up the narrow, steadily rising bluff trail from which
they presumed her boyfriend had fallen. Stangel broke down in
apparent fear of the cliff edge as they climbed the trail.
[FN351] Despite considerable pressure from the police, Stangel
maintained her innocence prior to being manipulated up the trail,
[FN352] and consistently told police that she had last seen Wahl
when he went off to take a walk along the coast. [FN353] To
escape the immediate stress of the narrow and terrifying heights,
Stangel confessed to accidentally pushing her boyfriend off the
cliff. [FN354] The police elicited Stangel's confession not only
by playlng on her fear of heights, but also by using the accident
scenario technique [FN355] to create the 1mpre551on that her
admission--to pushing Wahl off the cliff in a panic after he gave
her a "joking, fake push"--carried no punishment. [FN356]

Yet there was no evidence 1linking Stangel to the crime.
Stangel's several different accounts of her panic response were
inconsistent with one another and all failed to describe physical
circumstances that would have caused Wahl to fall £from the
cliff--even if Stangel had panicked and pushed him. Moreover,
the state never produced any evidence that a crime occurred,
since Wahl's body did not wash up for weeks, [FN357] and thus no
*472 cause of death could be determined. [FN358] Based solely on
the contents of her coerced and unreliable confession, [FN359] a
jury convicted Stangel of second degree manslaughter, [FN360] and
she was sentenced to more than six years in prison. [FN361]

Iv. False Confe531ons and Case Outcomes

A. DEPRIVATIONS OF LIBERTY AND MISCARRIAGES OF JUSTICE

Cases involving suspected or established false confessions
typically result in some deprivation of the false confessor's
liberty. The amount of deprivation may vary from a brief



wrongful arrest and detention to 1lifelong incarceration or
execution. The harms of false confessions can be measured by the
amount of liberty deprived in each case. Table Bl summarizes the
deprivations of liberty and miscarriages of justice associated
with the sixty cases involved in this study. Each case outcome
is classified into one of four categories (wrongful
arrest/detention, wrongful prosecution, wrongful incarceration
and wrongful execution) corresponding to the amount of harm done.

Table Bl

Magniture of Harm Resulting From False Confession

Degree of Deprivation of Liberty Total Perce
ntage of Total

Cases (60)

Arrest and Detention 5 [FN362]
8%

Prosecutions 26
43%

Dismissed Prior to suppression hearing 8 [FN363]
13%

Dismissed Post suppression/prior to trial 10 [FN364]
17%

Dismissed Acquitted at trial 8 [FN365]
13%

Convictions 29
48%

Vacated by Judge prior to sentence 1 [FN366]
2%

Defendant sentenced to: [FN367]

5-9 Years 3 [FN368]
5%
>10 Years 10 [FN369]
17%
“Life Imprisonment 11 [FN370]
18% -

Death Sentence 3 [FN371]
5%
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Executed 1 [FN372]

*473 B. CLASSIFYING CASE OUTCOMES

In general, false confession cases can be usefully divided into
two categories: those that result in pre-trial deprivations of
liberty (Type I cases); and those that result in miscarriages of
justice and wrongful deprivation of many years of liberty and/or
of 1life (Type II cases). Type I <cases occur when police,
prosecutors, trial judges or juries correct the initial error of
relying on a questionable confession. There are multiple points
in the trial process at which the criminal justice system has the
potential to be self-correcting. Indeed, the rules of American
criminal procedure are structured to allocate the risk of error
so as to minimize the possibility of convicting the innocent.

1. Type I Cases: False Confessions That Do Not Lead to Conviction
(52%)

a. General

Sometimes police extract a confession from an innocent suspect
that they initially believe to be true, but either they or the
prosecutors realize is false before the filing of charges. In
other instances, police and prosecutors realize that an innocent
suspect has confessed because it is physically impossible for the
suspect to have committed the crime. Sometimes officials do not
come to the realization that the confession is false until after
another suspect has confessed to the crime. And sometimes police
*474 and prosecutors never come to this realization even though
the confession is demonstrably not true (i.e. contradicts the
known facts of the crime).

The Type I false confession cases described above include:
Billy Gene Davis' confession that he killed his ex-girlfriend
(who turned up alive); [FN373] Ruben Trujillo's, [FN374] Pedro
Delvillar's, [FN375] Jose Soto Martinez's [FN376] and Ivan
Reliford's [FN377] confessions to c¢rimes which were committed
when all were in custody; Christina Mason's confession to killing
her child, who died of natural causes; [FN378] and Martin
Salazar's confession to a crime that scientific evidence proved
he did not commit. [FN379]

b. Confessions From The True Perpetrator

“Often police or prosecutors only discover and acknowledge their
error in e11c1t1ng a false confession or charging an innocent
defendant prior to conviction because they have accidentally or
unintentionally obtained a reliable confession from the true
perpetrator(s) of the crime. [FN380] Several such cases
described above include: Paul Reggetz, who was cleared of
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murdering his wife when a neighbor confessed to the crime;
[FN381] Anthony Atkinson, who confessed to murder and sodomy but
was released when two other men confessed to the crime; [FN382]
Guy Lewis, who confessed to killing his girlfriend, but was
released when the real killers confessed; [FN383] Robert Moore,
whose confession to capital murder and robbery was disregarded
when the true killer confessed and identified his two
co-perpetrators; [FN384] and Donald Shoup, whose capital murder
charges were dropped after the true killer confessed. [FN385]

*475 c. Prosecutorial Intervention

Though it appears to happen relatively  infrequently,
prosecutors sometimes drop charges against a defendant who has
confessed because the confession does not match the facts of the
crime and the prosecutor thus recognizes that it is of no
-evidentiary value. In 1891, Snohomish County, Washington
prosecutors dropped charges against Charles Lawson when they
realized that Lawson had wrongly reported many of the crucial
facts in his confessions to two separate murders. [FN386]
Similarly, in 1994 prosecutors in Louisiana dismissed second
degree murder charges against Cyril Walton after realizing that
many of the details in his confession simply did not fit the
facts of the crime. [FN387]

d. Judicial Suppression

Sometimes prosecutors are forced to drop charges after a judge
suppresses a confession because there is no physical or even
uncompromised testimonial evidence to implicate the defendant.
In 1983, wusing a guided wvisualization and relaxation based
hypnotic induction, Wheeling, Illinois police elicited from
fourteen-year-old William Boyd a confession to murdering a
schoolmate. [FN388] Although bite marks on the victim's body did
not match Boyd's teeth, prosecutors charged him with murder.

[FN389] After a Cook County Circuit Court judge suppressed
Boyd's confession, prosecutors dismissed charges.  [FN390]
Similarly, in the Sawyer case, [FN391] Florida prosecutors

dismissed charges after the trial judge suppressed Tom Sawyer's
grossly inaccurate confession. [FN392]

Though judges can prevent Type I cases from developlng into
Type II cases 1if they suppress the confession prlor to trial,
[FN393] they may also vacate a conviction both prior to and after
sentencing. This happened to the charges against Lavale Burt in
*476 1985. _Chicago, Illinois police extracted a confession from
Burt after slapping him around, threatening him with the death
penalty, and fabricating evidence of his guilt. [FN394] A jury
~subsequently convicted Burt. Between his conviction and
sentencing, however, the grandmother of the murder wvictim
- contacted the judge and provided new evidence showing that Burt
was not. the killer, causing the trial judge to wvacate his
conviction. [FN395] Similarly, a judge in Montgomery, Alabama
vacated Melvin Beamon's 1983 murder conviction (and

52



twenty-five-year prison sentence) after an eyewitness to the
crime came forward and exonerated him. [FN396] Beamori had
confessed after seventeen hours of interrogation, during which
Montgomery, Alabama police beat and threatened to shoot him.

[FN397]
e. Jury Acquittals

If police fail to detect that a confession is unreliable,
prosecutors £fail to dismiss charges and the judge fails to
suppress the confession, [FN398] the defendant may still be able
to persuade a jury of his innocence. Though juries tend to
regard confessions as the most probative and damning evidence of
guilt possible, [FN399] they sometimes acquit defendants who have
confessed falsely. [FN400] For example, in 1986 after almost ten
hours of interrogation, [FN401] police in Flagstaff, Arizona
extracted a highly probable false confession to a Navajo ritual
slaying from George Abney in a recorded interrogation. [FN402] At

trial, the defense presented Abney's unimpeachable alibi,
identified the likely killer and analyzed the #*477 interrogation
for the jury--who acquitted Abney. [FN403] In 1993, Mesa,

Arizona police interrogators elicited a highly probable false
confession to sexual assault of a minor from Dale Zamarrippa.
Zamarrippa was also eventually acquitted by a jury. [FN404] In
1997, a jury in Juneau, Alaska acquitted Richard Bingham of first
degree murder and sexual assault. [FN405] Not only did Bingham's
confession contradict the facts of the crime, but a spot of blood

found on one of Bingham's sneakers was not the victim's and the.

semen found on the victim's body was not Bingham's. [FN406] In
1989, a Minneapolis, Minnesota jury did not merely acquit Betty
Burns of the attempted murder to which she had confessed, but
took the additional unusual step of publishing a thirteen page
letter denouncing the interrogation of Burns, expressing alarm
that the true perpetrator remained at large, calling for reforms
both in the police and prosecutors' offices, and requesting that
Burns' record be expunged and she be compensated for her ordeal.
[FN407] J

2. Type II Cases: False Confessions That Lead to Wrongful
‘ Conviction and
Imprisonment (48%)

a. General

Type II cases are those in which miscarriages have occurred and
the justice system has clearly failed: not only have innocent
individuals been made to confess to crimes they did not commit,
but they have also been wrongly prosecuted, convicted, and

-imprisoned. False confessions may lead to wrongful conviction

either when a suspect pleads guilty to avoid an anticipated
harsher punishment or when a judge or jury convicts at trial.
The frequency of miscarriages among the sixty false confession
cases studied is reported in Takie B2. Following Type II errors,
some suspects are eventually released and exonerated; some are
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released after serving a prison term but are never exonerated;

and some false confessors are sentenced to life terms and remain

incarcerated to this day. Several false confessors in this %478
study were sentenced to death, and in one case the defendant was

executed.

Confession evidence is sufficient to produce wrongful arrests,
convictions and incarceration. In practice, criminal justice
officials and 1lay Jjurors often treat confession evidence as
dispositive, so much so that they often allow it to outweigh even
strong evidence of a suspect's factual innocence. All of the
police-induced false confessions documented here resulted in some
deprivation of 1liberty. Fifty-two percent of the false
confessors' wrongful deprivation of 1liberty ended before
conviction, while 48% of the defendants suffered miscarriages of

justice.
Table B2
The Risk of Miscarriage Attributable to False Confession [FN408]

Outcome of Confessor's Decision to go to trial Number of Cases

Risk of a
Miscarriage
Released prior to decision point 23
Pled Guilty , 7 [FN4029]
12%
Acquitted at Trial 8 [FN410]
Convicted at Trial 22 [FN411]
36%

b. Plea Bargains

If it seems counter-intuitive that an innocent person would
confess falsely, the specter of an innocent false confessor
pleading guilty seems fantastic. Yet this is not uncommon.
[FN412] As Table B2 indicates, in 12% (7) of the cases reported
here, the false *479 confessor chose to plead guilty to avoid an
anticipated harsher punishment--typically the death penalty.

i. Jack Carmen
In 1975 Jack Carmen, a mentally retarded twenty-six-year-old,

confessed to the kidnapping, rape and murder of a
fourteen-year-old girl in Columbus, Ohio. [FN413] Though there
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was no evidence against Carmen and three eyewitnesses placed him
elsewhere at the time of murder, Carmen pled guilty to the crime
to avoid the death penalty. [FN414] Instead he was sentenced to
life in prison. [FN415] Two vyears later, an appellate court
judge nullified Carmen's conviction, and he was subsequently
acquitted in a jury trial. [FN416]

ii. David Vasquez

In 1984, David Vasquez, who 1s alsoc mentally retarded, [FN417]
confessed three times [FN418] and subsequently pled guilty to the
murder of Carolyn Hamm, for which he was sentenced to thirty-five
years in prison. [FN419] In Vasquez's case, the police also
subsequently identified the true murderer, a serial killer,
[FN420] and Vasquez was released from prison after serving almost
five years of his sentence. [FN421]

iii. Johnny Lee Wilson

Vasquez was fortunate compared to Johnny Lee Wilson, another
mentally retarded adult. [FN422] In 1986, Aurora, Missouri
police induced Wilson to confess to murder and arson. [FN423]
Wilson pled guilty to first degree murder to avoid the death
penalty and instead was sentenced to life in prison without the
possibility of *480 parole for fifty years. [FN424] Although in
1988 the true killer confessed and provided officials with
details of the crime that only the perpetrator would know, Wilson
was not released from prison until 1995--more than eight years
after his conviction, when the Governor of Missouri pardoned him.
[FN425] ‘

iv. Paul Ingram

In 1988, police in Olympia, Washington extracted from Paul
Ingram a highly probable false confession to numerous fictitious
crimes [FN426]--including sexually molesting his two daughters,
[FN427] supervising the gang rape and bondage of his daughters

and wife on numerous occasions, [FN428] and being a
demon-possessed member of a satanic cult [FN429] that allegedly
committed murders, [FN430] performed coathanger abortions,

[FN431] signed loyalty oaths in blood, [FN432] engaged in
bestiality, [FN433] and dismembered, sacrificed and cannibalized
small children. ([FN434] The prosecution was able to save face by
getting Ingram to enter a guilty plea to six counts of third
degree rape. [FN435] Though the sensational and bizarre
circumstances of Paul Ingram's case remain unique in the annals
of American interrogation history, the outcome of his case is
not. Despite compelling evidence that his guilty plea was
_predicated upon a false confession, [FN436] Ingram remains

incarcerated. [FN437]
*481 v. William Kelley

In 1990 William Kelley, a mentally handicapped adult, [FN438]




confessed and then pled guilty to the murdexr of a
twenty-five-year-old woman whose body was found in a landfill.
[FN439] He was sentenced to ten to twenty years in prison but
was released two years later when the police in Dauphin County,
Pennsylvania stumbled upon the true perpetrator, [FN440] a serial
killer, [FN441] who confessed to the crime. [FN442]

vi. Christopher Smith and Ralph Jacobs

In 1991 Christopher Smith and Ralph Jacobs, also mentally
handicapped adults, both falsely confessed, and pled guilty to,
the murder of a New Castle, Indiana drug dealer. [FN443] Smith
was sentenced to thirty-eight years and Jacobs to eight. [FN444]
Both had served eighteen months in prison when police arrested
the true killer, who was linked to the crime by physical evidence
(unlike Smith and Jacobs) and eventually convicted. [FN445]

c. Jury Convictions
i. General

The history of criminal justice in America prior to the Miranda
decision is replete with instances of juries convicting innocent
defendants who were linked to the crime only by a false
confession. [FN446] Despite additional safeguards, police
continue to elicit false confessions in the post- Miranda era,
and juries continue to convict false confessors at an alarmingly
high rate. Tables B3 and B4 report the defendant's risk of
conviction at trial when police have elicited a false confession.
Even an unsupported and disconfirmed confession is often
sufficient to lead a trier of fact to judge the defendant guilty
beyond a reasonable doubt. As Table B3 indicates, the thirty
false confessors *482 whose cases proceeded to trial had a 73%
chance of being convicted. Despite the absence of any physical
or other significant credible evidence corroborating a
confession, a false confessor was approximately three times more
likely to be found guilty at trial than to be acquitted (73% vs.
27%) . These data demonstrate that a false confession is an
exceptionally dangerous piece of evidence to put before a jury
even when the other case evidence weighs heavily in favor of the
defendant's innocence.

Tables B4 and BS5 reveal the fate of those identified as false
confessors while controlling for the basis on which the
identification was made. Defendants were identified as false
confessors based either on evidence that objectively proved their
innocence or supported the inference that they were innocent.
While the information reported in Table B4 indicates moderate
percentage differences between outcomes for persons proven or

‘classified (i.e., highly probable and probable) as false
confessors, the differences are minor in light of the relatively
small number of cases presently available for comparison. The

false confession cases documented here produce a generally
consistent outcome, whether the false confessor's innocence is

£



proven or classified as highly probable or probable.

Not surprisingly, the false confessors who are ever going to be
proven innocent are likely to have this proof come to light
shortly after their confession. Slightly over half (53%) of the
proven false confessors have charges dismissed prior to trial,
while 47% of proven false confessors must make a decision about
pleading to an offer of lesser punishment or undergoing trial.
The high percentage of pre-trial dismissals is 1likely due to
proof of a confessor's innocence coming to light early in the
pre-trial discovery process (e.g., when scientific test results
become available) or when the defense establishes the defendant's
alibi (e.g., the alibi the police ignored when the defendant
offered it during interrogation) or for other strong reasons
(e.g., the victim turns up alive).

Absent the discovery of evidence dispositively proving the
defendant's innocence, only 19% of defendants classified as
highly probable or probable false confessors are spared having to
choose to undergo trial or to plead guilty. The wvast majority
(81%) of these false confessors find themselves having to choose
either to plead guilty to a crime they did not commit or go to
trial and risk the harshest possible punishment.

*483 Table B3
The Risk of Miscarriage of Justice at Trial Given a False
Confession [FN447]
Outcome of Confessor's Decision to Number Verdict of Guil

t Verdict of

go to Trial

Innocent
All False Confessors 30 ~ 73% [FN448] 27
% ,
[FN449
]
Table B4
The Risk of Miscarriage of Justice Given a Proven False
Confession
vwéfé?éﬁVFalse Confessors (N%34) ‘ Number (%) Likelihood

Risk of

of a Guilty

Gy
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ge Verdict

Released Prior to Decision Point

Pled Guilty

5% --

Acquitted at Trial

Convicted at TriallO [FN453] (29%)

0%

Totals
4%

Miscarria
18 [FN450] (53%)
5 [FN451] (15%) 1
1 [FN452] (3%)
29% 9
34 (100%) 4

*484 Table BS

The Risk of Miscarriage of Justice Given Likely False Confession

Proven False Confessors (N=34)

Risk of a
£ Guilty
e Verdict

Released Prior to Decision Point

Pled Guilty

% -

Acquitted at Trial

- 37%
Convicted at Trial
% 63%
Totals

o
3

Number (%) Likelihood

o]

Miscarriag

5 [FN454] (19%) -

2 [FN455] (8%) 8

7 [FN456] (27%) -
12 [FN457] (46%) 46
26 (100%) 54

As reported in Table B3, there is a strong likelihood that a
miscarriage of justice will occur if a false confessor undergoes

a trial.

It is alarming that about three-quarters (73%) of all



false confessors who went to trial were convicted. Table 4
reports that when proven and classified confession cases (i.e.,
highly probable + probable) are separated there is a 27% higher
level of risk .of conviction at trial for those whose innocence
will be proven much later. Further, while 63% of the classified
false confessors are convicted at their trials, 90% of the
defendants who would someday be proven innocent are convicted
when their false confessions are brought into court.

If tried, 237% of those classified as false confessors are
acquitted, while only 10% of those belatedly proven innocent are
acquitted. It appears that at the time of trial the exculpatory
evidence favoring those who were destined to someday be proven
innocent was weaker than the exculpatory evidence supporting
those who even today can only be classified as false confessors.
Some of those who were later proven to be false confessors were
only saved from their sentences of execution or life imprisonment
*485 by new scientific developments such as DNA analysis or a
true perpetrator's long-delayed decision to confess. [FN458]

ii. Case Illustrations
a. Officially Exonerated After Conviction

The list of false confessors wrongfully convicted by juries is
long. After Bradley Cox confessed to two rapes, he was convicted
by a jury in 1980 and sentenced to fifty to 200 years in prison
based on a now-proven false confession. [FN459] He served nearly
two years before the true perpetrator confessed. [FN460] The
so-called “"dream confession" Chicago, Illinois police obtained
from Steven Linscott [FN461] was later proven false. [FN462]
Based on this so-called confession, a jury convicted Linscott of
murder, and a judge sentenced him to forty years in prison.
[FN463] In 1983, Fort Lauderdale, Florida police extracted a
false confession to double murder from John Purvis, [FN464] a
mentally handicapped adult. [FN465] A jury convicted Purvis,
[FN466] and the judge sentenced him to life in prison plus two
twenty-year terms. [FN467] When the actual killers were caught,
Purvis was released after nine years of incarceration. [FN468]

In 1979 in Saint Joseph, Missouri, Melvin Lee Reynolds, another
mentally handicapped adult, [FN469] falsely confessed to the
abduction and murder of a four-year-old boy [FN470] after nearly
thirteen hours of interrogation. [FN471] A jury convicted
Reynolds of second degree murder and sentenced him to life in
prison. [FN472] *486 Reynolds was released from prison four years
later when the true perpetrator, a serial murderer who had killed
several more victims after Reynolds' exrroneous conviction,
[FN473] contacted *487 authorities and confessed to the crime.
[FN4 7 4] George Parker falsely confessed to Howell Township, New
Jersey police in 1980; [FN475] a jury convicted him of aggravated
manslaughter, [FN476] and the judge sentenced him to twenty years
in prison. [FN477] He was released five years later after his
girlfriend was found guilty of the murder. [FN478] Laverne



Pavlinac confessed falsely to capital murder to Oregon State
Police in 1991, was convicted by a jury, and sentenced to life in
prison; five years later Pavlinac was released from prison after
the true killer came forward and confessed to the crime. [FN479]

b. Convicted and Never Officially Exonerated

Some false confessors are not as fortunate as Cox, Linscott,
Purvis, Parker, Reynolds, and Pavlinac--all of whom were
eventually released and exonerated of their wrongful convictions.
Some innocent individuals who confess falsely are convicted by
juries and never released from prison. For example, Earl
Washington, a mentally retarded adult who confessed to rape and
capital murder, was convicted by a jury and sentenced to death.
[FN480] Washington spent ten years on Death Row before Virginia's
Governor commuted his sentence to life imprisonment. [FN481] The
governor refused to pardon Washington even though a DNA test
cleared him o0f the crimes. [FN482] Martin Tankleff, [FN483]
Richard Lapointe [FN484] and Jessie Misskelley, Jr. [FN485] were
also convicted by juries and sentenced to life imprisonment
solely on the basis of confessions that were badly flawed, failed
to be corroborated*488 and were surrounded by case evidence that
weighed strongly in favor of their innocence.

Like LaPointe, Misskelley, Tankleff, and Washington, there are
many individuals who were induced to confess falsely, and in the
absence of any other evidence, are convicted by a jury and
sentenced to long prison terms. Other false confessors, however,
serve their sentences but are never exonerated. Bradley Page was
convicted of involuntary manslaughter after two trials and
sentenced to six years in state prison. [FN486] Although new
evidence identified an already convicted serial murderer as the
true killer, the Alameda County, California District Attorney's
Office refused to acknowledge that Page (whose record was
spotless and whose life had been exemplary) was innocent and
refused to reopen the case. [FN487] James Harry Reyos confessed
to a murder and was sentenced to thirty-eight years and served
twelve years in prison, even though the appellate prosecutor
conceded that it was physically impossible for Reyos to have
committed the crime. [FN488] Though he was released, Reyos was
never exonerated:

In 1973, Phoenix, Arizona police extracted from John Knapp a
confession to setting the fire to his home that killed his two
small children. [FN489] There was no inculpatory evidence
supporting the confession [FN490] and considerable exculpatory
evidence supporting Knapp's innocence. [FN491] The first jury
hung, but a second jury convicted him of capital murder, and he
was sentenced to death. [FN492] Five times warrants were issued
~for his execution, and once he came within forty hours of being
sent to the gas chamber. [FN493] Years later an appellate judge
vacated Knapp's capital conviction because the prosecutor had
withheld exculpatory scientific evidence indicating that one of
his children had set the fire. [FN494] In Knapp's third trial,




the jury hung again. [FN495] Finally, *489 after Knapp spent
more then twelve years on death row and fourteen and a half years
in maximum security incarceration, [FN496] the state offered to
forego a fourth prosecution if Knapp pled no contest to second

degree murder in exchange for time served, [FN497] thereby
allowing the state to score the Knapp prosecution as a
conviction. Immediately after accepting the offer Knapp was

released from prison. [FN498]

In 1979, Norfolk, Virginia police extracted five contradictory
confessions [FN499] from Joseph Giarratano to the rape and murder
"of fifteen- year-old Michelle Kline and her forty-four-year-old
mother, Toni Kline. [FN500] Sperm, hair samples, [FN501] and
bloody shoeprints [FN502] found at the crime scene did not 1link
Giarratano to the crime. [FN503] In addition, Giarratano's
confessions were demonstrably inaccurate on significant points:
One of the victims died from a severed artery and bled profusely,
but police found no blood on Giarratano's clothing; [FN504] the
victims were strangled and stabbed by someone who @ is
right-handed, but Giarratano is left-handed [FN505] and has only
limited use of his right hand due to neurological damage from
childhood; Giarratano confessed to strangling one of his victims
with his hands, but an independent pathologist testified that the

hallmarks of manual strangulation *490 were not present; [FN506]
Giarratano stated that he threw the knife he used into the
Kline's backyard, Dbut no weapon was ever found. [FN507]

Regardless, Giarratano was convicted of capital murder and
sentenced to die. [FN508] On death row for more than a decade,
[FN509] Giarratano has twice come within forty-eight hours of
being executed. [FN510] Granted conditional clemency in 1991,
Giarratano is currently serving a life term. [FN511]

In Waukegan, Illinois in 1993, Juan Rivera, a mentally
handicapped twenty- vyear-old, [FN512] underwent approximately
thirty-three hours [FN513] of unrecorded interrogation over four
days, [FN514] and signed two police-written confession statements
admitting that he raped, stabbed and murdered eleven- year-old
Holly Staker. [FN515] The confessions contained the types of
corrections of spelling and grammatical errors [FN516] that
interrogators are trained to work *491 into written confessions
to demonstrate that the suspect reviewed the statement before
signing it. [FN517] However, it would have been difficult, if
not impossible, for Rivera to have actually detected these errors
since he reads at a third grade level. [FN518] The veracity of
Rivera's confession was further undermined by the fact that he
was wearing an electronic leg monitor that showed he was at home
the night of the crime, [FN519] and that none of the 350 pieces
of physical evidence linked Rivera to the crime. [FN520] DNA
tests of more than a dozen items from the crime scene failed to
“match Rivera's blood, [FN521] semen, [FN522] fingerprints [FN523]
or hairs. [FN524] Nevertheless, a Jjury convicted Rivera of
first-degree murder, [FN525] and a judge sentenced him to life in
prison without the possibility of parole. [FN526] In November,
1996, an Illinois Appellate Court reversed Rivera's conviction.




[FN527] However, Rivera remains incarcerated, [FN528] and Lake
County, Illinois prosecutors will likely seek the death penalty
in his retrial. [FN529]

V. Conclusion

This article has documented that American police continue to
elicit false confessions even though the era of third degree
interrogation has passed. This study has also demonstrated with
field data what Kassin and Wrightsman have established in the
laboratory: [FN530] that confession evidence substantially biases
the trier of fact's evaluation of the case 1in favor of
prosecution and *492 conviction, even when the defendant's
uncorroborated confession was elicited by coercive methods and

the other case evidence strongly supports his innocence. [FN531]
With near certainty, false confessions lead to unjust
deprivations of liberty. Often they also result in wrongful

conviction and incarceration, sometimes even execution.

For those concerned with the proper administration of justice,
the important issue is no longer whether contemporary
interrogation methods cause innocent suspects to confess. Nor is

it to speculate about the rate of police- induced false
confession or the annual number c¢f wrongful convictions they
cause. [FN532] Rather, the important question is: How can such

errors be prevented? If police and prosecutors wish to prevent
wrongful deprivations of liberty and miscarriages of Jjustice,
they must acknowledge the reality of false confessions, seek to
understand their causes and consequences, and work to implement
policies that will both reduce the likelihood of eliciting false
confessions and increase the likelihood of detecting them.

The sixty false confessions described in this article dispel
the myth promoted by interrogation manual authors and police
trainers that the psychological interrogation methods they
advocate do not cause suspects to confess to crimes they did not
commitz. [FN533] In fact, the opposite is true. Our analysis
almost always reveals evidence of shoddy police practice and/or
police criminality. Shoddy police practice derives in large part
from poor interrogation training. Influential manuals such as
Criminal Interrogation and Confessions [FN534] and Practical
Aspects of Interview and Interrogation [FN535] teach police to
use tactics that have been shown to be coercive and to produce
false confessions. [FN536] Such *493 texts also mislead
interrogators into believing that a suspect's guilt can be
inferred on the basis of pseudoscientific claims about the
meaning of demeanor and behavior analysis, and they fail to
educate police about the social psychology, variety and
distinguishing characteristics of interrogation-induced £false
confessions. [FN537] ~ ‘

Police criminality (e.g., coercing false witness statements,
suborning perjured testimony from snitches, perjury at
suppression hearings or at trial and/or obstruction of justice by
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withholding exculpatory evidence) often stems from ill-conceived
efforts to save prosecutions that never -should have commenced.
The blood sport attitude that often develops in high profile
criminal prosecutions--"get the guilty party no matter
what"--sometimes causes significant harm to innccent individuals
who police and prosecutors have identified as guilty solely
because they were coerced or persuaded to make a false
confession. During the investigation and prosecution of every
wrongful conviction documented in this article, police and
prosecutors should have realized that the confession was almost
certainly, if not demonstrably, false.

The American criminal justice system has not yet developed
adequate safeguards to prevent police-induced false confessions
from leading to the wrongful deprivation of liberty and
conviction of the innocent. False confessions threaten the
quality of criminal justice in America by inflicting significant
and unnecessary harms on the innocent. In 52% of the cases
reported here, the false confessor suffered, at a minimum, unjust
and needless pre-trial deprivations of 1liberty. [FN538] For
these defendants, the safeguards built into the criminal justice
system limited the false confessor's harms to pre-trial
incarceration, the cost of defending their innocence, and the
damage to their careers and reputations. Forty-eight percent of
the false confession *494 cases studied resulted in a miscarriage
of justice. [FN539] In these prosecutions, the safeguards built
into the criminal justice system failed to prevent lengthy
incarceration, years of imprisonment on death row and in one case
a wrongful execution.

False confessions are likely to lead to unjust deprlvatlons of
liberty and mlscarrlages of justice because criminal justice
officials and lay jurors treat confession evidence with such
deference that it outweighs strong evidence of a defendant's
innocence. It bears emphasizing that in none of the disputed
confessions documented in this article was there any reliable
evidence corroborating the defendant's confession, and in most of
these cases there was compelling, if not overwhelming, evidence
establishing his innocence. Nevertheless, criminal Jjustice
officials treated these confession statements as the most
probative evidence of the defendant's guilt and permitted the "I
did it" statement to override evidence of his innocence. Absent
the wuncorroborated and unreliable statement, none of these
individuals would likely have been arrested, charged, convicted,
incarcerated, or executed.

The risk of harm caused by false confessions could be greatly
reduced if police were required to video- or audio-record the
entirety of their interrogations. Presently, only Alaska [FN540]

“and Minnesota [FNS541] require recording custodial interrogations.

[FN542] The practice of recording creates an objective and exact
record of the interrogation process that all parties-- police,

prosecutors, defense attorneys, judges, juries--can review at any

time. The existence of an exact record of the interrogation is




crucial for determining the voluntariness and reliability of any
confession statement, especially if the confession is internally
inconsistent, is contradicted by some of the case facts, or was
elicited by coercive methods or from highly suggestible
individuals.

Taping also allows third parties to resolve the courtroom
"swearing contests" that arise when the suspect and the police
*495 offer conflicting testimony about what occurred during
interrogation. In disputed confession cases the discrepancies
between police officers' and defendants' accounts clearly
indicate that one of the parties is either lying or mistaken. Of
course, interrogators are sometimes falsely accused of deviant
conduct. In the usual case, however, the police officer's
testimony is treated as far more credible than the citizen's,
whose reputability is compromised by his status as a criminal
defendant. [FN543] In many of the cases documented in this
article, however, the interrogator claimed that the confessor
supplied information that only the perpetrator could have
known--only to have the suspect subsequently proven innocent and
his ignorance of the crime facts revealed. To more accurately
resolve whether the interrogator used coercion, whether the
suspect knew the facts of the crime, and/or whether he was -made
to confess falsely, one conclusion is inescapable: interrogations
must be recorded in their entirety.

The cases discussed above also illustrate the compelling need

for police, ©prosecutors, judges and Jjuries to carefully
scrutinize and evaluate a suspect's post-admission narrative
against the known facts of the crime. Confessions should be

evaluated on the basis of the quality of the post-admission
narratives they produce, and police should be trained to
recognize that it is this information--not the words "I did
it"--that discriminates between the innocent and the guilty. 1In
investigations in which hard evidence linking a person to a crime
is missing, only the analysis of the suspect's post-admission
narrative provides a basis for objectively assessing his persocnal
knowledge of a crime (assuming contamination is eliminated). 1In
each of the recorded false confessions studied here, the account
the suspect offered after saying the woxrds "I did it" was
significantly at odds with the crime facts and indicated that the
suspect was ignorant of information the true perpetrator would
have known.

When police are trained to seek both independent evidence of a
suspect's guilt and internal corroboration for every confession
before making an arrest; when state's attorneys demand that "I
did it" statements be corroborated by the details of a suspect's
post-admission narrative before undertaking a prosecution; *496

- when courts insist on a minimal indicia of reliability before

admitting confession statements into evidence; and when
legislators mandate the recording of interrogations in their
entirety, the damage wrought and the lives ruined by the misuse
of psychological interrogation methods will be significantly



reduced. The sixty cases discussed 1in this article illustrate
that when there is no independent evidence against a defendant
and only a factually inaccurate confession, the risk of justice
miscarrying is so great that the case should never be allowed to

proceed to trial.
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Harrisburg Patrict, Jan. 9, 1993, at Al [hereinafter
Shellem, Jailed Man Set Free]l; David Rossmiller & Glen
Creno, City to Probe Police on False Confession; Mom's Other
Sons Returned to Family, Phoenix Gazette, Mar. 31, 1993, at
B4; Roger  Parloff, False Confessions: Standard
Interrogations by Arizona Law Enforcement Officials Led to
Four Matching Confessions to the Murders of Nine People at a
Buddhist Temple; But All Four Suspect Were Innocent, Am.
Law., May 1993, at 58 [hereinafter ©Parloff, False
Confessions]; Carlos V. Lozanc, Ex-Ranch Foreman Acquitted
of Murder Despite a Confession Crime: A Jury Official Says
the Prosecution Failed to Provide "Separate Evidence to
Substantiate" the Charge Stemming from the 1988 Simi Valley
" Slaying, L.A. Times, July 24, 1992, at B5; Carolyn Colwell,
Defense, DA: Scrap Murder Indictment, Newsday, May 1,
1991, at 23; Jolayne Houtz, Murder Confessions False; Man
Released, Seattle Times, Apr. 23, 1991, at Bl; Rob Warden,
Guilty Until Proven Innocent: The Criminal Justice System
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Does Not Protect the Innocent, Chi. Times Mag. 34 (1990);
Barry Siegel, A Peek at Back Alley Justice, L.A. Times, Aug.
16, 1990, at 1 [hereinafter Siegel, A Peek At Back Alley
Justice]; Jim Phillips, Man Who Said He Killed Friend Getsg
Probation for Scaring Her, Auscin Am. Statesman, Nov. 9,
1990, at B3; Mark Paxton, Nightmare of Confession Continues;
Two Claimed Responsibility for Murders, Tulsa World, Feb.
11, 1990, at C26; Jack Page, A Question of Justice: 2
Father's Plea for Bradley Page, East Bay Express, Oct. 12,
1990, at 1; Claire Cooper, False Confessions Ring True Under
Questioning, Suspects Fall Victim to Their Own Imaginations,
Sacramento Bee, Jan. 7, 1980, at Al.

FN5. See, e.g., Mones, supra note 4; Mayer, supra note 4;
Terry J. Ganey, St. Joseph's Children: A True Story of
Terror and Justice (1989).

FN6. In their study of 350 miscarriages of Jjustice in
capital (and potentially capital) cases in the twentieth
century, Bedau and Radelet identified false confession as
the leading cause of wrongful convictions attributable to
police misconduct. Of the cases they studied, 14% resulted
from coerced or persuaded false confessions. See Bedau &
Radelet, supra note 3, at 58.

FN7. Borchard, supra note 3.

FN8. See, e.g., Huff et al., supra note 3; Yant, supra note
3; Radin, supra note 3; Frank & Frank, supra note 3; Radelet
et al., supra note 4.

FN9. The leading contemporary research in this tradition is
Bedau and Radelet's landmark study of miscarriages of

justice. See Bedau & Radelet, supra note 3; see also
Michael L. Radelet et al., In Spite of Innocence: Erroneous
Convictions 1in Capital Cases (1992). In total, they

identified 416 cases since 1900 in which innocent defendants
were wrongfully convicted of capital or potentially capital
crimes. Id. at ix-x. Recognizing that miscarriages of
justice are caused by a wide variety of factors, Bedau and
Radelet identified the four main sources of wrongful
conviction: (1) police error prior to trial; (2)
prosecutorial error before or during trial; (3) witness
error during depositions or testimony; and (4) miscellaneous
types of system error. Though no one knows the magnitude of
harm caused by wrongful convictions 'or the number of
innocent individuals wrongfully executed in this century,
Bedau and Radelet's research persuasively demonstrates that
"our criminal justice system is fallible and the gravest
possible errors in its administration can be documented."
Bedau & Radelet, supra note 3, at 46.

FN10. In 1little more than a half century, American
interrogation practices have undergone a remarkable change.




See generally Richard A. Leo, From Coercion to Deception:
The Changing Nature of Police Interrogation in America, 18
Crime, L. & Soc. Change 35 (1992) [hereinafter Leo, From
Coercion to Deception]. Throughout the first third of the
twentieth century, police regularly resorted to physical
force and duress to extract confessions. See  Wickersham
Comm'n Report, supra note 3. Growing public revulsion
toward third degree practices, the movement toward police
professionalization, and Supreme Court decisions outlawing
physical force during interrogation eventually led to a
shift to psychological tactics. See Brown v. Mississippi,
297 U.S. 278 (1936); Samuel Walker, A Critical History of
Police Reform: The Emergence of Professionalism 132-34
(1977); Ernest Jerome Hopkins, Our Lawless Police: A Study
of the Unlawful Enforcement of the Law 3-14 (1931); Emmanuel
Lavine, The Third Degree: A Detailed and Appalling Expose of
Police Brutality 3-9 (1930). Though American interrogation
methods became far less assaultive during the 1940s and
1950s, psychologically coercive practices flourished and
police continued to elicit involuntary and unreliable
confessions. See Richard A. Leo, Police Interrogation in
America: A Study of Violence, Civility and Social Change
53-65 (Ph.D. dissertation, Univ. of Calif. at Berkeley 1994)
(on file with author) [hereinafter Leo, Police Interrogation
in Americal. In response, the Supreme Court turned its
attention from constitutional questions raised by physical
coercion to the problems raised by psychologically oriented
interrogation practices. In a series of decisions between
1940 and 1963, the Court analyzed the conditions under which
psychological methods produce involuntary confessions. See,
e.g., Haynes v. Washington, 373 U.S. 503 (1963); Lynumn V.
Illinois, 372 U.S. 528 (1963); Culombe v. Connecticut, 367
U.S. 568 (1961); Rogers v. Richmond, 365 U.S. 534 (1961);
Spano v. New York, 360 U.S. 315 (1959); Fikes v. Alabama,
352 U.S. 191 (1957); Leyra v. Denno, 347 U.S. 556 (1954);
Watts v.. Indiana, 338 U.S. 49 (19%49); Malinski v. New York,
324 U.S. 401 (1945); Ashcraft v. Tennessee, 322 U.S. 143
(1944); Chambers v. Florida, 309 U.S. 227 (1940).

In 1966, in Miranda v. Arizona, the Supreme Court directly
addressed the policy problem of psychologically-based
methods by mandating that police issue a set of code-like
constitutional warnings and elicit a waiver from suspects
prior to custodial questioning. 384 U.S. 436 (1966). The
fourfold Miranda warnings informed suspects of their
constitutional right to refuse and/or terminate custodial
questioning, and thereby avoid and/or escape the potentially
coercive pressures the Warren Court believed to be present
in modern methods of interrogation. Id. at 467. Unable to
observe directly what happened in interrogation rooms, the
Court turned to police training manuals to assess
methods of psychological interrogation and concluded that
some of these methods were heavy-handed and oppressive. Id.
at 448-55. While the Miranda Court acknowledged that no
single tactic was likely to overbear a suspect's will, the
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materials--especially in Ilesser known cases--all social
science and legal research on miscarriage of justices relies
on both primary and secondary source materials. See, e.g.,
Yant, supra note 3; Huff et al., supra note 3; Bedau &
Radelet, supra note 3. The research reported here is no
different. By necessity, we rely on a variety of sources to
~document our assertions of fact. Where possible, we have
tried to draw directly on interviews, police transcripts,
and trial records, but in many instances we were only able
to obtain newspaper and magazine accounts, appellate court
opinions, academic journal articles, and/or books.

FN16. The authors obtained case file materials (either
substantial or selected portions) directly from the
attorney(s) representing the confessor in 17 cases (nos. 2,
3, 16, 17, 18, 21, 28, 34, 35, 40, 43, 45, 46, 47, 49, 50,
58) . See infra Part II.D (describing and numbering the
cases studied in this article). The confessors' attorneys
typically requested consultation at a suppression hearing
and/or criminal trial, during the post-conviction appeal, or
in a civil proceeding following the termination of criminal
charges. 1In one case, a governor requested consultation in
connection with a pardon under consideration.

FN17. In many of the cases identified in this paper, the
suspect supposedly also confessed to so-called "jailhouse
snitches"--at the same time that he was busy recanting his
Juncorroborated confession to everyone else. Because
jailhouse snitches stand to gain material concessions and
sentence reductions, we do not regard their testimony as
credible. See Report of the 1989-90 Los Angeles County
Grand Jury, Investigation of the Involvement of Jail House
Informants in the Criminal Justice System in Los Angeles
County (June 26, 1990); Clifford Zimmerman, Toward A New
Vision of Informants: A History of Abuses and Suggestions
for Reform, 22 Hastings Const. L.Q. 81, 93-97 (199%4); Mark
Curriden, No Honor Among Thieves, 75 A.B.A. J. 52, 54-56
(1989) .

FN18. The defendant's post-admission narrative of the crime
is the actual detailed confession statement that follows the
"I did it" admission. See infra notes 26-29 and
accompanying text. For a fuller discussion of the post-
admission narrative, see Ofshe & Leo, The Decision to
Confess Falsely, supra note 4, at 990-97.

FN19. The amount of information on these cases varies. The
analysis of some cases was based on access to virtually the
entire case file, while the analysis of other cases was
limited to Jjournalists' accounts or published appellate
court opinions. Based on the available sources, no credible
evidence supporting the confessor's guilt was discovered in
any of - the cases reported in this article. Some
investigations, however, involved questionable evidence that



Court recognized that these methods, if used together, could
easily overcome a suspect's ability to resist an
interrogator's demand for confession and result in an
involuntary confession. Id.

Miranda marked the end of third degree interrogations and
the establishment of a new era of psychological
interrogation technigques and strategies. Even though
interrogation practices today are psychologically-oriented,
American police sometimes resort to third degree methods.
See 20/20: Confession at Gunpoint? (ABC News Television
Broadcast, Mar. 29, 1991) [hereinafter Confession at
Gunpoint?]. While the Miranda Court noted that police still
resorted to violent interrogation methods on occasion, it
recognized that American interrogation tactics had become
almost entirely psychological in nature. Miranda, 384 U.S.
at 44s. Recognizing -that psychological interrogation
methods can produce both involuntary and wunreliable
confessions, the Court created a bright line rule to more
clearly and more effectively regulate the admissibility of

psychologically-induced confession statements. See id. at
448-55.

In the 31 vyears since Miranda, American police have
developed, extended, and refined psychological methods

of interrogation. As a consequence, interrogation practices
have become increasingly subtle and sophisticated. Leo, From
Coercion to Deception, supra, at 36-37. Interrogators may
have become more effective at obtaining confession
statements than they were in the prior era of third degree
interrogation. See id. With contemporary psychological
methods, police now routinely elicit true confessions from
the guilty without resorting to physical or psychological
coercion; sometimes coerce false confessions from the
innocent without resorting to force; and, less commonly,
elicit false confessions from the factually innocent by
persuading them they committed crimes about which they have
no recollection. See generally Ofshe & Leo, The Decision to
Confess Falsely, supra note 4.

FN11l. See Ofshe & Leo, Social Psychology, supra note 4, at
191-954.

FN12. For analytic purposes we distinguish between an
admission ("I did it") and a confession. The post-admission
narrative is the statement the suspect gives to police after
making the "I did it" admission. . A confession is a full
description of a person's participation in a crime.

FN13. See Kassin & Wrightsman, Coerced Confessions, supra
note 2, at 492-504; Kassin & Wrightsman, Prior Confessions,
-.supra note 2, at 136-45.

FN14. Kassin, supra note 4, at 221.

FN15. Due to the difficulty of directly obtaining case
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later proved to be unreliable.

FN20. See infra text accompanying notes 34-88, 136-80.
FN21. See infra text accompanying notes 89-122, 181-305.
FN22. See infra text accbmpanying notes 123-35, 306-61.

FN23. See also Bedau & Radelet, supra note 3, at 27-56, for
a similar discussion of their method and classification of

miscarriages of justice.

FN24. Contamination is the process whereby police suggest
facts to the suspect that he did not already know, or the
suspect learns facts about the crime from newsmedia or
information leaked, rumored or disseminated in the

community.

FN25. For an in-depth discussion of the fit between the
post-admission narrative and the crime scene facts, see
Ofshe & Leo, The Decision to Confess Falsely, supra note
4, at 990-97. '

FN26. For example, the answer to a question about whether a
body was face up or face down has little value since a guess
will be correct half the time. Correctly describing how the
victim was bound, however, has more value since there are a
large number of possibilities. Finally, assuming there is
no contamination, if a defendant's post-admission narrative
correctly describes a bedroom crime scene in which the
sheet--but not the mattress cover--was stripped off the bed,
one panel of a window drape was torn down, and a table lamp
was found on the floor in the northeast corner of the room,
he has proven his actual knowledge of the crime by
accurately describing unusually mundane details of the
scene.

FN27. See Michael Dougan, Polly Klaas Case Marked
Participants' Lives Forever; A Year After Killer Was
Sentenced, Memories of Crime, Trial Remain Fresh, S.F.
Examiner, Sept. 26, 1997, at A4.

FN28. See Ofshe & Leo, The Decision to Confess Falsely,
supra note 4, at 986- 88, 1088-106, 1114-22; Ofshe & Leo,
Social Psychology, supra note 4, at 191-93, 206-07;
Gudjonsson, supra note 3, at 47-49, 232-33; Kassin &
Wrightsman, Confession Evidence, supra note 1, at 72-76.

FN2S. For example, an Illinois special prosecutor recently
indicted four DuPage County deputy sheriffs and three former
DuPage County prosecutors for conspiracy, perjury and
obstruction of justice in the wrongful capital convictions
of Rolando Cruz and Alejandro Hernandez. See Don Terry, Ex-
Prosecutors and Deputies in Death Row Case are Charged with




Framing Defendant, N.Y. Times, Dec. 13, 1996, at Al8. In

1983, DuPage County sheriffs allegedly elicited
incriminating statements from Alejandro Hernandez and a
"dream-vision" confession from Rolando Cruz to the

residential burglary, kidnap, rape and murder of 10-year-old
Jeanine Nicarico. See People v. Cruz, 643 N.E.2d 636, 641

(I11. 199%4). Prosecutors charged Hernandez, Cruz and
Stephen Buckley (who had been implicated by Hernandez's
statements) with the capital crime. See Buckley v.

Fitzsimmons, 919 F.2d 1230 (7th Cir. 1990); People v. Cruz,
521 N.E.2d 18 (Ill. 1988); People v. Hernandez, 521 N.E.2d
25 (Ill. 1988). Sheriffs recovered several forms of evidence
from the scene of the crime and the victim's body (e.g.,
blood, handprints, shoeprints, seminal fluid), but could not
link any physical evidence to these three suspects. See
Cruz, 643 N.E.2d at 643-44; see also American Justice,
Presumed Guilty (A&E Television Broadcast, Apr. 16, 1997)
[hereinafter A&E, Presumed Guiltyl; After 2 Death Sentences,
Man Acquitted in 3rd Trial; Courts: Defendant Had Been
Imprisoned for 11 Years After Illinois Girl's Murder; No
Physical Evidence of Eyewitnesses Linked Him to the
Killing, L.A. Times, Nov. 4, 1995, at A27. At the same
time, prosecutors failed to provide defense counsel with
exculpatory evidence. A&E, Presumed Guilty, supra.

For example, one month prior to trial, Buckley's attorney
fortuitously discovered that the County Crime Lab had ruled
out Buckley's boots--the primary and only evidence against
him--as a match with the boots that had kicked in the
Nicarico's door. A&E, Presumed Guilty, supra. Yet the
sheriffs had retrieved Buckley's boots from the lab and
instructed the laboratory technician not to file a report,
causing the County Crime Laboratory Director to resign.
Eventually, the FBI conclusively demonstrated that the
killer's bootprint left on the Nicarico door did not come

from Buckley. Id. Sheriff's Detective John Sam also
resigned in protest because of his belief that all three
defendants were innocent. See Allan Gray & Courtney

Edelhart, Judge Rules Cruz Innocent; Finally "The Whole Case
Just Fell Apart," Chi. Trib., Nov. 4, 1995, at 1; Editorial,
Injustice in, Illinois, Christian Sci. Monitor, Oct. 26,
1995, at 20.

With no evidence against Cruz, Hernandez or Buckley,
prosecutors relied on a parade of witnesses to whom they had
given reward money or reduced sentences for perjured
testimony that Cruz had made self-incriminating statements.
See Hernandez, 521 N.E.2d at 30-31; Gera-Lind Kolarik, DNA,
Changed Testimony Gain Acquittal: Special Prosecutor, FBI
Investigation Controversial Illinois Murder Prosecution,
82 A.B.A. J. 34 (1%896). In addition, in 1985, only four
days before the trial, prosecutors announced for the first
time that sheriff's detectives Dennis Kurzawa and Thomas
Vosburgh had elicited a ‘"dream-vision" statement from
Hernandez a year and a half earlier in May, 1983, in which
Cruz had reported details only known by the police and the
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true perpétratorz See Cruz, 521 N.E.2d at 19; Kolarik,

supra. Police and prosecutors claimed the "dream-vision®
statement was tantamount to a confession. A&E, Presumed
Guilty, supra. Yet sheriff's detectives Kurzawa and

Vosburgh had not tape-recorded Cruz's alleged "dream-vision"
statement, they had not written a report about it at the
time it had allegedly been given, and, perhaps most
curiously, they had not followed-up on this key piece of
evidence the next day in a recorded interview with Cruz.
Id. In addition, Deputy John Sam, who had worked alongside
Kurzawa and Vosburgh on the Nicarico investigation before
resigning in protest, had never heard any mention of Cruz's
"dream-vision" statement during that time. See Cruz, 643
N.E.2d at 641; Gray & Edelhart, supra, at 1.

Nevertheless, Kurzawa and Vosburgh testified that they told
their boss, Lieutenant James Montesano, about the
"dream-vision" statement as proof that it had occurred, and
Montesano corroborated their testimony in Court. See Cruz,
643 N.E.2d at 641-42; Jeffrey Bils, Cops Unshaken On Cruz
Vision, Chi. Trib., Oct. 28, 1995, at 1. Kurzawa and
Vosburgh also testified that former Assistant State's
Attorney Thomas Knight had told them not to document the
dream-vision statement because he would use it in his
summary before the grand jury, though, curiously, Kr° -ht had
not questioned Cruz about the "dream-vision" state .znt in
grand jury proceedings. See Cruz, 643 N.E.2d at 642; Bils,
supra, at 1. The jury convicted Cruz and Hernandez of the
capital crimes, and the judge sentenced both men to die by
lethal injection. Cruz, 521 N.E.2d at 18-19; Hernandez, 521
N.E.2d at 26; A&E, Presumed Guilty, supra. The jury could
not reach a decision on the charges against Buckley, and
eventually prosecutors dismissed charges against him. See
Cruz, 521 N.E.2d at 19; Terry, supra, at Al8; A&E, Presumed
Guilty, supra. '

Shortly after Cruz's and Hernandez's capital convictions in
1985, Brian Dugan, a convicted child-rapist and murder,
confessed that he alone had raped and killed Jeanine
Nicarico. Terry, supra. There was considerable evidence
implicating Dugan. See Cruz, 643 N.E.2d at 644-52; James
Touhy, The DuPage Cover-Up: The Authorities Know That Brian
Dugan Killed Jeanine Nicarico; They Know They've Put the
Wrong Men on Death Row; They Don't Care, Chi. Lawyer, May
1996, at 9; A&E, Presumed Guilty, supra. First, Dugan had
also raped and killed seven-year-old Melissa Ackerman and
27-year-old Donna Schnor, both with the same modus operendi
as the perpetrator of the Nicarico crlme——abductlng the
victim, taking her to a remote nature cite, raping and
sodomizing her, and then killing her. See Cruz, 643 N.E.2d
at 644-52; Touhy, supra; A&E, Presumed Guilty, supra.
Second, - -eyewitnesses placed Dugan in the Nicarico
neighborhood on the day of the abduction. See Cruz, 643
N.E.2d at 648; Touhy, supra; A&E, Presumed Guilty, supra.
Third, Dugan knew'many of the crime details that had not
been made public. See Cruz, 643 N.E.2d at 647; Touhy,

4



supra; A&E, Presumed Guilty, supra. Nevertheless, both
police and prosecutors refused to accept the wvalidity of

Dugan's confession, insisting that Cruz and Hernandez were

guilty. See Cruz, 643 N.E.2d at 644-52; Touhy, supra; A&E,
Presumed Guilty, supra. Skeptical observers at the time
insisted that prosecutors knew that Dugan had committed the
crime but ignored his confession because they could not
admit that they had sent two innocent men to death row. See
Touhy, supra.

In 1988, the Illinois Supreme Court reversed the convictions
against Cruz and Hernandez because the prosecution had
deliberately misused both Hernandez's and Cruz's statements
against one another. See Cruz, 521 N.E.2d at 23- 24;
Hernandez, 521 N.E.2d at 33-35. Based on his alleged
"dream-vision" statement and the perjured testimony of
numerous questionable witnesses, Cruz was convicted again at
his second trial in 1990 of abducting, raping and murdering
Nicarico, and resentenced to die by lethal injection. Cruz,
643 N.E.2d at 639; A&E, Presumed Guilty, supra. Hernandez's
second trial ended in a hung jury, but at his third trial in
1991 he was convicted and sentenced to 80 vyears in
prison. Jeffrey Bils & Maurice Possley, Judge Rules Cruz
Innocent; Nicarico Case Still Open After 12 Years, Chi.
Trib., Nov. 4, 1995, at 1; A&E, Presumed Guilty, supra.
Illinois State's Attorney Mary Kenney, who had been assigned
to defeat Cruz's death row appeal, concluded that both Cruz
and Hernandez were innocent and pleaded with then-Illinois
State Attorney Roland Burris to dismiss charges against both

of them. Radelet et al., supra note 4, at 934; A&E,
Presumed Guilty, supra. When Burris pressed forward, Kenney
resigned in disgust. See Radelet et al., supra note 4, at

934; Terry, supra; A&E, Presumed Guilty, supra. Though the
Illinois Supreme Court initially affirmed Cruz's and
Hernandez's convictions in 1992, it vacated both convictions
in 1994. See Cruz, 643 N.E.2d at 639.

In 1995 DNA exonerated Cruz, Hernandez and Buckley. See
Connors et al., supra note 4, at 44-46. At the same time,
DNA testing revealed that there was only a 3/100th of 1%
chance (i.e., 3/10,000) that Brian Dugan was not the source
of the semen found in Jeanine Nicarico's body. Ted Gregory
& Peter Gorner, Cruz Didn't Rape Nicarico, DNA Expert Says;
But Prosecutors Not Moved by New Tests, Chi. Trib., Sept.
23, 1995, at 1. Undeterred by this exculpatory evidence,
prosecutors in 1995 brought Cruz to trial and sought the

death penalty for a third time. A&E, Presumed Guilty,
supra. However, this time Lieutenant Montesano recanted his
earlier sworn testimony that Detectives Kurzawa and

Vosburgh had told him about Cruz's alleged "dream- vision®
confession statement immediately after it had been obtained.
Kolarik, supra. Admitting that he had lied under oath in
his earlier testimony, Montesano testified that he had been
in another state the day that Kurzawa and Vosburgh had
supposedly phoned him and therefore could not have spoken to
them about any "dream-vision" confession statement.
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Kolarik, supra. As a result, Judge Ronald Mehling
immediately acquitted Cruz and sharply criticized police and
prosecutors for their sloppy and unethical conduct, forcing
prosecutors to dismiss charges against Hernandez, who had

been awaiting his fourth trial. Bils & Possley, supra, at
1. Both Cruz and Hernandez had each spent nearly 12 years
in prison. Cruz had spent 10 years on death row, and

Hernandez had spent three years on death row. A&E, Presumed
Guilty, supra. :

In December 1996, an Illinois Special Prosecutor charged
four DuPage County sheriffs (including Montesano, Kurzawa
and Vosburgh) and three former DuPage County prosecutors
(including Knight) with conspiring to withhold evidence and
use of false testimony to frame an innocent man for murder.
See Terry, supra.

FN30. Police interrogation training courses and seminars
(including the introductory and- advanced courses put on by
the Chicago-based firm Reid & Associates) rarely, if ever,
even mention the subject of false confessions. Leo, Police
Interrogation in America, supra note 10, at 67-127.
American police interrogation training manuals also fail to
advise police of the social psychology of false confessions
or instruct them how to recognize when their tactics are
leading an innocent suspect to falsely confess. In short,
police text writers and interrogation trainers demonstrate a
studied indifference to the extensive  psychological
literature on false confession. See, e.g., David Zulawski &
Douglas Wicklander, Practical Aspects of Interview and
Interrogation (1993); Fred E. 1Inbau et al., Criminal
Interrogation and Confessions (1986); Brian Jayne & Joseph
Buckley, Criminal Interrogation Techniques on Trial, 64 Sec.
Mgt. (1992); John E. Reid & Assocs, The Reid Technique:
Interviewing and Interrogation (1991) (unpublished course
booklet, on file with authors) [hereinafter The Reid
Technique] ; John E. Reid & Assocs., The Reid Technique of
Specialized 'Interrogation Strategies (1991) (unpublished
course booklet, on file with authors) [hereinafter Reid
Specialized Interrogation].

FN31. See, e.g., Inbau et al., supra note 30, at 147; Jayne
& Buckley, supra note 30, at 66.

FN32. See, e.g., Gudjonsson, supra note 3; Ofshe & Leo,
Social Psychology, ‘supra note 4; Kassin, supra note 4.

FN33. For example, Portland police detective Kent Perry, who
elicited proven false murder confessions from both Rick
Nieskens and Christopher Cole, stated that, "[s]lhort of
physical torture, there isn't anything that's going to get

‘you to say that you did something 1like that when you

didn't." See Smith, supra note 4, at D6. Commenting on
Gary Gauger's presumed false murder confession, Debra
Glaser, a psychologist with the Los Angeles Police



Department and supposed interrogation expert, stated that
"no amount of badgering [would prompt the average, sober
person to] admit to doing something that awful--or to admit
te any crime." Robert - Becker & Andrew Martin, Vicious
Killer or Gentle Farmer?; Two Portraits Emerge of Gary
Gauger, Chi. Trib., Apr. 18, 1995, at 1. Missouri Sheriff
Doug Seneker, who elicited Johnny Lee Wilson's proven false
confession, echoes this sentiment: "There is a principle in
interrogation. A person will not admit to something they
haven't done, short of torture or extreme duress. No matter
how long you're grilled, no matter how much you'ire yelled
at, you're not going to admit to something you haven't
done." Perske, supra note 3, at 50.

FN34. See Colwell, supra note 4, at 23.

FN35. Tom Demoretchky, Detectives in Murder Transferred;
Three Confessions to Crime, Newsday, Oct. 24, 1991, at 7.

FN36. Lack of Evidence, supra note 4, at B4. See also Sitka
Murder Suspect Sought Help, Police Say, Anchorage Daily
News, June 13, 1997, at B7 [hereinafter Sitka Murder].

FN37. Russ Kimball & Laura  Greenberg, Trials and
Tribulations, Phoenix Mag., Dec. 1993, at 101 [hereinafter
Kimball & Greenberg, Trials and Tribulations]; Russ Kimball

& Laura Greenberg, False Confessions, Phoenix Mag., Nov.
1993, at 85 [hereinafter Kimball & Greenbergqg, False
Confessions]. See also Russ Kimball & Laura Greenberg,

Revelations From the Temple, Phoenix Mag., Oct. 1993, at 83
[hereinafter Kimball & Greenberg, Revelations].

FN38. Parloff, False Confessions, supra note 4, at 58.
FN39. Radelet et al., supra note 9, at 292.

FN40. Warden, supra note 4, at 34.

FN41. Smith, supra note 4, at D1.

FN42. Huff et al., supra note 3, at 2. See also Cox V.
State, 552 N.E.2d 970 (Ohio Ct. Cl. 1988).

FN43. Phillips, supra note 4, at B3.

FN44. Paul Feldman, D.A. Won't Prosecute Detective Accused
of Confession Coercion, L.A. Times, Mar. 17, 1987, at Bl.

FN45. Terry Pristin, Probe Begun Into Confessions of Two
"Aliens to Street Killings, L.A. Times, Dec. 10, 1986, at Bl.

FN46. Boocher, supra note 4, at Cl. See also Thompson V.
State, 671 N.E.2d 1165 (Ind. 1996); William Booher, Beating
Charges, Lawsuits Mounting for New Castle Police,



Indianapolis Star, Feb. 6, 1994, at Al.

FN47. Shellem, supra note 4, at Al!

FN48. Perrusguia, supra note 4, at Al.

FN49. Connors et al., supra note 4, at 65.
FN50. Linscott, supra note 4, at 76, 129, 139.
FN51. Granberry, supra note 4, at Al.

FN52. David Rossmiller, Innocent or Not, Under Right
Conditions "Everyone Will Confess," Phoenix Gazette, Mar.
l6, 1994, at Al.

FN53. Rossmiller & Creno, supra note 4, at B4.
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several glaring errors of fact. For example, Fairchild told
officers where he had thrown his gloves away, but they were
unable to find them there. See Fairchild v. Lockhart, 744
F. Supp. 1429, 1521 (E.D. Arxk. 1989). Fajrchild also
identified Harold Green as his accomplice, but Green was in
Colorado when the crimes took place. See Norxrris, 21 F.3d at
813.

FN318. Confession at Gunpoint?, supra note 10.

FN319. Id. See also Execution of Retarded Man is Fought,
N.Y. Times, Aug.. 31, 1995, at Bl2.

FN320. Confession at Gunpoint?, supra note 10. Despite the
absence of the physical evidence that should have linked
Fairchild to the crime if he were guilty, despite the
factual inaccuracies in Fairchild's confession statements,
and despite the highly gquestionable circumstances under
which they were extracted, the courts repeatedly declared
that Fairchild's confession was voluntary and reliable.
See, e.g., Fairchild v. Norris, 869 F. Supp. 672, 690 (E.D.
Ark. 1993) ("Mr. Fairchild's confessions were given
voluntarily and the truth of the essential facts stated in
those confessions cannot be doubted by any fair and

objective person"), rev'd, 21 F.3d 799 (8th Cir. 1994). In
fact, many people have doubted the wvalidity of Fairchild's
confession. See, e.g., More Questions Than Facts, Ark.

Democrat-Gazette, Sept. 8, 1995, at B9; John Brummet, The
Fairchild Issues Won't Die, Ark. Democrat-Gazette, Aug. 29,
1995, at B7; "Dear Colleague" Letter from Congressmen John
Conyers, Jr. & Don Edwards, Urgent!! Stop The Execution of
an Innocent Man (Sept. 21, 1993) (proclaiming Fairchild's
innocence) (on file with authors); Confession at Gunpoint?,
supra note 10; Perske, supra note 3, at 102-03.

FN321. Confession at Gunpoint?, supra note 10.

FN322. Id. ' These admissions, in effect, corroborate the
testimony of the 13 other African-American men who, like
Fairchild, were tortured by Pulaski County Sheriffs in the
Mason murder investigation--allegations that the courts had
largely dismissed in finding that Fairchild's confessions
were voluntary and reliable. See, e.g., Fairchild .
Lockhart, 979 F.2d 636 (8th Cir. 1992).

FN323. Arkansas Exccutes a Retarded Man for Murder, N.Y.

-Times, Sept. 2, 1995, at A6.. .

FN324. Keith Harrison, Bolding: Defendant as Victim; Md.
Nurse Tells of Trial, Earlier Traumas, Wash. Post, June 23,
1988, at AIl.
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FN325. Id4.

FN326. Ginsburg, supra note 125.
FN327. Patch, supra note 126.
FN328. Ginsburg, supra note 125.
FN329. Id.

FN330. See Perske, supra note 3, at 88-94; see also Wecht,
supra note 135, at 238-62. Delbert Ward has an IQ of 69.
See Wecht, supra note 135, at 255.

FN331. Perske, supra note 3, at 90. See also Face to Face
with Connie Chung, supra note 134. When asked at trial why
he confessed, Ward responded: "They said if I cooperated it
would go easier ... so I said yes. It wasn't true. I was
nervous and shoock up. I hadn't eaten all day. I was tired.
My brother had just passed away I thought if I said
yves, they would let me go home." Wecht, supra note 135, at
255.

FN332. See generally Perske, supra note 3; Wecht, supra note
135.

FN333. Wecht, supra note 135, at 223.

FN334. Id.

FN335. Id. at 245-438.

FN336. As Dr. Cyril Wecht reports:

for one thing, the right lung weighed almost twice as much

as the left, while the lower part of the left lung was
covered with scar tissue that held it to the chest cavity.

Most importantly, both lungs showed ‘prominent
arteriosclerotic plagues' of the pulmonary arteries--another
sign of cardiopulmonary disease. Considered with the

enlarged liver and spleen, this was clear evidence of
congestion due to an inadequately functioning heart.
Id. at 247.

FN337. Id. at 252-54.

FN338. Id. at 256-60.. Dr. Wecht argues that Dr. Germaniuk
botched the initial autopsy; that he changed his initial
report and the cause of death 1listed on the death
certificate only after he learned that c¢riminal charges
would be brought against Delbert Ward (but before receiving
results from William Ward's toxicology-- and microscopic
examinations); that during his trial testimony Dr.

Germaniuk misrepresented the meaning and significance of
certain findings; that he provided factually incorrect
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testimony; and that his testimony at trial was
"intellectually dishonest." Id. at 249, 253-54.

FN339. Perske, supra note 3, at 93; Wecht, supra note 135,
at 260-62.

FN340. Wecht, supra note 135, at 262.
FN341. Lozano, supra note 4, at B5.

FN342. Id.

FN343. Carol Bidwell, Murder Suspect's Bail Upheld; Defense
Lawyer Says Confession is False, L.A. Daily News, Apr. 11,
1982, at SV1.

FN344. Carol Bidwell, Judge Rules Man's Murder Confession
Can Be Used In Trial, L.A. Daily News, June 25, 1992, at
SV5. :

FN345. Id.
FN346. Id.

FN347. Suppression Hearing Testimony of Richard J. Ofshe,
State wv. Stangel, Nov. 12 & Dec. 9, 1996 (No. 96151205)
(Clatsop County Cir. Ct., Astoria, Or.) (on file with
authors) .

FN348. Court TV to Air Live Coverage of Oregon v. Linda Jean
Stangel, Bus. Wire (Jan. 7, 1997).

FN349. Report of Detective Hampton of Or. State Police, June
24, 1996, 6-10 (No. 96151205) (on file with authors)
[hereinafter Report of Detective Hampton].

FN350. Id. at 12. See also Kate Freedlander, Stangel Says
Confessions Coerced, Oregonian, Jan. 15, 1997, at BO1.

FN351. Report of Detective Hampton, supra note 349, at 13.
FN352. Id. at 12.
FN353. Freedlander, supra note 350, at BO1l.

FN354. Report of Detective Hampton, supra note 349, at 13.
See also Interview with Linda Stangel, in Astoria, Or. (Oct.
10, 1996). ' '

FN355.  The accident scenario technique relies on
communicating a promise of leniency for its efficacy and has
been demonstrated to elicit false confessions. See Ofshe &
Leo, Social Psychology, supra note 4, at 191-93, 206- 07;
Saul Kassin & Karyln McNall, Police Interrogations and



Confessions: Communicating Promises and Threats by Pragmatic
Implication, 15 Law & Hum. Behav. 233, 247-50 (1591).

FN356. Freedlander, supra note 350, at BOl.

FN357. Kate Freedlander, Defendant Found Boyfriend's Scream
Annoying, Oregonian, Jan. 11, 1997, at BO05.

FN358. The Deputy State Medical Examiner found that the
victim's injuries could have been caused either by a vehicle
accident or by falling from a high place. See Kate
Freedlander, Mother Tells of Loud Arguments Between Son,
Girlfriend, Oregonian, Jan. 10, 1997, at DO6.

FN359. At the prosecutor's request, Stangel took a polygraph
examination administered by a ©police agency in
Minnesota. Although Stangel passed the examination, the
judge refused to allow the polygraph result to be used at
the suppression hearing. The police officers who elicited
Stangel's confession did not take a polygraph examination.
See Letter from David E. Knefelkamp, Bureau of Crim.
Apprehension, St. Paul, Minn., to Dean Schroeder, Deputy
Sheriff, Clatsop County Sheriff's Office, Astoria, Or. (Dec.
13, 1995) {(on file with authors).

FN360. Freedlander, Stangel, supra note 131, at AO1l.

FN361. Woman Sentenced in Fatal Push, Seattle Times, Feb.
11, 1997, -at BO2.

FN362. ID Nos.: 7, 8, 11, 15, 31.

FN363. ID Nos.: 3, 13, 14, 17, 18, 25, 57, 59.

FN364. ID Nos.: 1, 5, 16, 21, 23, 28, 29, 37, 49, 56.
FN365. ID Nos: 2, 35, 38, 40, 52, 53, 54, 60.

FN366. ID No.: 4.

FN367. In the few cases involving an indeterminate sentence,
the upper limit of the sentence was chosen.

FN368. ID Nos.: 9, 47, 58.
FN369. ID Nos.: 10, 12, 19, 24, 27, 30, 32, 36, 43, 51.
FN370. ID Nos.: 6, 20, 22, 26, 34, 39, 41, 45, 46, 48, 50.
FN371. ID Nos.: 33, 42, 44.

FN372. ID No.: 55.

FN373. Phillips, supra note 4, at B3.



FN374. See Feldman, supra note 44, at Bli

FN375. See id.

FN376. See Granberry, supra note 4, at Al.

FN377. See Nathan, supra note 62, at 1.

FN378. See Rossmiller & Creno, supra note 4, at B4.

FN379. Ofshe & Leo, Social Psychology, supra note 3.

FN380. Many miscarriages of justice appear to be discovered
by confessions from the true perpetrator. See generally
Samuel Gross, The Risks of Death: Why Erroneous Convictions
are Common in Capital Cases, 44 Buff. L. Rev. 469 (1996);
Samuel Gross, Loss of Innocence: Eyewitness Identification
and Proof of Guilt, 16 J. Legal Stud. 395 (1987).

FN381l. See generally Yant, supra note 3.

FN382. See Colwell, supra note 4, at 23.

FN383. Perrusquia, supra note 4, at Al.

FN384. Herbert, supra note 4, at AS5.

FN385. Holland, supra note 4, at 1A.

FN386. Houtz, supra note 4, at Bl.

FN387. Darby, supra note 4, at B2.

FN388. Drell, supra note 92, at 11.

FN389. Id.

FN390. Id.

FN391. See supra notes 204-11 and accompanying text.

FN392. See State v. Sawyer, 561 So. 2d 278 (Fla. Dist. App.
Ct. 1990). ‘

FN393. In all sixty cases documented in this article
judicial suppression of the confession would almost
certainly have caused the prosecutor to dismiss all charges
--against the defendant because in each of these cases no
credible evidence 1linked the suspect to the crime and
varying amounts of evidence indicated that the suspect was
factually innocent. '

FN394. Warden, supra note 4, at 42-46. See also Radelet et



al., supra note 9, at 292.

FN395. Warden, supra note 4, at 42-46; Radelet et al., supra
note 9, at 292. '

FN396. Radelet et al. supra note 9, at 292.

FN397. Id.

FN398. In some cases a judge may not be provided with
sufficient evidence to warrant suppressing the confession.
For example, if the interrogation is not recorded, a
defendant may not be able to overcome a police officer's
perjured testimony denying the use of coercive interrogation
techniques and strategies. See Stephan v. State, 711 P.24
1156 (Alaska 1985).

FN399. See generally G.R. Miller & F.J. Boster, Three Images
of the Trial: Their Implications for Psychological Research,
in Psychology in the Legal Process 19 (B. Sales ed., 1977).

FN400. This appears to be especially true if Jjuries are
educated about the social psychology of American
interrogation practices and are shown precisely how a
particular interrogation affected the defendant's decision
to confess. See United States v. Hall, 93 F.3d 1337, 1343-44
(7th Cir. 1996) (reversing district court exclusion of
expert testimony by Richard Ofshe on the phenomenon of false
confessions) .

FN401l. Interrogation Transcripts of George Abney, Flagstaff,
Ariz. Police Dep't (Aug. 28-Sept. 1, 1987) (on file with
authors) .

FN402. Ofshe, Coerced Confessions, supra note 90, at 6.
FN403. Id.

FN404. See Thomas, supra note 4, at 133.

FN405. Lack of Evidence, supra note 4, at B4.

FN406. Id.

FN407. The victim of this brutal stabbing, as well as three
eyewitnesses, testified that Burns did not commit the crime.
See Siegel, Outraged Jury, supra note 93, at Al; Siegel,
A Peek at Back Alley Justice, supra note 4, at Al.

FN408. These data do not represent a statistically
meaningful sample of false confessions since they were not
randomly selected from a definable universe of cases. It is
likely that these cases overrepresent certain. categories

(1) famous cases; (2) recent cases; and (3) cases in which
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one or both of the authors have consulted.
FN409. ID Nos.: 9, 10, 30, 32, 34, 39, 43.
FN410. ID Nos.: 2, 35, 38, 40, 52, 53, 54, 60.

FN411. ID Nos.: 4, 6, 12, 19, 20, 22, 24, 26, 27, 33, 3e6,
41, 42, 44, 45, 46, 47, 48, 50, 51, 55, 58.

FN412. Radelet, Bedau and Putnam document nearly 20 cases in
which individuals entered guilty pleas to capital (or
potentially capital) crimes of which they were entirely
innocent. Radelet et al., supra note 9. See also Hugo Adam
Bedau & Constance Putnam, False Confessions and Other
Follies, in Connery, supra note 3, at 69.

FN413. Radelet et al., supra note 9, at 173.

FN414. Id. at 173-74.

FN415. Id. at 174.

FN4l1l6. Id. The judge found Carmen mentally incompetent to
plead or waive his rights prior to trial. See also Harry
Franken, Carmen Cleared in Slaying; O'Grady: Case Now
Closed, Columbus Citizen-Journal, Dec. 20, 1977, at 1.
FN417. Mones, supra note 4, at 295.

FN418. Id. at 56.

FN419. Id. at 62.

FN420. Douglas & Olshaker, supra note 84, at 327-33.

FN421. See Carolyn- Click, General Assembly Compensates
Wrongly Jailed Man, United Press Int'l, Mar. 7, 1990.

FN422. See Ofshe & Leo, Social Psychology, supra note 4, at
222-26. :

FN423. Id.

FN424. Id. at 225-26.

FN425. Id. at 226.

FN426. Ofshe, Inadvertent Hypnosis, supra note 4.

FN427. Interrogatioh Transcript of Paul Ingram,‘ Thurston
County Wash. Sheriff's Office at 2-12 (Nov. 28, 1988) (on

file with authors). See also Ofshe, Inadvertent Hypnosis,
supra note 4 at 139-49.
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FN428. Interrogation Transcript of Paul Ingram, supra note
427, at 8-81

FN429. Ofshe, Inadvertent Hypnosis, supra note 4, at 139-49.
FN430. Id. at 137-38.
FN431. Id. at 136.

FN432. Lawrence Wright, Remembering Satan: A Case of
Recovered Memory and the Shattering of an American Family
104 (1994).

FN433. Id. at 116-17.

FN434. Ofshe, Inadvertent Hypnosis, supra note 4, at 136,
138; see also Wright, supra note 432, at 110-11.

FN435. Wright, supra note 432, at 184.

FN436. See Ofshe, Inadvertent Hypnosis, supra note 4, at
136-39.

FN437. In May, 1990 Ingram was sentenced to twenty years in
prison. See id. at 134. State and federal courts have
rejected Ingram's appeal to withdraw his guilty plea on five
occasions, and the Washington State Clemency and Pardons
Board recently rejected Ingram's bid for clemency. See Brad
Shannon, Judges Reject Ingram's Guilty Plea Withdrawal,
Olympian, July 6, 1995, at C0l1; Hunter T. George, Ex-Lawman
Ingram Hopes for Mercy from Lowry, News Tribune, Dec. 14,
1996, at Al.

FN438. Shellem, Jailed Man Set Free, supra note 4, at Al.
FN439. Id.

FN440. Id.

FN441. Pete Shellem, Miller Pleads Guilty in Rape of City
Woman; Attack Led to his Capture, Harrisburg Patriot, Mar.
10, 1993, at Bl. '

FN442. Shellem, Jailed Man Set Free, supra note 4, at Al.
FN443. Booher, supra note 4, at C1l.

FN444. Id.

 FN445. Id.

FN446. See Borchard, supra note 3, at 367-78; Frank & Frank,
supra note 3, at 199-249; Radin, supra note 3, at 239-56;
Radelet et al., supra note 9, at 282- 356. :

To
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FN447. It seems 1likely that in more recent cases, a
defendant has a better chance of pre-trial dismissal of
charges or acgquittal at trial because of advances in
scientific technology, the increasing use of audio and video
recording during interrogation, and the increasing ability
of defense attorneys to explain false confessions at trial.

FN448. ID Nos. 4, 6, 12, 19, 20, 22, 24, 26, 27, 33, 36, 41,
42, 44, 45, 46, 47, 48, 50, 51, 55, 58.

FN449. ID Nos. 2, 35, 38, 40, 52, 53, 54, 60.

FN450. ID Nos. 1, 3, 5, 7, 8, 11, 13, 14, 15, 16, 17, 18,
21, 23, 25, 28, 29, 31.

FN451. ID Nos. 9, 10, 30, 32, 34.

FN452. ID No. 2.

FN453. ID Nos. 4, 6, 12, 19, 20, 22, 24, 26, 27, 33.
FN454. ID Nos. 37, 49, 56, 57, 59.

FN455. ID Nos. 39, 43.

FN456. ID Nos. 35, 38, 40, 52, 53, 54, 60.

FN457. ID Nos. 36, 41, 42, 44, 45, 46, 47, 48, 50, 51, 55,
58. ‘

FN458. See Connors et al., supra note 4, at 34-76.
FN459. Huff et al., supra note 3, at 123, 127, 136-37.
FN460. Id. at 137.

FN461. Interrogation Transcript of Steve Linscott, Oak Park,
I1ll. pPolice Dep't (Oct. 8, 1980).

FN462. Connors et al., supra note 4, at 64-65.
FN463. Linscott, supra note 4, at 208.

FN464. Davis, supra note 4, at 79-99.

Suspects are Found, N.Y. Times, Jan. 17, 1993, at 26.

FN465. Id. at 60.

-FN466. Id. at 161.

FN457. I4d. at 164.

FN468. Man Imprisoned 9 Years in Killing is Freed as 2



FN469. Ganey, supra note 5, at 34.
FN470. Id. at 39-44.
FN471. Id. at 43.

FN472. Id. at 69-70.

FN473. Reynolds's interrogation and prosecution illustrates
the potentially = tragic consequences of police and
prosecutorial negligence in false confession cases. Under
considerable pressure to solve the murder of four-year-old
Eric Christgen, St. Joseph police relied on a FBI profile of
the killer to round up 150 suspects. Id. at 26. One of the
suspects they interrogated was Harry Fox, a Ilikeable
64-year-old janitor with no prior record. Id. at 26-27.
Thirty minutes into his accusatorial interrcgation, Fox
experienced convulsions, fell over in his chair, turned
colors, collapsed onto the floor and died of a heart
attack--killed by interrogation. Id. at 28. There was
never any evidence against Fox, and his innocence would
later be conclusively established.

St. Joseph police then decided to interrogate Reynolds, even
though Reynolds did not match the description eyewitnesses
provided of the killer and an alibi witness had seen and
spoken to Reynolds at his home at the time of the murder.
Undeterred by evidence of Reynolds' innocence and an absence
of any basis for suspicion, police interrogated Reynolds
nine times between June 2, 1978 and February 14, 1979 (once
after hypnotizing him and another time after 'injecting him
with a truth serum). Id. at 37-38. Reynolds finally
confessed to accidentally killing Christgen and provided a
written statement that parroted back many of the words,
terms and phrases that his interrogators had used in their
questioning. Id. at 39-41. ©Not surprisingly, Reynolds got
several of the major case facts wrong (e.g., the timing of
the child's disappearance, the spot where the body had been
found). 1Id. at 41-44.

Following his confession to the Christgen killing, Reynolds
was made to confess to a similar child murder in Kansas
City. Id. at 50-51. The Kansas Bureau of Investigation
promptly discounted the confession as false because of the
factual inconsistencies and errors in Reynolds's account of
the crime. Id. at 51. Shortly afterwards, Reynolds
recanted his confession to the Christgen murder and declared
that he confessed falsely because he was frightened by his
interrogators and desperately sought to escape the
intolerable pressure of the interrogation. Id. at 51-54.

~Throughout this entire ordeal, Reynolds maintained his

innocence.

Despite the absence of any evidence confirming Reynolds's
guestionable confession and the presence of evidence
disconfirming it (e.g., Reynolds did not. match the
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description of eyewitnesses), prosecutors brought Reynolds
to trial, the Jjudge declared Reynolds's confession
voluntary, the jury convicted him of second degree murder
and sentenced him to life in prison. Id. at- 59- 70.
Shortly thereafter, Reynolds was repeatedly gang-raped and
beaten by inmates in prison, where he feared for his life.
Id. at 71-75. During Reynolds's four years in prison, the
real murderer of Eric Christgen, a psychotic serial killer
named Charles Hatcher, attempted to abduct, assault, rape
and kill on several occasions. Id. at 235-36. Tragically,
Hatcher stabbed 38-year-old James Churchill to death in 1981
and in 1982 abducted and killed 1ll-year-old Michelle Steele,
who, like Christgen, lived in St. Joseph. 1Id. at 236.
Eventually Hatcher confessed to many of his crimes,
including the abduction and murder of both Christgen and
Steele. Id. at 141-201. Though Hatcher's confession
included details no one else knew and though Hatcher matched
the description of the adult male seen with Christgen
shortly ©before his abduction, Reynolds's prosecutors
initially denied that Reynolds could be innocent. Id. at
167-83. Eventually they grudgingly conceded Reynolds's
innocence and their wrongful prosecution. Id. at 184. Yet
the chief of the St. Joseph Police Department continued to
insist that Reynolds killed Christgen. Id. at 185, 207.
Hatcher was convicted of Christgen's murder, and Reynolds
was eventually declared innocent and released from prison.
Id. at 193-205.

If st. Joseph police had not extracted an obviously false
confession from a vulnerable individual and i1f prosecutors
had not prosecuted an innocent defendant based on nothing
other than his false confession, they might have continued
the search for the killer and caught Hatcher before he
killed James Churchill and Michelle Steele.

FN474. Id. at 141-201.

FN475. State v. Parker, No. A-453-83T4 (N.J. Super. Ct. App.
Div. Feb. 4, 1986). See also Nathan, supra note 62, at 1.

FN476. Bedau . & Radelet, supra note 3, at 150.

FN477. Nathan, supra note 62, at 1.

FN478. Id.

FN479. Seigel, A Question of Guilt, supra note 4, at 15.

FN480. White, supra note 3, at 121-22. See also Hourihan,
supra note 4, at 1471.

FN481. White, supra note 3, at 122.

FN482. Id. Washington was barred by Virginia state law from
attacking his conviction on the basis of the DNA evidence
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because it did not meet the strict requirements of
after-discovered evidence. In Virginia a convicted criminal
has only 21 days after the entry of a final order to move to
set aside a verdict. See id. at 122 n.155 (citing Va. Sup.
Ct. R. 3A:15(b)).

FN483. See supra text accompanying notes 212-26.

FN484. See supra text accompanying notes 227-45.

FN485. See supra text accompanying notes 246-54.

FN486. See supra text accompanying notes 181-203.
FN487. Id.

FN488. See supra text accompanying notes 145-49.

FN489. Parloff, supra note 4, at 33-41.

FN490. Id. at 71 ("Although Knapp had confessed, every
detail of the confession was improbable").

FN491. See id. at 95-104, 116, 130, 140, 270, 280-81, 286,
326-27, 331-32, 393.

FN492. Id. at 137, 152, 137, 154.
FN493. Id. at 186, 164.

FN494. Id. at 234. See also Radelet et al.,‘supra note 4,
at 947.

FN495. Parloff, supra note 4, at 393.
FN496. Id. at 395.

FN4597. Id. at 402.

FN498. Id.

FN499. Stephen Hooker, The Killing of Joe Giarratano; Death
Row Inmate May Not Have Committed Murders He Confessed To,
The Nation, Oct. 29, 1990, at 485 ("The five confessions are
confused and contradictory, both internally and with one
another, and are wildly inconsistent in such fundamental
matters as the motive and the date and order of killings.").

FN500. Arney, supra note 4, at Al. The autopsy report was
changed after Giarratano's confession to corroborate it.
Colman McCarthy, More Than A Reasonable Doubt, Wash. Post,
Feb. 16, 1991, at A27. '

FN501. Pamela Overstreet, Rally Scheduled on Behalf of




Condemned Killer, U.P.I. Regional News, Feb. 7, 1991, at 1.

FN502. Arney, supra note 4, at Al. Although the blood spot
on Giarratano's boots matched Michelle Kline's blood, she
died of asphyxiation and thus only bled internally. Jim
Clardy, Reasonable Doubt? New Trial Sought for Death Row
Prisconer, Wash. Times, May 24, 1990, at Al.

FN503. In addition, 21 distinct fingerprints were found at
the crime scene, but only one belonged to Giarratano, and it
was found in an area that was unconnected to the crime.
Arney, supra note 4, at Al.

FN504. Clardy, supra note 502, at Al. The arresting officer
submitted a sworn affidavit stating that Giarratano had no
blood, scratches or bruises on him. Hooker, supra note 499,
at 485.

FN505. David Kaplan & Bob Cohn, Pardon Me, Governor Wilder,
Newsweek, Mar. 4, 1991, at 56.

FN506. Hooker, supra note 499, at 485.

FN507. John Harris, A Widely Watched Date with Death;
Virginia Inmate's Plea for Clemency Draws National
Attention, Wash. Post, Feb. 17, 1991, at Al.

FN508. Arney, supra note 4, at Al.

FN509. Harris, supra note 507, at Al. Giarratano was
convicted of capital murder and sentenced to die in 1979; he
was not released from death row until 1991. Arney, supra
note 4, at Al.

FN510. In 1980, Giarratano came within 37 hours of being
executed. See Phil McCombs, A Long Road Defers the Death
Penalty, Wash. Post, June 13, 1982, at Al. In 1881,
Giarratano came within 24 hours of being executed. See
Harris, supra note 507, at Al.

FN511. Arney, supra note 4, at Al.

FN512. Andrew Martin, Staker Suspect: I Never Touched That
Girl, Chi. Trib., Apr. 9, 1993, at 1. See also Martin &
Parsons, supra note 114, at 1.

FN513. Eric Zorn, Answer to Justice May be in Videos, Chi.
Trib., Nov. 23, 1993, available in 1993 WL 11127007.

FN514. Andrew Martin, Rivera Disoriented After Confession,
Nurse Says, Chi. Trib., Nov. 18, 1993, at 1; see also Zorn,
supra note 513.

FN515. Zorn, supra note 513. During- his four day
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interrogation but prior to signing two police-written
confessions, Rivera began to hyperventilate and bang his
head against the cell wall so violently that he was
medicated and his arms and legs were shackled. See Andrew
Martin, Interrogation of Coercion?: An Issue of Debate in
Staker Slaying Case, Chi. Trib, Mar. 26, 13993, at 2; Martin,
supra note 512, at 1. Defense attorneys asserted that

Rivera signed the confessions only after suffering an

interrogation-induced mental breakdown; Rivera claimed that
he lost consciousness during the interrogation ordeal and
did not remember signing the confessions. See Martin, supra
note 512, at 2; see also Robert Enstad, Rivera Testifies He
Can't Recall His Confession, Chi. Trib., Apr. 6, 1993, at 1;
Andrew Martin & James Hill, New Man Linked to Staker Murder,
Chi. Trib., Feb. 25, 1983, at 1. At Rivera's trial, a
former nurse at the Lake County Jail testified that Rivera
was so "dazed and incocherent" an hour before he allegedly
confessed that she recommended he be placed on suicide
watch. Martin, supra note 514, at 1. The jail nurse's
testimony contradicted police investigators' earlier and
repeated testimony that Rivera was "alert, cooperative and
friendly" while confessing to the brutal murder and signing
both police-written statements. Id.

FN516. Martin & Parsons, supra note 114, at 1.
FN517. See Inbau et al., supra note 30, at 185.
FN518. Martin & Parsons, supra note 114, at 1.

FN519. See Andrew Martin & Robert Enstad, Rivera Confession
Coerced, Defense Says, Chi. Trib., Feb. 18, 1993, at 8.

FN520. See Martin & Parsons, supra note 114, at 1.
FN521. Brandon & Martin, supra note 113, at 1.

FN522. Id.

FN523. Andrew Martin, Rivera Murder Confession Detailed,
Chi. Trib., Feb. 23, 1993, at 1.

FN524. Sharon Cotliar, Baby-Sitter Murder Case Hinges on
Confessions, Chi. Sun- Times, Nov. 19, 1993, at 12.

FN525. Philip Franchine, No Death Penalty for Baby-Sitter's
Killer, Chi. Sun- Times, Nov. 21, 19893, at 6.

FN526. Frank Burgos, Man Sentenced to Life in Baby-Sitter
Murder, Chi. Sun- Times, Dec. 22, 1993, at 12.

FN527. See People v. Rivera, No. 2-94-0075 (Il1l. App. Ct.
Nov. 19, 1996).
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note 2, at 494-98; Kassin & Wrightsman, Prior Confessions,
supra note 2, at 139-40.

FN531. For a review, see Kassin, supra note 4.

FN532. See Richard A. Leo & Richard Ofshe, Missing the
Forrest for the Trees: A Response to Paul Cassell's
"Balanced Approach" to the False Confession Problem, 74
Denv. L. Rev. 1135 (1997).

FN533. See, e.g., Inbau et al., supra note 30, at 147; Jayne
& Buckley, supra note 30, at 66; The Reid Technique, supra
note 30; Reid Specialized Interrogation, supra note 30.
FN534. Inbau et al., supra note 30, at 102-06.

FN535. Zulawski & Wicklander, supra note 30.

FN536. One outstanding example of poor police

practice--which contributed to many of the false confessions
discussed in this article--is the use of the accident

scenario technique (also known as
maximization/minimization). See Ofshe & Leo, The Decision
to Confess Falsely, supra note 4, at 1088-106. Due to

information presented in training manuals, some police
interrogators believe that it is 1legally permissible to
offer to accept a suspect's admission to a less serious or
non-existent crime, such as an accident or self-defense
account of what happened. Id. This offer gives the suspect
an "out"--a way to comply with the interrogator's demand for
an admission of involvement in the offense while minimizing
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see Inbau et al., supra note 30, at 102-06.
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new or revised [beneficiary] designation in
such form as the Plan Administrator shall
provide.” Id. at 311.

Because no special spousal consent form
is required by ERISA or the plans, we
conclude that Angela’s notarized signature
of the separation agreement constituted a
sufficient spousal consent to a change of
beneficiary.

[7] Even so, Angela points out that the
evidence does not disclose that her nota-
rized waiver had been filed with the plans’
administrator, as required by ERISA.

Angela cites no evidence that indicates the

plans required a filing of the separation
agreement at any particular time before
the plans’ proceeds were distributed. Nor
does shé cite any such ERISA provision.
Instead, Angela merely notes dicta in Foz
Valley that “the settlement waiver is effec-
tive when it becomes known to the Fund
before payment.” 897 F.2d at 282. Ange-
la reasons, therefore, that her waiver can-
not be effective because there was no evi-
dence that Philip Morris had notice of her
waiver.

However, this case is not an interpleader
suit brought by a plan administrator to
determine its Hability for payment of an
ERISA plan proceeds to one of two adver-
sary claimants, as in Fox Valley. Here,
the plan administrator is not a party to the
litigation, and we are concerned solely with
a dispute between adverse claimants to the
plans’ proceeds.

Therefore, we do not decide what liabili-
ty, if any, Philip Morris has for payments
that might have been made to Angela be-
fore notice of her waiver. We merely con-
clude that the alleged lack of notice does
not alter Angela’s obhgatxon to specifically
perform her contract by signing the neces-
sary forms to consent to a change of bene-
ficiary. And, if Angela has collected any
of the proceeds of Winfree’s policies and
specific performance ecannot be decreed for
that reason, the trial court can provide
alternate relief by way of a money judg-
ment. - Winston v. Winston, 144 Va. 848,
859, 130 S.E. 784, 787 (1925).

In sum, we conclude that a proper tender
was timely made and that ERISA does not

t;C emency Petltlons (APAP 214) collectlon in the I\/I E. Grenander
rtment of SpeC|aI Collectlons and Archlves Unlver3|ty lerarles Unlver5|ty at Albany, SUNY.:
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preempt enforcement of Angela’s waiver.
Accordingly, we will affirm the judgment
of the trial court and remand the case for
further proceedings consistent with this
opinion,

Affirmed and remanded.

Everett Lee MUELLER
v.
COMMONWEALTH of Virginia.
Record Nos. 920287, 920449.

Supreme Court of Virginia.
Sept. 18, 1992,

Defendant was convicted in the Circuit
Court, Chesterfield County, William R.
Shelton, J., of capital murder, and was sen-
tenced to death. Defendant appealed. The
Supreme Court, Keenan, J., held that: 1)
defendant’s confession was voluntary; (2)
defendant was not entitled to change of
venue based on extensive media coverage;
(3) defendant was suffxcxently permitted to
inquire during voir dire whether jurors
were predisposed toward imposing death
penalty; (4) prospective jurors with knowl-
edge of defendant’s prior record or confes-
sion were not required to be stricken for
cause; (5) evidence regarding defendant’s
parole ineligibility was inadmissible during
penalty phase; (6) evidence was sufficient
to meet vileness predicate of capital mur
der statute; and (7) sentence of death was
neither excessive nor disproportionate to
sentences generally imposed for crimes of
similar nature. .

‘Affirmed.

1. Criminal Law €=517.2(3), 519(9)
Police officer’s response when defen-
dant asked durirg interrogation whether he
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needed a lawyer, in shrugging his shoul-
ders, shaking his head slightly from side to
side and stating “you’re just talking to us”
did not invalidate earlier Miranda warn-
ings given to defendant or make his subse-
quent confession involuntary; defendant’s
prior experience with criminal justice sys-
tem and his previous contacts with interro-
gating officer indicated that he knew how
to ask for counsel and how to exercise his
right to terminate police questioning.
U.S.C.A. Const.Amends. 5, 6.

2. Criminal Law €=412.2(4)

Defendant did not unambiguously re-
quest.counsel when he asked police officer
during police interrogation “do you think I
need an attorney here?” U.S.C.A. Const.
Amend. 6.

3. Criminal Law &412.1(4)

Defendant’s repeated statements that
he wanted to be taken to jail did not invoke
his right to terminate police questioning,
where defendant continued to talk with of-
ficers after making each statement with no
indication that he wanted to end discussion,
and had unambiguously terminated police
interrogation during previous interviews.
U.S.C.A. Const.Amend. 6.

4. Criminal Law &=126(2)

Extensive media coverage of victim’s
murder, including reports that defendant
had previous eriminal record and confessed
to raping and killing vietim, did not require
change of venue; there was no indication
that reports were inaccurate, and only 9 of
47 venirepersons examined had to be ex-
cused because of their predisposition to-
ward belief in defendant’s guilt.

5. Criminal Law &=134(1)

There is presumption that defendant
can receive fair trial from citizens of juris-
diction in which offense occurred; it is bur-
den of defendant to overcome this pre-
sumption by demonstrating that feeling of
prejudice on part of citizenry is widespread
and is such that would be reasonably cer-

_tain to prevent fair trial,

6. Criminal Law ¢=121, 1150
Decision whether to grant change of
venue lies within sound discretion of trial

court; therefore, trial court’s ruling on this
issue will not be disturbed on appeal unless
record affirmatively shows abuse of discre-
tion.

7. Criminal Law &=126(1)

Extensive media coverage which dis-
closes information about accused, including
his or her criminal record, does not, of
itself, mandate change of venue.

8. Criminal Law €=126(1) )
Significant factor in determining
whether change of venue because of exten-
sive media coverage is warranted is wheth-
er media reports are factual and accurate,

9. Criminal Law &126(1)

Significant factor in determining
whether venue of trial should be changed
because of media coverage is difficulty en-
countered in selecting jury.

10. Jury ¢=131(4)

Prospective juror was questioned suffi-
ciently during voir dire in capital murder
case to determine whether hé would auto-
matically impose death penalty, where, in
response to questioning, juror stated he
would not vote automatically to impose ei-
ther sentence and would wait to hear evi-
dence in penalty phase before deciding
which penalty to impose.

11. Jury &=131(17)

Trial court properly refused to permit
defendant to ask prospective juror during
voir dire whether he thought death was
only appropriate punishment if it was de-
termined that defendant raped and killed
ten-year-old girl, since questions were ar-
gumentative and provided prospective juror
with no basis upon which to express opin-
ion.

12, Jury €133

Prospective juror’s statement in jury
waiting room that she had “strong feel-
ings” about innocence or guilt of defendant
did not require disqualification of entire
venire, where jurors’ answers to questions
posed by trial court, as well as by counsel
for both parties, indicated that none of the
other prospective jurors were affected by
statement.




¥

d i the Capital Punishi lemency Petitions (APAP-214) collecti fenande

ves; University. ty. at Albany,

382 Va. 422 SOUTH EASTERN REPORTER, 2d SERIES

13. Jury €=99(1)
Nine prospective jurors who had
knowledge of defendant’s prior criminal

- record or confession were not required to

be stricken for cause in capital murder
prosecution, where jurors stated that they
had not formed opinion regarding defen-
dant’s guilt or innocence.

14. Criminal Law &°1158(3)

Supreme Court will not disturb trial
court’s rulings on challenges for cause un-
less there is manifest error.

15. Criminal Law &=1158(3)

In determining whether trial court’s
ruling on challenge for cause was manifest
error, Supreme Court decides whether voir
dire as whole shows that juror’s perfor-
mance of his or her duty, in accordance
with trial eourt’s instructions and oath tak-
en, would be prevented or substantially
impaired.

16. Jury €=99(3)

Jurors need not be totally unaware of
facts and issues involved in case; this is
true even in instances where juror has pre-
vious knowledge of defendant’s past crimes
and of current charge against defendant.

17. Criminal Law ¢=700(3)

Evidence that witness had not made
positive identification of defendant when
shown photo array was not exculpatory
evidence that was required to be disclosed
to defendant in capital murder prosecution,
absent evidence that witness was shown
photograph of defendant or any specifically
identified individual.

18, Criminal Law &=700(2)

“Exculpatory evidence” is evidence fa-
vorable to defendant which must be dis-
closed by prosecution where it is material
to defendant’s guilt or punishment.

See publication Words and Phrases
for other judicial constructions and
definitions.

19. Homicide ¢>358(1)

Evidence of defendant’s parole ineligi-
bility was not admissible as mitigation evi-
dence during penalty phase of capital mur-
der trial, although testimony referring to

[

defendant’s prior parole history was admit-
ted. Code 1950, § 19.2-264.4.

20. Homicide ¢=358(1) )

Trial court did not abuse its discretion
during penalty phase of capital murder tri-
al in allowing Commonwealth to question
defendant about his prior convictions for
sexual offenses and about whether he had
learned anything as result of his commis-
sion of charged rape and murder, where
defendant acknowledged prior convictions
during direct testimony, testified about cir-
cumstances under which his life deteriorat-
ed, and related that he had spent two years
in California state hospital. Code 1950,
§ 19.2-264.4.

21, Witnesses =267

Once defendant has testified as to cer-
tain matters, proper scope of cross-exami-
nation lies within sound discretion of trial
court.

22, Criminal Law $=448(2)

Homicide ¢=358(1)

Physician's testimony during penalty
phase of capital murder trial describing
condition of victim’s body as depicted in
photographs was not opinicn evidence and
was properly admitted.

23. Homicide &=357(11)

Evidence during penality phase of capi-
tal murder trial concerning rape and mur-
der of ten-year-old girl was sufficient to
establish defendant’s aggravated battery
of victim as well as his depravity of mind,
as required to meet vileness predicate of
capital murder statute; evidence indicated
that victim would have lived for several
minutes after defendant cut her throat,
that victim was tortured psychologically af-
ter being abducted by defendant, and had
been sexually mutilated. Code 1950,

§ 19.2-264.2.

24. Homicide €=357(11)

Proof of either torture, depravity of
mind or aggravated battery of victim will
support finding of vileness under capital
murder statute. Code 1950, § 19.2-264.2.
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25. Homicide ¢=311

Verdict form submitted to jury during
penalty phase of capital murder trial prop-
erly informed jury of its sentencing options
and did not improperly influence jury to
impose death sentence rather than life im-
prisonment; instruction included option of
imposing life sentence, and jury was told it
could choose the penalty of life imprison-
ment even if it found either or both aggra-
vating factors. Code 1950, § 19.2-264.2.

26. Homicide =357(1)

Sentence’' of death imposed on defen-
dant convicted of raping and murdering
ten-year-old girl was neither excessive nor
disproportionate to sentence generally im-
posed by other sentencing bodies in Virgi-
nia for crimes of similar nature; evidence
indicated that victim suffered exceedingly
gruesome and painful death and that defen-
dant had committed several violent sexual
assaults on women. Code 1950, § 17-
110.1, subds. C, E.

Cary B. Bowen, Christopher J. Collins,
Richmond (Bowen and Bowen, on brief), for
appellant. i -

Robert H. Andersom, III, Asst Atty.
Gen. (Mary Sue Terry, Atty. Gen., on
brief), for appellee.

Present: All the Justices.

KEENAN, Justice,.

Charity Powers, age ten, disappeared in
the early morning hours of October 6, 1990.
Four months later, her body was recovered
from a shallow grave near the home of
Everett Lee Mueller. Mueller was arrest-
ed and thereafter confessed to her rape and
murder.

At the first stage of a bifurcated trial,
conducted pursuant to Code §§ 19.2-264.3
and -264.4, a jury found Mueller guilty of
capital murder in violation of Code § 18.2-
31(5) and -31(8) (murder in the commission
-of a rape, and murder of a child under 12 in
the commission of an abduction). The jury
also convicted Mueller of rape and abdue-
tion with intent to defile, and it fixed his
punishment at life imprisonment on each of

those charges. In the penalty phase of the
capital murder trial, the jury fixed Muel
ler's punishment for capital murder at
death, based on findings of both vileness
and future dangerousness. After the hear-
ing required by Code § 19.2-264.5, the trial
court imposed the sentences fixed by the
jury.

Mueller is before this Court for automat-
ic review of his death sentence and, pursu-
ant to Code § 17-110.1, we have consolidat-
ed that review with his appeal of his capital
murder conviction. We have also certified
from the Court of Appeals Mueller’s appeal
of his noncapital convictions. Code § 17-
116.06. Further, in accordance with Code
§ 17-110.2, we have given this matter pri-
ority on our docket. We review the evi-
dence and all reasonable inferences fairly
deducible therefrom in the light most fa-
vorable to the Commonwealth, the prevail-
ing party below. Cheng v. Common-
wealth, 240 Va. 26, 42, 393 S.E.2d 599, 608
(1990).

L

THE EVIDENCE

The evidence at trial showed that on the
evening of October 5, 1990, Taryn Potts
took her daughter, Charity Powers, to a

skating rink and left her there for the

evening. Potts had arranged to have a
friend, Steve Harris, drive Charity home
from the rink later that night. However,
Harris fell asleep and he did not go to the
rink. When Potts arrived home at 3:00
a.mm. on October 6, 1990 and discovered that
Harris had not brought Charity home, she
immediately contacted the police, and they
began to look for her daughter.

Kevin H. Speeks, who knew Charity, tes-
tified that he saw her at a fast food restau-
rant near the skating rink about 12:50 a.m.
on October 6, 1990, While at the restau-
rant, Speeks also observed a man with an
unkempt appearance, who appeared to be
thirty years of age and of medium height,
driving a cream-colored station wagon with
wood siding through the parking lot sever-
al times. As Speeks left the restaurant, he
saw that the man was standing on the right
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side of the building. Speeks also saw that
Charity was sitting on a curb located on
the same side of the building. Sergeant
Mike Spraker of the Chesterfield County
Police Department testified that Mueller
customarily drove a cream-colored station
wagon which had wood siding.

In conversations with the police on Octo-
ber 8 and 9, 1990, Mueller admitted speak-
ing with a young, white female on the
night of October 5, 1990, at a fast food
restaurant that might have been near the
skating rink. As a result of information
gained in their investigation, the police

home and on February 8, 1991, they found
“a clump of hair and what looked like some
white bone sticking out of the ground.”
Thereupon, the police exhumed Charity's
body, which had been buried about 300 feet
behind Mueller's house. An investigator
also found a knife sticking in the ground
about 174 feet from the grave.

The police arrested Mueller on February
12, 1991. After being advised of his Mi-
randa rights, Mueller agreed to talk with
Detective R. Wayne Garber of the Chester-
field County Police Department and John
M. Palfi, an FBI special agent. Garber and
Palfi interrogated Mueller for approximate-
ly four and one-half hours. During . this
interrogation, Mueller stated several times
that he was ready to go to jail and that the
police should put him in jail. Mueller did
not state at any time that he wished to end
the questioning. Approximately two hours
into the interrogation, Agent Palfi left the
room. Shortly thereafter, Mueller asked
Detective Garber, “Do you think I need an
attorney here?” Garber shook his head
slightly from side to side while holding his
arms out and his palms up in a shrug-like
manner, stating, “You're just talking to
us.” .

Several minutes later, Mueller confessed
to the crime. Mueller stated that he had
agreed to give Charity a ride home from
the restaurant but that he drove her to his
house instead. He admitted that he was
thinking about having sex with her and he
stated that he thought she was 18 or 19
years old. Charity was approximately 4'8"

searched for Charity’s body near Mueller’s ’
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tall and weighed 90 pounds. Mueller stat-
ed that Charity agreed to have sex with
him, and she told him that she wanted to
go home afterward. Mueller took Charity
to the woods behind his house where he
had intercourse with her. He stated that
although he had a knife nearby, he did not
use it

Mueller stated that he strangled Charity
to death because he was afraid that she
would report the incident to the police. He
also stated that he had been drinking heavi-
Iy and that, the next morning, he did not
know whether he had dreamed about the
previous night's events or whether they
actually had occurred. When he went to
check the woods, he saw Charity’s body.
He thén purchased a shovel from a local
store, buried the bedy, and burned Chari-
ty’s clothes and jewelry.

After making this confession, Mueller led
the police to the site where he had buried
the body. He also showed them where he
had burned the clothing and jewelry, as
well as the area where he had left the
knife. This was the same area where the
police earlier had found a knife. Addition-
ally, Mueller showed the police the location
where he had intercourse with Charity.
This area was about 15 feet from where
the knife was found. .

Dr. Marcella Fierro, who conducted an
autopsy on Charity’s body, testified that
Charity’s throat had been cut to the depth
of one inch, resulting in a horizontal cut on
the epiglottis, which is located on the tra-
chea. She further testified that such a cut
would result in the severance of the carotid
artery and the jugular vein. According to
Dr. Fierro, a person suffering from such an
injury would die after several minutes, and
there were indications that Charity had
bled before her death. Based on these
facts, Dr. Fierro testified that the cause of
death was an “acute neck injury.”

Additionally, Dr. Fierro found that, upon
examining the skin over the breast area,
there were “irregular holes in the area
where each nipple would be.” Dr. Fierro
testified that she believed this condition to
be the result of an injury, but she could not
determine its cause or whether it had oc-
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curred before or after death. Dr. Fierro’s
examination also revealed a “big gash” on
the victim’s upper left thigh. Dr. Fierro
stated that this could be an injury but that
she could not determine whether it had
occurred before or after Charity’s death.
However, Dr. Fierro testified that if it were
an injury, it would have resulted from ap-
plication of a “blunt or sharp force.” Dr.
Fierro also determined that there were
three tears to the hymenal ring of the
vagina which were consistent with sexual
penetration,

IL.

ISSUES PREVIOUSLY RESOLVED

Mueller’s appeal raises certain legal is-
sues which are resolved by our prior deci-
sions. We reaffirm our previous rejection
of these contentions. Therefore, we will
not discuss them beyond giving citations to
representative cases in which those issues
were decided adversely to Mueller’s claims.
The issues raised here which have been
expressly rejected by this Court are:

A. The death penalty violates the Unit-
ed States Constitution’s prohibition
against cruel and unusual punishment.
See George v. Commonwealth, 242
Va. 264, 271, 411 S.E.2d 12, 16 (1991),
cert. denied, 503 U.S. —, 112 S.Ct.
1591 [118 L.Ed.2d 308] (1992); Yeatts
v. Commonwealth, 242 Va. 121, 126,
410 S.E.2d 254, 258 (1991), cert. de-
nied, — U.S. —, 112 S.Ct. 1500 [117
L.Ed.2d 639] (1992).

B. The aggravating circumstance of
“vileness” set forth in the capital mur-
der statute is unconstitutionally vague.
See Spencer v. Commonwealth, 238
Va. 563, 569, 885 S.E2d 850, 853
(1989), cert. denied, 493 U.S. 1093 [110
S.Ct. 1171, 107 L.Ed.2d 1073] (1990)
(Spencer III); Gray v Common-
wealth, 233 Va. 813, 320-21, 356

i. These assignments of error are:
7. The Court erred in denying Defendant’s Mo-
tion to Strike as to abduction, rape and capital
murder,

8. The Court erred in refusing to give Defen-

dant’s instruction regarding intent to rape a
person under the age of 13.

S.E.2d 157, 1861, cert. denied, 484 U.S.
873 [108 S.Ct. 207, 98 L.Ed.2d 158]
(1987).

C. The verdict form was defective be-
cause it did not list the mitigating fac-
tors mentioned in the statute. See Bu-
chanan v. Commonwealth, 238 Va.
389, 416~17, 384 S.E.2d 757, 773 (1989),
cert. denied, 493 U.S. 1063 [110 S.Ct.
880, 107 L.Ed.2d 963] (1990); Watkins
2. Commonwealth, 229 Va. 469, 491,
331 S.E.2d 422, 438 (1985), cert. de-
nied, 475 U.S. 1099 [106 S.Ct. 1508, 89
L.Ed.2d 903] (1986); LeVasseur ».
Commonwealth, 225 Va. 564, 595, 304
S.E.2d 644, 661 (1983), cert. denied,
464 U.S. 1063 [104 S.Ct. 744, 79
L.Ed.2d 202] (1984).

II1.

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR WAIVED

Because Mueller did not address in his
brief assignments of error 7, 8, 8, 12, and
16, he is deemed to have waived them.!
Rule 5:27(e); see Quesinberry v. Common-
wealth, 241 Va. 364, 370, 402 S.E.2d 218,
222, cert. dented, 502 U.S. —, 112 S.Ct.
113, 116 L.Ed.2d 82 (1991).

Iv.

PRE-TRIAL MATTERS

A. Admissibility of Mueller’s February
12, 1991 Confession.

[1] Mueller contends that the trial court
erred in refusing to suppress his confession
of February 12, 1991. He does not contest
the adequacy of the Miranda warnings
given at the outset of the interrogation, nor
does he challenge the validity of his initial
waiver of these rights. Rather, Mueller
asserts only that Detective Garber's re-
sponse to his question, “Do you think I

9. The Court erred in refusing to set aside the

Zei-dicts as to abduction, rape and capital mur.

l;.r-'The Court ‘erred in permitting the jury to

sec a videotape of the excavation of the victim's

body.
16. The Court erred in refusing to set aside the
verdict.
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need an attorney here?”, invalidated. the
earlier Miranda warnings given to him.
Thus, he contends that his subsequent con-
fession was involuntary.

In assessing the effect of Detective Gar-
ber’s response on the voluntariness of
Mueller’s statement, we apply a well-estab-
lished standard of review. In Gray o
Commonwealth, 233 Va. at 324, 356 S.E.2d
at 163, we said:

A defendant’s waiver of his Miranda

rights is valid only if the waiver is made

knowingly, voluntarily and intelligently.

Miranda [v. Arizona], 384 US. [436] at

475 [86 S.Ct. 1602 at 1628, 16 L.Ed.2d

694 (1966) 1. Whether a statement is vol-

untary is ultimately a legal rather than

factual question. See Miller v. Fenton,

474 U.S. 104, 110, 106 S.Ct. 445, 450 [88

L.Ed.2d 405] (1985). Subsidiary factual

questions, however, are entitled to a pre-

sumption of correctness. Id. at 112, 106

S.Ct. at 451. The test to be applied in

determining voluntariness is whether the

statement is the “product of an essential-
ly free and unconstrained choice by its
maker,” or whether the maker’s will

“has been overborne and his capacity for

self-determination critically impaired.”

Schneckloth v. Bustamonte, 412 U.S.

218, 225 [93 S.Ct. 2041, 2046, 36 L.Ed.2d

854] (1973). In determining whether a

defendant’s will has been overborne,

courts look to “the totality of all the

surrounding circumstances,” id. at 226,

including the defendant’s background

and experience and the conduct of the

police, Correll v. Commonweaith, 232

Va. 454, 464, 352 S.E.2d 852, 357 (1987);

Stockton [v. Commonwealth], 227 Va.

[124] at 140, 314 S.E.2d [371] at 331

[(1984)].

The record shows that Mueller was 42
years old at the time he made this confes-
sion and that he had a high school equiva-
lency diploma. Prior to the interrogation,
Detective Garber advised Mueller of his
rights under Miranda and Mueller stated
that he understood each of those rights.

Earlier investigative efforts in this case
also demonstrate Mueller’s experience with
police interrogation procedures. On Octo-

ber 9, 1990, Garber read a “Miranda Right
Form” to Mueller. After Garber ascer-
tained that Mueller understood the content
of the form, Mueller signed a written waiv-
er of his Mirande rights. On two occa-
sions after signing this waiver, Mueller ex-
ercised his right to terminate police ques-
tioning. :

In addition, the record shows that sever-
al years earlier, Mueller had been informed
of and had waived his Miranda rights on
three occasions. On each of these occa-
sions, he executed a form waiving his M-
randa rights, and he gave a statement to
the police. )

We also note that, during the February
12, 1991 interrogation, Mueller made some
stateménts which further demonstrate that
he was aware of the consequences of talk-
ing to the police. Before confessing, Muel-
ler expressed concern regarding where he
would be incarcerated, given the serious
nature of the crimes. After confessing to
the crimes, he told Detective Garber and
Agent Palfi that he had wanted “to get it
off his chest.” At this time, Mueller fur-
ther stated, “I got death coming to me. I
knew it as soon as I opened my mouth.”

We also consider the factual findings
made by the trial court concerning Muel-
ler’s confession. The trial court found that
Mueller knew how to ask for the assistance
of legal counsel, as evidenced by his re-
quest for such assistance on QOctober 9,
1990, during the course of a prior interview
with Detective Garber and Agent Palfi;
that the police properly advised Mueller of
his Miranda rights on February 12, 1992;
and that he understood those rights prior
to confessing to the crimes. The trial court
further found that Mueller’s question to
Detective Garber on February 12, 1991 was
not an expression of a desire for the assis-
tance of counsel.

Mueller does not assert that these factu-
al findings are unsupported by evidence
taken at the suppression hearing. Based
on our review of this evidence, we conclude
that the factual findings of the trial court
are supported by the record and, therefore,
we accord them substantial weight in our
determination whether Mueller’s statement
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was voluntary. See Miller v. Fenton, 474
U.S. 104, 112, 106 S.Ct. 445, 450, 88 L.Ed.2d
405 (1985).

[2] Based on the above evidence and
findings, we hold that Mueller's question,
“Do you think I need an attorney here?”,
and Detective Garber’s response, did not
invalidate Mueller’s earlier waiver of his
Miranda rights., Initially, we find that
Mueller’s question to Garber did not consti-
tute a request for counsel. In Eaton v
Commonwealth, 240 Va. 236, 253~54, 397
8.E.2d 385, 395-96 (1990), cert. denied, 502
US. ——, 112 SiCt. 88, 116 L.Ed.2d 60
(1991), this Court stated that “custodial
interrogation must cease, when the ac-
cused, having received Miranda warnings
and having begun to respond to the ques-
tions of the authorities, ‘has clearly assert-
ed his right to counsel’” (quoting Ed-
wards v. Arizona, 451 U.S. 477, 485, 101
S.Ct. 1880, 1885, 68 L.Ed.2d 378 (1981))
(emphasis in original). In Eaton, the police
had continued to question the defendant
after he had asked, “You did say I could
have an attorney if I wanted one?” 240
Va. at 250, 897 S.E.2d at 393. This Court
held that the defendant’s question did not
constitute an unambiguous request for
counsel so as to invoke the Edwards rule.
240 Va. at 254, 397 S.E.2d at 396. Here,
we likewise hold that Mueller’s question to
Detective Garber did not constitute an un-
ambiguous request for counsel.

Mueller contends, however, that even if
his question did not constitute a request for
the assistance of counsel, Detective Gar-
ber’s response nevertheless invalidated
Mueller's earlier waiver of his Miranda
rights. We disagree. Based on our review
of the videotape of the interrogation, we
observe that Garber did not, as contended
here by Mueller, respond to Mueller’s ques-
tion by answering “No.” Rather, he re-
plied, while shrugging and shaking his
head slightly from side to side, “You're

just talking to us.” Considering the totali- -

ty of the circumstances detailed above, in-
cluding Mueller’s prior experience in the

“eriminal justice system and his previous

contacts with Detective Garber and Agent
Palfi, we find that Garber’s response to the

question at issue did not invalidate Muel-
ler's earlier waiver of his Miranda rights.
Moreover, since Garber’s response to Muel-
ler did not constitute an unambiguously
negative reply, the information provided in
the initial advisement of Miranda rights
was not altered by this response.

[3] We also reject Mueller’s assertion
that his repeated statements that he want-
ed to be taken to jail constituted an invoca-
tion of his right to terminate police ques-
tioning. In Akers v. Commonwealth, 216
Va. 40, 216 S.E.2d 28 (1975), this Court
confronted a similar situation where the
defendant, after being advised of his Mi-
randa rights, stated, “Do I have to talk
about it now?” In response to this ques-
tion, the police merely continued the inter-
rogation. This Court held that the defen-
dant’s question was not an invocation of his
right to terminate questioning, stating,
“Defendant’s inquiry was no more than an
impatient gesture on his part. If defen-
dant had desired to end the interrogation,
he could have simply said, ‘I do not want to
answer any more questions.”” 216 Va. at
46, 216 S.E.2d at 32.

Based on our review of the videotape of
Mueller’s interrogation, we likewise con-
clude that his statements regarding going
to jail were simply impatient gestures and
that they did not constitute an invocation of
his right to terminate the interrogation.
After each such statement, Mueller contin-
ued to talk with Garber and Palfi, giving no
indication that he wanted to end the discus-
sion. Moreover, when Palfi asked him
whether he would rather talk to other offi-
cers instead of himself and Garber, Mueller
responded, “I've been talking to you for
four months. I've established a pretty
good relationship with you guys.” Finally,
the record shows that, during two previous
interviews with Garber, Mueller unambigu-
ously had terminated the police interroga-
tion by standing up and stating that he
wanted the officers to stop questioning
him.

For these reasons, on our independent
review of the record, we conclude, as a
matter of law, that Mueller's statement of

IZ]
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February 12, 1991 was voluntary and ad-
missible.

B. Change of Venue.
[4] Mueller filed a pretrial motion re-

questing a change of venue on the ground

that extensive media coverage of the mur-
der made it impossible for him to receive a
fair trial in Chesterfield County. The arti-
cles and television reports he adduced in-
cluded information that Mueller was
charged with the murder of Charity Pow-
ers, that Mueller had a previous criminal
record which included prior rape convie-
tions, and that Mueller had confessed to
raping and killing Charity. Mueller also
presented to the trial court affidavits from
residents of Chesterfield County stating
that, based on what they had seen or heard
in the media, they believed that Mueller
probably was guilty of raping and killing
Charity Powers. The trial court took the
motion for change of venue under advise-
ment. Mueller renewed this motion on the
day of trial. After the jury was empan-
eled, the trial court denied the motion, stat-
ing that it was satisfied that the jury panel
was impartial.

Mueller argues that the trial court erred
in denying his motion for a change of ven-
ue because the media coverage was inflam-
matory and contained information regard-
ing his confession and his prior criminal
record. Mueller contends that these as-
pects of the media coverage necessitated a

change of venue in order to protect his -

rights afforded under the Sixth, Eighth,
and Fourteenth amendments of the United
States Constitution. We disagree.

15,61 Initially, we observe that there is
a presiumption that a defendant can receive
a fair trial from the citizens of the jurisdic-
tion in which the offense occurred. It is
the burden of the defendant to overcome
this presumption by demonstrating that the
feeling of prejudice on the part of the citi-
zenry is widespread and is such that would

2. Mueller argues, however, that an editorial
published in. the Richmond Times—Dispatch,
five months before the hearing on his motion
for change of venue, was inflammatory. While
the editorial did refer to the murder of a child
as being “among the sharpest evidence of the
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“be reasonably certain to prevent a fair
trial.” Stockton v. Commonwealth, 227
Va. 124, 137, 314 S.E.2d 371, 380, cert.
denied, 469 U.S. 873, 105 S.Ct. 229, 83
L.Ed.2d 158 (1984) (citation omitted). Fur-
ther, the decision whether to grant a
change of venue lies within the sound dis-
cretion of the trial court. George, 242 Va.
at 274, 411 S.E.2d at 18; LeVasseur, 225
Va. at 577, 304 S.E.2d at 651. Therefore,
the trial court’s ruling on this issue will not
be disturbed on appeal unless the record
affirmatively shows an abuse of discretion.
Id

[7,8] Extensive media coverage which
discloses information about the accused,
including his criminal record, does not, of
itself, mandate a change of venue. Bu-
chanan, 238 Va. at 407, 384 S.E.2d at 767;
Mackall v. Commonwealth, 236 Va. 240,
250, 372 S.E.2d 759, 766 (1988), cert de-
nied, 492 U.S. 925, 109 S.Ct. 8261, 106
L.Ed.2d 607 (1989). A significant factor in
determining whether a change of venue is
warranted is whether the media reports are
factnal and accurate. Buchanan, 238 Va.
at 407, 384 S.E.2d at 768. Here, Mueller
does not challenge the factual nature or
accuracy of the media coverage surround-
ing his case.? Moreover, we find no indica-
tion in the record that any of the media
reports were inaccurate.

[9]1 Another significant factor in deter-
mining whether the venue of a trial should
be changed is the difficulty encountered in
selecting a jury. Id. In the present case,
47 venirepersons were examined. Of this
number, only nine had to be excused be-
cause of their predisposition toward belief
in Mueller’s guilt.

As the United States Supreme Court has
stated: '

To hold that the mere existence of any
preconceived notion as to the guilt or

innocence of an accused, without more, 1s

utter corruptibility of man,” it also stated that
Mueller’s guilt in the Powers case had yet to be
established. . Accordingly, we do not view this
article as being prejudicial to Mueller's right to
receive a fair trial.
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sufficient to rebut the presumption of a
prospective juror’s impartiality would be
to establish an impossible standard. Itis
sufficient if the juror can lay aside his
impression or opinion and render a ver-
dict based on the evidence presented in
court.

Irvin v. Dowd, 366 U.S. 717, 723, 81 S.Ct.
1639, 1642, 6 L.Ed.2d 751 (1961). Here,
given the factual nature of the media cov-
erage and Mueller’s tacit acquiescence in
the accuracy of its content, as well as the
relative ease with which a jury was empan-
eled, we hold that the trial court did not
abuse its- discretion in denying Mueller’s
motion for a change of venue.

V.

JURY SELECTION

A. Refusal to Allow Questions on Voir
Dire. ‘

[10] Mueller next argues that the trial
court erred in refusing to allow certain
questions on voir dire which he contends
were necessary to determine whether any
prospective jurors were predisposed toward
imposing the death penalty. Mueller as-
serts that he should have been allowed to
ask these questions because the Common-
wealth was entitled to conduct the opposite
line of questioning, viz, whether certain
prospective jurors were unalterably op-
posed to the death penalty. See Wain-
wright v. Witt, 469 U.S. 412, 424, 105 S.Ct.
844, 852, 83 L.Ed.2d 841 (1985); Adams ».
Texas, 448 U.S. 88, 4546, 100 S.Ct. 2521,
2526-27, 65 L.Ed.2d 581 (1980); Wither-
spoon v. Illinois, 891 U.S. 510, 522, 88
S.Ct. 1770, 1777, 20 L.Ed.2d 776 (1968).

A total of 47 persons comprised the veni-
re. From this group, 23 persons were
struck for cause. Mueller objected to the
trial eourt’s qualification of ten of the re-
maining 24 members. However, he object-

3. In fact, Muellér was aliowed to ask Moschler
whether she would be “predisposed towards the
death penalty” if she heard facts which showed
Mueller to be guilty beyond a reasonable doubt.

~Moschler replied, “{I}f the evidence in a trial
proved to me that he had done all these things, I
will be in favor of [the death penaltyl.” Mos-
chler clarified this answer by stating that she

ed to only two members, Ruby Moschler
and Max Zoeckler, on the grounds that
they were “death prone.”

An examination of Mueller’s voir dire of
Ruby Moschler reveals that the trial court
did not reject any question regarding Mos-
chler’s ability to impose a life sentence.’
Since Mueller did not proffer any such
question which was rejected by:the trial
court, he may not claim on appeal that his
right to question this prospective juror was
violated. See Morgan v. Illinois, — U.S.
— — 112 S.Ct. 2222, 2229, 119
L.Ed.2d 492 (1992); LeVasseur, 225 Va. at
585, 304 S.E.2d at 655.

{11] During his voir dire of Max Zoeck-
ler, Mueller sought to ask, “[I}f in sitting in
the guilt phase of the trial you conclude
beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Muel-
ler has raped and killed a 10 year old child,
don’t you think that death is the enly ap-
propriate punishment for that?” The trial
court sustained the prosecutor’s objection
to this question. Counsel for Mueller then
attempted to ask Mr. Zoeckler,

[IJf you sit in the guilt phase of the trial

and you determine beyond a reasonable

doubt that Mr. Mueller raped and abduct- -

ed and killed a 10 year old girl, and then
you sit in the sentencing phase and listen
to the evidence in aggravation and the
evidence in mitigation, aren’t you going
to think the only appropriate sentence is
death?
The trial court also sustained the prosecu-
tor's objection to this question.

We hold that the trial court did not err in
refusing both of these questions since they
were argumentative and provided the pro-
spective juror with no basis upon which to
express an opinion. See Buchanan, 238
Va. at 402, 384 S.E.2d at 765; Patterson v.
Commonuwealth, 222 Va. 653, 659 n.*, 283
S.E.2d 212, 216 n.* (1981). Further, even if
we disregard the argumentative nature of

would make this decision only after weighing
all the evidence in the penalty phase. She also
stated that she could consider imposing a life
sentence. Further, in response to a question
posed by counsel for Mueller, she stated that
there ‘was evidence that could keep her from
imposing the death penalty. )
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these questions, we still find that the trial
court’s ruling did not violate Mueller’s
right to a fair and impartial jury.

This Court has held that where the voir
dire questioning conducted by the trial
court otherwise “assurefs] the removal of
those who would invariably impose capital
punishment,” it is not reversible error for
the trial court to deny defense counsel ad-
ditional questions on this subject. Turner
v. Commonwealth, 221 Va. 513, 528, 273
S.E.2d 36, 42-43 (1980), cert. denied, 451
U.S. 1011, 101 S.Ct. 2347, 68 L.Ed.2d 863
(1981). This approach is in accord with the
holding of the United States Supreme
Court set forth in Morgan, — U.S. at
——, 112 S.Ct. at 2232-33.

In Morgan, the Court held that the de-
fendant’s right to a fair and impartial jury
was violated by the trial court’s refusal to
inquire whether prospective jurors would
vote automatically for imposition of the
death penalty. The defendant had request-
ed that the trial court ask the jurors: “If
you found [the defendant] guilty, would
you automatically vote to impose the death
penalty no nmatter what the facts
are?” — U.S. at —, 112 S.Ct. at 2226.

In reaching its decision, the Supreme
Court noted that the trial court had not
asked any questions on this subject. In-
stead, it had only posed general questions
regarding the prospective jurors’ ability to
be fair and impartial and follow the instrue-
tions of the court. The Supreme Court
held that such general questions were inad-
equate because a prospective juror could, in
good conscience, respond affirmatively and
yet be unaware that certain beliefs about
the death penalty would impede his or her
performance as a juror. — US. at —,
112 S.Ct. at 2226, 2232-33.

In the case before us, the trial court did
ask questions which probed whether pro-
spective juror Zoeckler would automatically
vote for the death penalty. At the begin-
ning of Zoeckler's individual voir dire, the
following dialogue took place:

THE COURT: Do you have any moral or

religious convictions that would prevent

you from voting for the death penalty?

4. Mueller also contends that the. trial court

o
"
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MR. ZOECKLER: No.

THE COURT: On the other hand of that
if the Court instructed you also, and I
will instruct you that one of the other
penalties, a lesser penalty that you could
consider is life imprisonment, could you
fairly consider the lesser penalty in de-
ciding on what penalties the defendant
should receive, by punishment what he
should receive?
MR. ZOECKLER: I could consider it
yes.
THE COURT: If the Court instructed
you that it was death or life imprisen-
ment, would you fairly consider life im-
prisonment as well as the death penalty?
MI.{ ZOECKLER: I don’t know, no.
THE COURT: Let me see if I have got
you right. First, if I instructed you that
there are two penalties that you could
punish the defendant for, one is the
death penalty, you say you have no mor-
al or religious convictions that would pre-
vent you from voting for the death penal-
ty?
MR. ZOECKLER: Right.
THE COURT: Also, if the Court in-
structed you that the life imprisonment
‘was a lesser penalty, would you consider
the lesser punishment?
MR. ZOECKLER: Yes, I would consider
it.
In responding to the prosecutor's ques-
tions, Zoeckler reiterated this position, stat-
ing that he would not vote antomatically to
impose either sentence. In response to
questions from Mueller’s counsel, Zoeckler
stated that he would wait to hear the evi-
dence in the penalty phase before deciding
which penalty to impose. Viewing Zoeck-
ler’s voir dire as a whole, we find that he
was questioned sufficiently to determine
whether he would automatically impose the
death penalty. Therefore, we cannot say
that the trial court abused its discretion in
refusing to allow further questions which
Mueller proposed. See Morgan, — U.S.
at —, 112 S.Ct. at 2232-33; Turner, 221
Va. at 523, 273 S.E.2d at 43; LeVasseur,
225 Va. at 584, 304 S.E.2d at 655.4

erred in refusing to allow him to ask Theresa
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B. Refusal to Disqualify Venire.

[12] Mueller contends that the com-
ments of one venireperson improperly
tainted the group and that the trial court
erred in failing to disqualify the entire ve-
nire for this reason. During the trial
court’s questioning of the first group of 14
prospective jurors, David Clark told the
court that another prospective juror, Helen
Blackwell, stated in the jury waiting room
that she had “some strong feelings about
the innocence or guilt of the defendant.”
The trial court then asked the entire panel,
“[H]ave any of you acquired any informa-
tion about the alleged offense or the ac-
cused from news media or other sources,
and if so, would that information affect
your impartiality in the case?” The trial
court postponed questioning of those who
answered in the affirmative until the indi-
vidual questioning of each prospective ju-
ror.’

When questioned individually, only Rob-
ert Mitchell referred to comments which he
had overheard in the waiting room. Mitch-
ell stated that he had heard another pro-
spective juror say that Mueller had con-
fessed. Another prospective juror, Ruby
Moschler, stated that she had not over-
heard any prospective juror making state-
ments in the waiting room.

At the end of the voir dire, the trial court
asked the entire venire whether any mem-
ber had heard anything since being ques-
tioned by the court which would change
any answer he or she had given previously.
No one answered in the affirmative.

Mueller cites no evidence to support his
contention that the venire was tainted by
the comments of Helen Blackwell. Fur-
ther, the record reflects that both counsel
had ample opportunity to gquestion each
prospective juror as to what he or she had
heard, in the waiting room and elsewhere,

Gryder, who was eventually empaneled on the

jury, the following question:
First you decide whether or not the person is
guilty or innocent, so given that you have
already decided that, okay, and you have de-
termined that he, in fact, did abduct, rape and
murder a 10 year old child, don't-you feel
then that the death sentence would be the
only appropriate punishment?

about the case. This questioning revealed
no evidence that Blackwell's comment had
influenced or prejudiced the prospective ju-
rors in any way. In fact, Mitchell, the only
prospective juror who mentioned having
heard Blackwell’s comment, said that the
statement he overheard was “a casual
thing” and that it was “not important to
me at that time.”

The trial court is vested with discretion
to determine whether the parties have had
a “full and fair’ opportunity to determine
whether a juror “stands indifferent to the
cause.” Buchanan, 238 Va. at 401, 384
S.E.2d at 764; LeVasseur, 225 Va. at 581,
304 S.E.2d at 653. Since the answers to
the questions posed by the trial court, as
well as by counsel for both parties, indicat-
ed that none of the prospective jurors was
affected by Helen Blackwell's statement,
we hold that the trial court did not abuse
its discretion in refusing to disqualify the
entire venire.

C. Refusal to Strike Prospective Jurors
for Cause.

[13-15] Mueller next argues that nine
prospective jurors who had knowledge of
his prior record or confession should have
been stricken for cause. Our standard of
review here is well-settled. Based on the
trial court’s ability “to observe and evalu-
ate the apparent sincerity, conscientious-
ness, intelligence, and demeanor of pro-
spective jurors first hand,” we will not
disturb its rulings on challenges for cause,
unless there is manifest error. Pope u.
Commonwealth, 234 Va. 114, 123-24, 360
SE.2d 352, 358 (1987), cert. denied, 485
1.S. 1015, 108 S.Ct. 1489, 99 L.Ed.2d 716
(1988). In making this determination, we
decide whether the voir dire as a whole
shows that a juror’s performance of his or

Because Mueller did not object to the trial
court's determination that Gryder was qualified
toserveonthejury,hehasnotprmrvedhis
right to challenge this determination. See Mor-
gan, — US. at —, 112 S.Ct. at 2229; Rule
5:25.

5 The trial court excused Helen Blackwell for
cause based on its determination that she had
already formed an opinion in the case. :

i,
i
;
|
.
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her duty, in accordance with the trial
court’s instructions and the oath taken,
would be prevented or substantially im-
paired. Adams, 448 U.S. at 45, 100 S.Ct. at
2526; Eaton, 240 Va. at 246, 397 S.E.2d at
391; George, 242 Va. at 276, 411 S.E.2d at
19, .

[16] Additionally, we observe that ju-
rors need not be totally unaware of the
facts and issues involved in the case. Ir-
vtn, 366 U.S. at 722, 81 S.Ct. at 1642. This
is true even in instances where a juror has
previous knowledge of a defendant’s past
crimes and of the current charge against
the defendant. Murphy v. Florida, 421
U.S. 794, 800, 95 S.Ct. 2031, 2036, 44
1.Ed.2d 589 (1975).

In the case before us, the trial court
initially questioned the prospective jurors
collectively concerning whether (1) there
was anything which would prejudice them
against either party, (2) they were aware of
any bias or prejudice against either party,
and (3) they understood that a defendant is
presumed to be innocent until the prosecu-
tion proves his guilt beyond a reasonable
doubt.® Additionally, each prospective ju-
ror was questioned individually by the trial
court and counsel for both parties to deter-
mine whether pre-trial publicity had caused
him or her to be biased.

Raymond LaFountain

In response to a question by Mueller’s
counsel, Raymond LaFountain stated that
he had heard from television reports that
Mueller had been charged with the crime,
that Charity’s body had been found near
Mueller’s home, and that Mueller had made
a confession to the police. However, La-
Fountain stated that he had not formed an
opinion as to Mueller’s guilt or innocence.
LaFountain also noted that he did not
“know a whole lot about [the case] other
than the fact that the news has said this
happened, this gentleman was accused, and
80 forth.” LaFountain was unaware of
Mueller’s prior criminal record.

6. Donald Mecincke and Dale Morris were ques-
tioned individually regarding the presumption
of innocence and the prosecution’s burden of
proof beyond a reasonabie doubt.
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Cynthia Woods

Cynthia Woods stated she had seen tale-
vision reports and read newspaper articles
which discussed the crime and Mueller’s
arrest. She also stated, “I think he had a
record,” but she did not remember any
details. Woods, an eighth grade teacher,
also told Mueller’s counsel that, to a limited
extent, she had discussed the case with her
students. Woods stated that she did not
know much about the defendant, that she
had “not been around this summer,” and
that she had not formed an opinion regard-
ing Mueller’s guilt or innocence.

Max Zoeckler

Max Zoeckler stated he had heard media
reports concerning Charity’s disappearance
and the discovery of her body. He did not
recall hearing anything about Mueller's
connection with the case, other than “[ijt
may been [sic] that he had some prior ac-
quaintanceship with the little girl.” Zoeck-
ler further stated that he had not formed
an opinion regarding Mueller’s guilt or in-
nocence.

Patricia Squire

In response to questioning by the prose-
cutor, Patricia Squire stated she had heard
in media reports that Mueller had been
arrested and she recalled “there had been
another point in which he had similar
charges.” " Squire also had heard that the
victim’s body had been dismembered.”
Upon further questioning by the prosecu-
tor whether she had formed an opinion
regarding Mueller's guilt or innocence,
based on what she had seen or heard from
the media, Squire responded, “I felt like he
had evidence that very much swayed to-
wards him being guilty.... In terms of
myself deciding whether he is guilty or not,
no, I have not made any decision.” She
then reaffirmed this response by stating,
“I haven’t formed an opinion.” She fur-
ther stated that she would be able to put

7. Squire was incorrect in her belief that the
body had been dismembered.
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aside any information she had learned from
the media and base her decision in this case
on the evidence presented in court.

In response to a question posed by Muel-
ler’s counsel, Squire again stated that,
based on the information she had obtained
from the media, “it probably weighs heavi-
ly in terms of thinking he might be guilty.”

' However, upon further questioning by

Mueller's counsel, Squire stated that her
previous knowledgeof the case would not
interfere with her ability to follow the trial
court’s instructions and that she could put
the fact of Mueller’s prior criminal convie-
tions out of her mind. She also stated that
her previously acquired knowledge would
not interfere with her ability to apply a
presumption of innocence in the case.

Elizabeth Davis

Responding to a question from the trial
court, Elizabeth Davis stated that all she
had seen or heard in the media coverage of
this case was the fact that Charity Powers
had disappeared. Davis later responded to
the prosecutor that she understood the pre-
sumption of a defendant’s innocence, the
prosecution’s burden of proof of guilt be-
yond a reasonable doubt, and that she
would apply the trial court’s instructions to
the evidence in making her decision. In
response to a question from Mueller’s
counsel, Davis stated that, in conversations
with co-workers about the case, she had
heard that Mueller had confessed. Howev-
er, Davis also.stated that she had not
formed an opinion regarding Mueller's
guilt or innocence.

Donald Méincke

Donald Meincke stated he had heard
about the case in television and newspaper
coverage, including reports that Mueller
had been arrested, had confessed his guilt,
and that he previously had been convicted
of other crimes. However, Meincke fur-
ther stated that he could put aside what he
had learned from the media, that he had

... not formed an opinion regarding Mueller’s

guilt or innocence, that he could base his
decision on evidence heard in court, and
that he could be impartial.

Dale Morris
Dale Morris stated that he was aware of

the case and Mueller’s confession of guilt.

from television news reports. Morris indi-
cated that he had not formed an opinion
about Mueller’s guilt or innocence and that
he felt he could decide the case based en-
tirely on the evidence presented in court.

Robert Mitchell

Robert Mitchell stated he knew, based on
media coverage, that Mueller was arrested
for the murder of Charity Powers, but he
did not “know that much as to what the
evidence was that caused his arrest” Al-
though Mitchell initially stated he believed,
as a general rule, that a person is usually
guilty if arrested, he later stated that he

_did not know the facts of the present case

and had not formed an opinion regarding
the guilt or inhocence of Mueller.

Ruby Moschler

Ruby Moschler stated she learned from
media reports that Mueller had been arrest-
ed for the murder of Charity Powers.
However, she did not remember anything
else about Mueller and she said that she
had formed no opinion regarding his guilt
or innocence. Moschler further stated
that, while she did not already feel that
Mueller was guilty, she was “relieved that
he ha[d] been arrested.” Upon questioning
by Mueller’s counsel, Moschler responded
that she would weigh the evidence present-
ed in the courtroom to determine which
penalty to impose, that she would consider
both penalties, and that she had no fixed
opinion regarding Mueller’s guilt.

In our review of the whole voir dire
testimony of each of these nine prospective
jurors, we find no indication that each
could not “lay aside [his or her] impres-
gions or opinions and render a verdict
based on the evidence presented in court.”
Pope, 234 Va. at 124, 360 S.E.2d at 358,
Accordingly, we find no error in the trial
court’s refusal to strike each of them for
cause. Id.

“Rgsi
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parole if convicted of the rape of Charity
Powers, since this would be his third rape
conviction. He also asserts that he should
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GUILT PHASE—MOTION
FOR MISTRIAL

[17] Mueller contends that he was enti-
tled to a mistrial based on the prosecutor’s
failure to inform him that witness Kevin
Speeks had not made a positive identifica-
tion of him when shown a photo array
consisting of seven pictures. The record is
silent, however, regarding whether Muel-
ler’s photograph was among the seven pho-
tographs shown to Speeks. Nevertheless,
Mueller argues that Speeks’s failure to
identify him was exculpatory evidence
within the meaning of Brady v. Maryland,
373 U.S. 83, 88 S.Ct. 1194, 10 L.Ed.2d 215
(1963). We disagree.

[18] Exculpatory evidence is evidence
favorable to a defendant which must be
disclosed by the prosecution where it is
material to the defendant’s guilt or punish-
ment. Id. at 87, 83 S.Ct. at 1197. The
record before us shows that the prosecutor
informed the trial court that he had investi-
gated the matter of the photo array upon
learning about it for the first time at trial.
He was unable to determine which police
officer showed Speeks the photographs.
Thus, there is no evidence before us that
Speeks was shown a photograph of Mueller

‘or of any specifically identified individual.

Moreover, since Speeks did not identify any
photograph as representing a person he
had seen at the fast food restaurant, but
merely stated that one photograph resem-
bled a man who was there, the trial court
correctly determined that this information
did not constitute exculpatory evidence.
Townes v. Commonwealth, 234 Va, 307,
324, 362 S.E.2d 650, 659 (1987), cert. de-
nied, 485 U.S. 971, 108 S.Ct. 1249, 99
L.Ed.2d 447 (1988).

VIL

PENALTY PHASE

A. Parole Ingligibility.

[19] Mueller argues that the trial court
violated his due process rights by refusing
to instruct the jury that, pursuant to Code

§ 53.1-151(B1), he would not be eligible for

have been allowed the opportunity to intro-
duce evidence regarding parole ineligibility
in mitigation of punishment at the penalty
phase of the trial,

We hold that the trial court did not err in
its rulings here. This Court has held uni-
formly and repeatedly that information re-
garding parole eligibility is not relevant for
the jury’s consideration. King v Com-
monwealth, 243 Va. 353, 367-68, 416
S.E.2d 669, 676-77 (1992); Eaton, 240 Va,
at 24849, 397 S.E.2d at 392-93; Watkins
v. Commonwealth, 238 Va. 341, 351, 385
S.E.2d 50, 56 (1989), cert. denied, 494 U.S.
1074, 110 S.Ct. 1797, 108 L.Ed.2d 798
(1990). Further, the United States Su-
preme Court has expressly left the determi-
nation of this question to the individual
states, as a matter of state law. Califor-
nia v. Ramos, 463 U.S. 992, 1013-14, 103
5.Ct. 8446, 3459-60, 77 L.Ed.2d 1171 (1983);
Eaton, 240 Va. at 249, 397 S.E.2d at 392~
93. We perceive no reason in the case
before us to depart from our prior rulings
on this subject.

We find no merit in Mueller's contention
that, notwithstanding the prior rulings of
this Court, he should have been permitted
to present evidence of parole ineligibility
because two of the Commonwealth’s wit-
nesses referred to his prior parole history
in their testimony during the penalty phase
of the trial. In Pope, 234 Va. at 126-27,
360 S.E.2d at 360, this Court held that
evidence of a defendant’s prior parole histo-
ry is admissible during the penalty phase
of a capital murder trial, where the Com-
monwealth is seeking the death penalty
based on the “future dangerousness” pred-
icate. This Court explained that, under
Code § 19.2-264.4, the jury is required, pri-
or to imposing the death penalty based on a
finding of future dangerousness, to consid-
er the defendant’'s “prior history.” The
fact that a defendant has had the benefit of
parole supervision is part of this prior his-
tory. See id. Thus, this Court has drawn
a clear distinction between the admissibility
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of a defendant’s parole history and evi-
dence of his future parole eligibility.

B. Cross-Examination of Mueller.

[20] Mueller argues that the trial court
erred in permitting the Commonwealth to
question him about his prior convictions for
sexual assault, as well as the present of-
fenses against Charity Powers. We dis-
agree. During his direct testimony, Muel-
ler acknowledged that he had prior convie-
tions for sexual offenses and he stated that
he was refused parole repeatedly because
of these convictions. Mueller also testified
on direct examination about the circum:
stances under which his life had deteriorat-
ed and he related the fact that he had spent
two years in a California state hospital

{211 Once a defendant has testified as
to certain matters, the proper scope of
cross examination lies within the sound dis-
cretion of the trial court. See Savino 2.
Commonwealth, 239 Va. 534, 545, 391
S.E.2d 276, 282, cert. denied, 498 U.S. —,
111 S.Ct. 229, 112 L.Ed.2d 184 (1990). Con-
sidering the above testimony, we find that
the trial court did not abuse its discretion
in allowing the Commonwealth to question
Mueller about his prior convictions for sex-
ual offenses and about whether he had
learned anything as a result of his commis-
sion of the present offenses.

C. Admissibility of Dr. Fierro’s Testimo-
ny.

[22] Mueller contends that portions of
the testimony of Dr. Marcella Fierro, who
conducted the autopsy of the victim's body,
should not have been admitted because
they included opinion evidence which was
not stated to a reasonable degree of medi-
cal certainty. However, Mueller does not
identify the portions of Dr. Fierro’s testi-
mony which he claims were admitted im-
properly. Further, the record shows that,
during Dr. Fierro’s testimony in the guilt
phase of the trial, Mueller made no objec-

"'8. "Although prior to Dr. Fierro's testimony,

Mueller informed the court that the defense was
“going to have objections to some of the things
we think they are going to try to get in, because
we don't think there is a reasonable degree of

tion to the fact that her opinions were not
stated to a reasonable degree of medical
certainty.®? Accordingly, he may not com-
plain on appeal regarding the admission of
this opinion evidence. Spruill v. Com-
monwealth, 221 Va. 475, 41879, 271
S.E.2d 419, 421 (1980); Rule 5:25.

During the penalty phase of the trial, the
prosecutor questioned Dr. Fierro regarding
certain photographs which depicted the
condition of the victim’'s body. At this
point, Mueller did object to Dr. Fierro’s
testimony. He argued that any opinion on
her part regarding the cause ‘of the inju-
ries, as well as the cause of death, would
not be admissible since it could not be
stated to 2 reasonable degree of medical
certainty.

This objection, however, was wholly inap-
posite to the testimony which Dr. Fierro
gave at the penalty phase of the trial.
Here, Dr. Fierro’s testimony dealt only
with descriptions of the photographs which
the prosecution sought to introduce. Dr.
Fierro gave no further testimony during
the penalty phase of the trial. Since her
testimony at this stage of the trial involved
only a description of the condition of the
body, as depicted in the photographs, it did
not constitute opinion evidence and was
properly admitted.

D. Sufficiency of Evidence of Vileness.

[23,24] Mueller asserts that the evi-
dence in this case was insufficient to meet
the vileness predicate set forth in Code
§ 19.2-264.2. We disagree. A finding of
vileness must be based on conduct which is
“outrageously or wantonly vile, horrible or
inhuman in that it involved torture, deprav-
ity of mind or an aggravated battery to the
vietim.” Code § 19.2-264.2. Proof of any
one of these three components will support
a finding of vileness. Id.; see Poyner v.
Commonwealth, 229 Va, 401, 424, 329
S.E.2d 815, 831, cert. denied, 474 U.S: 865,
106 S.Ct. 189, 88 L.Ed.2d 158 (1985). We
hold that the testimony here sufficiently

certainty,” Mueller never made a contemporane-
ous objection based on Dr. Fierro's stated de-
gree of certainty during her testimony in the
guilt phase of the trial. .
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established Mueller’s aggravated battery
of the vietim, as well as his depravity of
mind.

First, the record demonstrates that Muel-

ler perpetrated an aggravated battery on
Charity Powers within the meaning of

Code § 19.2-264:2. This Court has defined

“aggravated battery” in this context to
mean “a battery which, qualitatively and
quantitatively, is more culpable than the
minimum necessary to accomplish an act of
murder.” Smith v. Commonwealth, 219
Va. 455, 478, 248 S.E.2d 135, 149 (1978),
cert. denied, 441 U.S. 967, 99 S.Ct. 2419, 60
L.EAd.2d 1074 (1979). Mueller stated that
he strangled Charity to death after he
raped her. Dr. Fierro testified, however,
that Charity’s throat had been cut and that
a person suffering this type of wound
would live for several minutes. We find
that this evidence from Dr. Fierro is suffi-
clent to establish an aggravated battery
because the victim was subjected to “an
interval of agony awaiting death.” Stout
2. Commonwealth, 237 Va. 126, 134, 376
S.E.2d 288, 292, cert. denied, 492 U.S. 925,
109 S.Ct. 3263, 106 L.Ed.2d 609 (1989); Ed-
monds v. Commonwealth, 229 Va. 308,
313, 329 S.E.2d 807, 814, cert. denied, 474
U.S. 975, 106 S.Ct. 339, 88 L.Ed.2d 324
(1985).

The record before us also contains suffi-
cient evidence to establish Mueller’s de-
pravity of mind. Depravity of mind can be
established by proof of psychological tor-
ture of the victim. Poyner, 229 Va. at 425,
329 S.E.2d at 832. We find that the jury
reasonably could have inferred from the
evidence that Charity Powers was tortured
psychologically during the sequence of
events which culminated in her murder.
This ten year old child was alone late at
night after being unable to find Steve Har-
ris, who was supposed to have taken her
home. Mueller offered to help her out of
this frightening situation by telling her
that he would take her home. Instead of
keeping that promise, he took her into the
woods, raped her, and then killed her. This
conduct extended over a period of time and
under such circumstances as to permit an
inference of psychological torture. See id.

Further evidence of Mueller’s depravity
of mind is Dr. Fierro’s testimony that there
were holes in the breast-area where the
victim’s nipples would have been and that
she believed that this condition resulted
from an injury inflicted on the victim. Evi-
dence of such sexual mutilation, whether
occurring before or after death, evinces a
depravity of mind within the meaning of
Code § 19.2-264.2. See Jones ». Common-
wealth, 228 Va. 427, 44748, 323 S.E.2d
554, 565-66 (1984), cert. denied, 472 U.S.
1012, 105 S.Ct. 2713, 86 L.Ed.2d 728 (1985).

E. Verdict Form.

‘[25]1 Mueller argues that the verdict
form submitted to the jury did not properly
inform it of the sentencing options. He
contends that the structure of the verdict
form influenced the jury to impose the
death sentence rather than life imprison-
ment. We find no merit in this contention.

Instruction A informed the jury that it
was required to choose between sentences
of death and life imprisonment. This in-
struction also informed the jury that it
could not sentence Mueller to death unless
the prosecution proved beyond a reasen-
able doubt at least one of the two aggrava-
ting factors of vileness or future danger-
ousness. Further, Instruction A directed
the jury that, even if the prosecution had
proved one or both of these aggravating
factors, it was nevertheless free to fix
Mueller’s punishment at life imprisonment,
“if you believe from all the evidence that
the death penalty is not justified.”

Instruction B set forth four alternative
verdicts: (1) a senternce of death based on a
finding of both aggravating factors; (2) a
sentence of death based on a finding of
future dangerousness; (3) a sentence of
death based on a finding of vileness; and
{4) a life sentence based on all of the evi-
dence in aggravation and mitigation of the
offense. To indicate its verdict, the jury
was instructed to “[cjross out any para-
graph, word or phrase which you do not
find beyond a reasonable doubt.”

We hold that this sentencing form, in
conjunction with Instruction A, fully ap-
prised the jury of its sentencing options.
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The structure of the form did not, as con-
tended by Mueller, favor any of the options
presented Further, since the jury was
told in Instruction A that it could choose
the penalty of life imprisonment, even if it
found either or both aggravating factors,

" the information concerning the option of

life imprisonment was complete. See
Stockton v. Commonwealth, 241 Va. 192,
215, 402 S.E.2d 196,209 (1991), cert. de-
nied, 502 U.S. — 112 S.Ct. 280, 118
L.Ed.2d 231 (1991); LeVasseur, 225 Va. at
594-95, 304 S.E.2d at 661.

VIIL

SENTENCE REVIEW

[26] Code § 17-110.1(C) requires us to
review the imposition of the death sentence
on Mueller, based on the trial record, to
determine whether (1) it was imposed un-
der the influence of passion, prejudice, or
any other arbitrary factor; or (2) it is ex-
cessive or disproportionate to the penalty
imposed in similar cases, considering both
the crime and the defendant.

Initially, we note that Mueller does not
contend that the death sentence was im-
posed under the influence of any of the
above statutory factors, nor does he con-
tend that the sentence is excessive or dis-
proportionate to the penalty imposed in
similar cases. Nevertheless, we have ex-
amined the records of all capital murder
cases reviewed by this Court, pursuant to
Code § 17-110.1(E), giving particular atten-
tion to those cases where the death penalty
was based upon both the “future danger-
ousness” and the “vileness” predicates.
Those cases are collected in Spencer v
Commonwealth, 238 Va. 295, 319-20, 384
S.E.2d 785, 800 (1989), cert. denied, 493
U.S. 1098, 110 S.Ct. 1171, 107 L.Ed.2d 1073
(1990) (Spencer II). Since Spencer I, we
have decided several other capital murder
cases where the death penalty was based
on both predicates: George v. Common-
wealth, 242 Va. 264, 411 S.E.2d 12 (1991),
cert. denied, 503 U. S. ——, 112 S.Ct. 1591,
118 L.Ed.2d 308 (1992); St'nclcler 2. Com-
monwealth, 241 Va. 482, 404 S. E.2d 227,
cert. denied, 502 U.S. —-, 112 8.Ct. 386,
116 L.Ed.2d 837 (1991); Quesinberm .
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Commonwealth, 241 Va. 364, 402 S.E.2d
218, cert. denied, 502 U.S. —, 112 S.Ct.
113, 116 L.Ed.2d 82 (1991); Stockion .
Commonwealth, 241 Va. 192, 402 S.E.2d
196 (1991), cert. denied, 502 U.S. —, 112
8.Ct. 280, 116 L.Ed.2d 231 (1991); Spencer
». Commonwealth, 240 Va. 78, 393 S.E.2d
609, cert. denied, 498 U.S. ——, 111 S.Ct.
281, 112 L.Ed.2d 235 (1990) (Spencer IV);
Mu'Min v. Commonwealth, 239 Va. 433,
389 S.E.2d 886 (1990), aff'd, 500 U.S. —,
111 S.Ct. 1899, 114 L.Ed.2d 493 (1991);
Smith v. Commonwealth, 239 Va. 243, 389
S.E.2d 871, cert. denied, 498 U.S. ——, 111
S.Ct. 221, 112 L.Ed.2d 177 (1990); Spencer
v. Commonwealth, 238 Va. 563, 385 S.E.2d
850 (1989), cert. denied, 493 U.S. 1093, 110
S.Ct. 1171, 107 L.Ed.2d 1073 (1990) (Spenc-
er III); Watkins v. Commonwealth, 238
Va. 341, 385 S.E.2d 50 (1989), cert. denied,
494 U.S. 1074, 110 S.Ct. 1797, 108 L.Ed.2d
798 (1990).

After reviewing these records, as well as
cases in which life imprisonment was im-
posed, we conclude that Mueller’s sentence
of death was neither excessive nor dispro-
portionate to sentences generally imposed
by other sentencing bodies in Virginia for
crimes of a similar nature. In fact, few of
these cases equal or exceed both the vile-
ness of this crime or the future dangerous-
ness of this defendant.

As stated above, this case involves the
rape, abduction, and murder of a ten year
old child. Even under Mueller’s account of
the events, the victim suffered an exceed-
ingly gruesome and painful death. The
evidence of Mueller’s future dangerousness
was also overwhelming. Prior to these
crimes, Mueller had committed several vio-
Jent sexual assaults on women, including
assaults on two of his own sisters. He
testified that he did not. feel remorse after
committing two of those crimes. In addi-
tion to the testimony of Dr. Henry Gwalt-
ney, the Commonwealth’s expert witness,
Mueller’s own expert witness, Dr. Mariah
Travis, testified that Mueiler is an extreme-
ly dangerous person.

Finally, based on our review of the rec-
ord, we find nothing which suggests that
Mueller'’s death sentence was imposed un-

3]
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der the influence of passion, prejudice or
any other arbitrary factor.

IX.

CONCLUSION

We find no reversible error in the issues
presented here. Having reviewed Muel-
ler's sentence of death pursuant to Code
§ 17-110.1, we decline to commute the sen-
tence. Accordingly, we will affirm the
judgments in both cases.

Record No. 920287—A/ffirmed.
Record No. 920449—Affirmed.

Bao Quoc DOAN
v.
COMMONWEALTH of Virginia.
Record No. 0280-91-4.

Court of Appeals of Virginia.
Sept. 15, 1992

Defendant was convicted in the Circuit
Court, Fairfax County, Thomas A. Fort
kort, J., of burglary, robbery abduction,
and use of firearm in commission of a
felony, and he appealed. The Court of
Appeals, Koontz, C.J., held that: {1) defen-
dant who did not testify at trial could not
raise claim of error in limine ruling that
prior convictions would be admissible to
impeach him; (2) in-court identification was
not result of any impermissible suggestive-
ness; but (3) evidence did not sustain find-
ing of breaking.

Affirmed in part and reversed and dis-
missed in part.

1. Criminal Law ¢=1035(2)

In order to preserve for review claim
of improper impeachment by prior convic-
tion, defendant must testify at trial, and
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defendant who declined to testify after
court ruled in limine that prior convictions
were admissible to impeach him could not
raise the issue on appeal.

2. Criminal Law ¢=698(1)

Defendant’s failure to object to admis-
sion of evidence of codefendant’s plea
agreement waived the issue.

3. Criminal Law €=1036.1(1)

Absent ruling in limine, defendant was
obligated to object to evidence at trial in
order to preserve it for appeal.

4. Criminal Law €=1169.1(2)

Admission at sentencing of evidence of
codefendant’s plea agreement which re-
ferred to other offenses which he had com-
mitted did not prejudice defendant, as the
agreement did not disclose any information
which would link defendant to the other
crimes.

5. Criminal Law €=339.8(2) .
Identification of defendant at pretrial
hearing was not product of any suggestive-
ness resulting from discussion on day be-
fore hearing when she was in the court-
room with the prosecutor and asked if de-
fendant would be sitting at particular table,
to which the prosecutor responded that de-
fendant would not necessarily sit at that
table and that there might be somebody
else sitting there whom the defense would
put in that chair for identification purposes:

6. Criminal Law ¢=339.8(2)

Even if pretrial identification was
tainted by some suggestiveness, pretrial
identification was not so unreliable as to
create substantial likelihood of misidentifi-
cation where robbers were in victim’s
house for approximately 45 minutes and
she was able to give police description of
four men who entered her house.

7. Criminal Law €339.8(1)

Victim’s inability to positively identify
defendant from photographic array did not
render her pretrial identification unrelisble.

8. Burglary &=9(1)
Breaking, which is essential element of
crime of burglary, may be either actual or
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i3 is grranted. Petition for writ of certiorari
to the United States Court of Appeals for
the Tenth Circuit denied.

Robert DORDIES, petitioner,
v. ILLINOIS.
No. 92-1425,

April 19, 1993. Petition for writ of cer-
tiorari to-the Appellate Court of Illinois,
First District, denied.

Jusiice STEVENS took no part in the
consideration or decision of this petition.

2 .

Evereti-Lee Edmrrmw petitioner,
v. VIRGINIA,

No. 92-7507.
Casc below, 244 Va. 386, 422 S.B.2d 380.

On petition for writ of certiorari to the
Supreme Court of Virginia.

April 19,51998. The petition for a writ of
certiorari is denied.

Justice WHITE, with whom Justice
BLACKMTN and Justice SOUTER join,
dissenting:

Under &dwards v. Arizona, 451 U.S.
477, 484485, 101 S.Ct. 1880, 1884-1885, 68
1.Ed.2d 378 (1981), a defendant who in-
vokes the ¥ifth Amendment right to coun-
sel during custodial interrogation may not
be subincted to further interrogation until
counsel is inade available to him, unless he
subsequeniiy initiates communications.
“[I]t is-inconsistent with Miranda and its

113 SUPREME COURT REPORTER

progeny,” the Court concluded, “for the
authorities, at their instance, to reinterro-
gate an accused in custody if he has clearly
asserted his right to counsel.” Id. at 485,
101 S.Ct. at 1885. While easily stated, the
Edwards rule has not always been easy to
apply. In particular, the question of how
officials conducting an interrogation ought
to respond to a defendant’s ambiguous-or
equivocal assertion of the right to counsel
has divided the state and federal courts.
The Court should take this opportunity to
resolve this important constitutional ques-
tion.

Virginia police arrested petitioner in con-
nection with the abduction, rape, and mur-
der of 10-year-old Charity Powers. Peti-
tioner was advised of his Miranda rights
and agreed to talk to a detective and an
FBI agent. During the interrogation, peti-
tioner asked the detective: “ ‘Do you think
I need an attorney here?’” The detective
responded by shaking his head slightly
from side to side, shrugging, and stating:
" “You're just talking to us.’” The interro-
gation continued and petitioner confessed
to the crimes.. See 244 Va. 386, 391, 422
S.E.2d 380, 384 (1992). Petitioner sought
to suppress the confession, claiming, inter
alig, that the continuation of the interroga-
tion constituted an Edwards violation. The
trial court denied the motjon and petitioner
was tried, convicted, and sentenced to
death. Relying on its prier decision in Ea-
ton v. Commonwealth, 240 Va. 236, 253~
254, 397 S.E.2d 885, 395-396 (1990), cert.
denied, 502 U.S, ——, 112 8.Ct. 88, 116
L.Ed.2d 60 (1991), which in turn relied on
Edwards’ reference to a defendant who
has “clearly asserted” the right to counsel,
see supra, at 1880, the Virginia Supreme
Court affirmed, concluding that petitioner’s
question “did not constitute an unambigu-
ous request for counsel” and therefore was
insufficient to trigger Edwards. 244 Va.,
at 396, 422 S.E.2d at 387. Petitioner now
seeks review of this ruling, among others.
Pet. for Cert. 11-12. .

MEMORANDUM DECISIONS 4 1881
* Cite as 113 8.Ct. (1993)

It has been nearly a decade since the
Court acknowledged the existence of three
“conflicting standards” used by state and
federal courts for determining the conse-
quences of ambiguous or equivocal asser-
tions of the right to counsel. =~ Smith »
Illinois, 469 U.S. 91, 95-96, and n.. 3, 105
S.Ct. 490, 492-498, and n. 8, 83 L.Ed.2d 488
(1984) (per curiam). Thus,

“[slome courts have held that all ques-

tioning must cease upon any request for

or reference to counsel, however equivo-
cal or ambiguous.... Others have at-
tempted to define a threshold standard of
clarity for such requests, and have held
that requests falling below this threshold
do not trigger the right to counsel....
Still others have adopted a third ap-
proach, holding that when an accused
makes an equivocal statement that ‘argu-
ably’ can be construed as a request for
counsel, all interrogation must immedi-
ately cease except for narrow questions
designed to ‘clarify’ the earlier statement
and the accused’s desires respecting
counsel.” Jd. at 96,.n. 8, 105 S.Ct. at
493, n. 3 (citations omitted).
This disagreement has not abated. Al
though a number of Circuits have since
adopted what Smith described as the
“third approach,” see United States v.
Porter, 776 F.2d 370 (CA1 1985); United
States v. Gotay, 844 F.2d 971, 975 (CA2
1988); United States v. Fouche, 776 F.24
1398, 1405 (CA9 1985); Towne v. Dugger,
899 F.2d 1104 (CA11), cert. denied, 498 U.S.
991~992, 111 S.Ct. 536, 112 L.Ed.2d 546
(1990), the Sixth Circuit apparently adheres
to the first approach. See Maglio v. Jago,
580 F.2d 202, 205 (CA6 1978) (ambiguous
invocation requires cessation of all ques-
tioning). State high courts also continue to
issue conflicting decisions. Kentucky and
Texas, like Virginia, now employ a variant
of the second, “threshold standard,” ap-
proach, see Dean v, Commonwealth, 844
S.W.2d 417, 420 (Ky.1992) (endorsing Ea-
ton v. Commonwealth, supra); Russell v.
State, 127 S.W.2d 58, 575 (Tex.Crim.App.)
(en banc) (right to counsel invoked if “clear-

ly asserted”), cert. denied, 483 U.S. 856,
108 S.Ct. 164, 98 L.Ed.2d 119 (1987), while
other States have embraced the third ap-
proach. See State v. Staatz, 159 Ariz. 411,
414, 768 P.2d 148, 146 (1988); People »..
Benjamin, 782 P.2d 1167, 1171 (Colo.1987),

- Crawford v. State, 680 A.2d 571, 576-577.

(Del.1990); Ruffin v. United States, 524
A.2d 685 (D.C.1987), cert. denied, 486 U.S.
1057, 108 S.Ct. 2827, 100 L.Ed.2d 927
(1988); Hall v. State, 255 Ga. 267, 278, 336
S.E.2d 812, 815 (1985); State v. Robinson,
427 N.W.2d 2117, 228 (Minn.1988).

Asitis apparent that a substantial num-
ber of criminal defendants who are identi-
cally situated in the eyes of ‘the Constitu-
tion have received and will continue to re-
ceive dissimilar treatment because of the
different approaches taken by the lower
courts, I would grant certiorari.

Curtis Lee ECHOLS, Jr., petitioner,
v. A.G. THOMAS, Warden.

No. 92-7774.

April 19, 1993. Petition for a writ of
certiorari to the United States Court of
Appeals for the Eleventh O:.nE» before
judgment ig mmE&

i
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LACY, Justice, with whom KEENAN, J.,
joins, concurring.
I write separately because, while the ma-

, jority’s disposition resolves the case, its ratio-

nale does not address the principal issue

- raised by the defendant in this appeal.

Steven Johnson has consistently based his
ciaim that he was denied a speedy trial on his
interpretation of the final sentence of Code
§ 19:2-248, the speedy trial statute. That
sentence provides:

But the time during the pendency of any

appeal in any appellate court shall not be

inclided as applying to the provisions of

this section.
Jehnzon asserts that when his first trial be-
gan, approximately one month and 14 days of
b2 five-month period preseribed by the stat-
ute remained unused. Johnson construes the
auoted portion of the statute as “tolling” the
rimning of this unused period until Decem-
ber 14, 1993, when the Court of Appeals
reversed his conviction and remanded the
case for a new- trial. At that point, under
Johnson’s theory the tolling ceased and the
Cominonwealth was required to commence
his second trial within the unused one month
#nd-i4 days. Because his second trial did
not zommence within that period, he con-
cludes that the speedy trial statute was vio-
lated-and the charges against him must be
dismissed.

The lynchpin of Johnson's argument is that
if'the time periods established in the speedy
trial act only apply to the commencement of
tiis initial trial, as the Court of Appeals con-
cinded, the reference in the statute to time
zlapsed “during the pendency of any appeal”
is meaningless. 1 disagree with Johnson.

The Court of Appeals construed the sen-
tence in question as applying only to pre-trial
appezls. This sentence was added to the
speedy trial statute in 1894. Acts of Assem-
hly, 1893-94, p. 464. Although there were no
specific statutory procedures for pretrial ap-
peals at that time, defendants nevertheless
pursued appeals prior to the commencement
of the first trial. See e.g. Saunders v. Com-
monwealth, 79 Va, 522, 523 (1884) (appeal of
denial of double jeopardy plea dismissed
whetr case had not “progressed further than
the order of the court rejecting the second
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plea tendered by the defendant”). Further-
more, in its very next session 1895-96, the
General Assembly enacted legislation provid-
ing statutory procedures for pretrial appeals
in certain situations. Acts of Assembly,
1895-96, p. 365-66.

Construing the statute as suggested by
Johnson and thereby allowing dismissal of
criminal charges under these circumstances
is not required in order to provide a defen--
dant with the protection of a speedy trial,
and I cannot ascribe such an intent to the
General Agsembly. The Court of Appeals’
interpretation of the statute imposes statuto-
ry periods that guarantee a timely com-
mencement of a defendant’s first trial, and
leaves evaluation of the timeliness of second
and subsequent trials to the standards devel-
oped under the state and federal constitu-
tions. See Barker v. Wingo, 407 U.S. 514, 92
8.Ct. 2182, 33 L.Ed.2d 101 (1972).

Although this Court has not addressed the
specific issue presented in this appeal, we
have previously stated that the statutory re-
quirement for a speedy trial is satisfied if the
trial is commenced within the requisite peri-
od. Butts v. Commonwealth, 145 Va. 800,
133 S.E. 764 (1926) (statute satisfied al-
though trial court’s final judgment not en-
tered within the statutory period). The
Court of Appeals’ construction of the last
paragraph of the statute is consistent with
this statement and is the proper interpreta-
tion of § 19.2-243. Therefore, for the rea-
sons stated, I concur in the disposition
reached by the majority.

252 Va. 356
Everett Lee MUELLER

v.

Edward W. MURRAY, Director, Virginia
Department of Corrections.

Record No. 951874.
Supreme Court of Virginia.
Nov. 1, 1996.

Following affirmance, 244 Va. 386, 422
S.E.2d 3880, of petitioner’s convictions of capi-
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tal murder, rape, and abduction, petitioner
sought writ of habeas corpus. The Cireuit
Court, Chesterfield County, William R. Shel-
ton, J., dismissed petition in part and denjed
petition in part. Petitioner appealed. The
Supreme Court, Keenan, J., held that United
States Supreme Court’s decision in Simmons
v. South Carolina, in which Court had held
that when prosecution seeks death sentence
based on defendant’s future dangerousness
and only alternative sentence is life imprison-
ment without possibility of parole, defendant
has due process right to inform jury that he
is parole ineligible, set forth “new rule® that
does not apply retroactively.

Affirmed.

1. Courts €=100(1)

United States Supreme Court’s decision
in Simmons v. South Carolina, in which
Court held - that when prosecution seeks
death sentence based on defendant’s future
dangerousness and only alternative sentence
is life imprisonment without possibility of
parole, defendant has due process right to
inform jury that he is parole ineligible, set
forth “new rule” that does not apply retroac-
tively. U.S.C.A. Const.Amend. 14.

See publication Words and Phrases
for other judicial constructions and def-
initions.

2. Courts &=100(1)

_ United States Supreme Court decision
articulating “new” constitutional rule of crim-
inal procedure generally will not be applied
to conviction which has become final before
rule is announced.

3. Courts &=100(1)
Case announces “new rule” that will not
be applied retroactively if result was not

dictated by precedent existing at time defen-
dant’s conviction became final.

4. Courts =100(1)

) Analysis for determining whether deci-
sion constitutes a “new rule,” for purpose of
determining whether decision applies retro-
actively, requires three steps: first, reviewing
court must determine date on which defen-
dant’s conviction became final for retroactivi-
ty purposes; second, reviewing court must
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survey the legal landscape as it existed on
date defendant’s conviction becarhe final to
determine whether existing constitutional
precedent compelled conclusion which defen-
dant sought; third, if reviewing court deter-
mines that defendant seeks the benefit of a
new rule, court must decide whether that
rule falls within one of the two narrow excep-
tions to nonretroactivity principle.

6. Courts ¢=100(1)

Petitioner’s state conviction and sen-
tence become final, for purposes of determin-
ing whether a judicial decision retroactively
applies to petitioner's case, when availability
of direct appeal to state courts has been-
exhausted and time for filing petition for writ
of certiorari has elapsed or timely filed peti-
tion has been finally denied.

6. Courts ¢=100(1)

For purposes of determining whether a
?&&E decision applies retroactively to peti-
tioner’s case, rule announced in decision is
not compelled by existing precedent if those
decisions merely inform or control. analysis of
the petitioner’s claim; rather, rule is com-
pelled by existing precedent only if contrary
conclusion would have been objectively un-
reasonable,

7. Courts €=100(1) .

For purposes of determining whether
judicial decision announced new rule that
does not apply retroactively to petitioner’s
case, scope of rule under examination is de-
fined as the narrowest principle of law actu-
ally applied to resolve issue presented.

8. Habeas Corpus ¢=296

Habeas petitioner’s claims that trial
court’s refusal to allow him to inform jury of
his parole ineligibility violated: his Eighth
Amendment rights and state constitutional
right to call for evidence in his favor were
procedurally barred, where petitioner did not
raise claims on direct appeal U.S.CA.
Const.Amend. 8; Const. Art. 1, § 8

HEn:»m_ HuYoung (Angela D, Whitley,
Richmond; Edward D. Barnes, Chesterfield,
on brief), for appellant, :
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Robert H. Anderson, III, Assistant Attor-
ney General (James S, Gilmore, I1I, Attorney
General, on brief), for appellee.

Present: All the Justices,

KEENAN, Justice.

Everett Lee Mueller was convicted by a
Jury of the capital murder, rape, and abdue-
tion of Charity Powers and sentenced to
death. We affirmed the judgment of the
circuit court in Mueller v. Commonwealth,
244 Va. 886, 422 S.E.2d 380 (1992), cert.
dznied, 507 U.S. 1043, 113 S.Ct. 1880, 123
1..Ed.2d 498 (1993). .

Mueller filed a petition for habeas corpus
iz the circuit court alleging, among other
things, that his federal and state constitution-
ai rights were violated because “the sentenc-
ing jury was not allowed to know of his
ineligibility for parole.” The circuit court
dismissed the petition in part and denied it in
part, and we awarded Mueller an appeal
imited to that issue.

In considering this question, we determine
whether Simmons v.. South Caroling, 512
U.S. 154, 114 S.Ct. 2187, 129 L.Ed.2d 133
{1994), announced a “new rule” within the
meaning of Teague v. Lane, 489 U.S. 288, 109
S.Ct. 1060, 103 L.1d.2d 334 (1989). We con-
clude that Simmons established a “new” rule
that does not apply retroactively to Mueller’s
cage.!

I

On the evening of October 5, 1990, Taryn
Potts took her ten year old daughter, Charity
Powers, to a skating rink. Potts had ar-
ranged to have a friend drive Charity home
from the rink later that night, but the friend
fell asleep and did not go to the rink. When
Potts arrived home at 3:00 a.m. on October
6, 1990, and discovered that her friend had
not brought Charity home, she immediately
contacted the police, who initiated a search
for her daughter.

1. In addressing the merits of Mueller's due pro-
cess claim, we reject the Commonwealth’s argu-
ment. that the claim is procedurally barred.
Mueller substantially raised the issue of his due
process right to inform the jury of his parole
ineligibility, based on the Commonwealth’s argu-
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Kevin H. Speeks, who knew Charity, testi-
fied that he saw her at a fast food restaurant
near the skating rink at about 12:50'a.m. on
October 6, 1990. While at the.restaurant,
Speeks also saw a man who appeared to be
thirty years of age and of medium height,
driving a cream-colored station wagon with
wood siding through the parking lot several
times. As Speeks left the restaurant, he saw
the man standing on the right side of the
building, and he also observed Charity sitting
on a curb located on the same side of the
building. Sergeant Mike Spraker of the
Chesterfield County Police Department testi-
fied that Mueller customarily drove a cream-
colored station wagon which had wood siding.

" When Mueller spoke with the police on
October 8 and 9, 1990, he admitted that he
had talked to a young female on October 5,
1990, at a fast food restaurant that might
have been near the skating rink. Based on
information gained over the course.of their
investigation, the police searched the area
near Mueller'’s home. On February 8, 1991,
they found “a clump of hair and what looked
like some white bone sticking out of the
ground.” As a result of this discovery, the
police exhumed Charity’s body, which had
been buried about 900 feet behind Mueller’s
house. The police found a knife stuck in the
ground about, 174 feet from the grave.

The police arrested Mueller on ‘February
12, 1991, and advised him of his Miranda
rights. During an interrogation, Mueller
confessed to the crime. He stated that he
had agreed to give Charity a ride home from
the restaurant but that he drove her.to his
house instead.

Mueller said that he thought Charity was
18 or 19 years old. Charity was about 48"
tall and weighed 90 pounds. Mueller told the
police that Charity agreed to have sex with
him, and that he took her to the woods
behind his house where he had sexual inter-
course with her. He stated that, although he
had a knife nearby, he did not use it.

ment of future dangerousness, at trial and on
direct appeal. (See Appendix from Record Nos.
920287 and 920449, at 93, 319-22, 1260-62, and
pp. 38-40 of Mueller’s brief on direct appeal to
this Court.)

-y
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Mueller told the police that he strangled
Charity to death because he was afraid that
she would report the incident. He later pur-
chased a shovel from a local store, buried her
body, and burned her clothes and jewelry.
After making this confession, Mueller
showed the police the area where he had
buried the body, as well as the locations
where he had raped her and had left the
knife,

The medical examiner who conducted an
autopsy on Charity’s body testified that
Charity’s throat had been cut to the depth of
one inch, resulting in a horizontal cut on the
epiglottis. She stated that such a cut would
result in the severance of the carotid artery
and the jugular véin. According to the medi-
cal examiner, a person suffering from such
an injury would die after several minutes;
and there were indications that Charity had
bled before her death. Based on these facts,
the medical examiner concluded that the
cause of death was “acute neck injury.”

The medical examiner also stated that, on
examining the skin over the breast area,
there were “irregular holes in the area where
each nipple would be.” The medical examin-
er also observed a “big gash” on the vietim's
upper left thigh. She also determined that
there were three tears to the hymenal ring of
the vagina which were consistent with sexual
penetration. :

At the conclusion of this phase of the
bifurcated trial, the jury found Mueller guilty
of capital murder in violation of Code § 18.2—
81(5) and former Code § 18.2-31(8) 2 (murder
in the commission of a rape, and murder of a
child under 12 in the commission of an ab-
duction). The jury also convicted Mueller of
rape and abduction with intent to defile, and
it fixed his punishment at life imprisonment
on both these charges.

At the penalty phase of the trial, each of
four women, including Mueller’s sister, testi-
fied that Mueller had raped her at knife
point. Two of these rapes resulted in crimi-

_ nal convictions. Mueller’s expert, Dr. Mari-

2. Former Code § 18.2-31(8) was replaced by
Code § 18.2-31(1), which includes in the defini-
tion of capital murder “[tlhe willful, deliberate,
and premeditated killing of any person in the
commission of abduction, as defined in Code

ah Travis, a clinical psychologist, acknoy
edged that Mueller did not have “a worki
conscience,” and that he had “graduated
... a new and even more dangerous leve

Mueller testified during the penalty pha
‘When asked whether he felt any remorse |
having raped one particular victim, Muell
replied, “Which one is that?. Ha, ha” ¢
completing his testimony, Mueller stat:
“Get this God damn shit over with so that
can go smoke a cigarette.”

At the conclusion of the penalty phs
evidence, the jury fixed: Mueller's punis
ment for capital murder at death, based
findings of both vileness and future dang:
ousness. After the hearing required
Code § 19.2-264.5, the trial court impos
the sentences fixed by the jury.

1L

In this appeal, Mueler argues that )
death sentence should be set aside becat
the trial court did not allow him to inform t
jury that he was ineligible for parole unc
Code § 53.1-151(B1). That section provic
in part that “falny person convicted of thr
separate felony offenses of (i) murder,
rape or (iii) robbery by the presenting
firearms or other deadly weapon ... sh
not be eligible for parole.”

In support of his argument, Mueller rel
on Simmons, in which the Supreme Cot
held that, when the prosecution seeks 1
death sentence based on the defendant’s .
ture dangerousness, and the only alternat
sentence is life imprisonment without t
possibility of parole, the defendant has a ¢
process right to inform the jury that he
parole ineligible. 512 U.S. at——, 114 S.!
at 2196. Mueller contends that, under Si
mons, the trial court’s ruling denied him ¢
process because he was not able to rebut t
Commonwealth’s argument of future dang
ousness with evidence of his parole ineligib
ty. :

§ 18.2-48, when such abduction was commit

with the intent to extort money or a pecuni:

benefit or with the intent to defile the victim
such abduction.” |
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(11 Mueller asserts that the rule articu-
lated in Simmons is not a “new” rule, be-
cause it was compelled by two United States
Supreme Court decisions in effect at the time
of his trial and direct appeal, Gardner ».
Florida, 430 U.S. 349, 97 S.Ct. 1197, 51
L.d.2d 393 (1977), and Skipper v. South

" Caroling, 476 U.S. 1, 106 S.Ct. 1669, 90
L.Ed.2d 1 (1986). Thus, Mueller argues that
the rule in Simmons applies retroactively to
his case. We disagree.

1.

[2] In Teague v. Lane, 489 U.S. 288, 109
5.Ct. 1060, 103 L.Ed.2d 384, the Supreme
Court stated that, on habeas corpus review,
constitutional error must be evaluated to-
gether with the interests of comity and finali-
ty. Id. at 308, 109 S.Ct. at 1074. Based on
these multiple considerations, a Supreme
Court decision articulating a “new” constitu-
tional rule of criminal procedure generally
will not be applied to a convietion which has
become final before the rule is announced.
Zd. at 310, 109 S.Ct. at 1075.

[3] “[A] case announces a ‘new’ rule if
the result was not dictated by precedent
“existing at the time the defendant’s convic-
tion became final” Id. at 301, 109 S.Ct. at
1070.  Since Mueller seeks the benefit of a
rule articulated after his conviction became
final on direct appesl, this Court must first
determine whether Simmons announced a

“new” rule under Teague before considering

the merits of Mueller's claim. See Caspari v.
Bohlen, 510 U.S. 383, 390, 114 S.Ct. 948, 953,
127 L.Ed.2d 236 (1994); O’Dell v. Nether-
land, 95 F.3d 1214, 1220-21 (4th Cir.1996).

[4] The Teague analysis requires three
steps. First, the reviewing court must deter-
mine the date on which the defendant’s con-
viction became final for retroactivity pur-
poses. Caspari, 510 U.S. at 390, 114 S.Ct. at
953. Second, the reviewing court must “sur-
vey the Jegal landscape” as it existed on the
date the defendant’s conviction became final
to determine whether existing constitutional
precedent compelled the conclusion which the
defendant sought. Id. Third, if the reviewing
court determines that the defendant seeks
the benefit of a “new” rule, the court “must
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decide whether that rule falls within one of
the two narrow exceptions to the nonretroac-
tivity principle.” Id. :

1v.

[6] “A state conviction and sentence be-
come final for purposes of retroactivity anal-
ysis when the availability of direct appeal to
the state courts has been exhausted and the

time for filing a petition for a writ of certio- -

rari has elapsed or a timely filed petition has
been finally denied.” Id. We determine the
date on which Mueller’s convictions became

final by the date the Uniteéd States Supreme.

Court denied a rehearing on his petition for
certiorari on direct review of his conviction
and death sentence. See Penry v. Lynaugh,
492 U.S. 302, 314,-109 S.Ct. 2934, 2944, 106
L.Ed.2d 256 (1989). Thus, Mueller'’s convic-
tions became final for retroactivity purposes
on June-7, 1993. See Mueller v. Virginia,

507 U.S. 1043, 113 8.Ct. 1880, 123 L.Ed.2d

498 (1993).

[6] We next consider whether existing
precedent compelled the conclusion advanced
by Mueller. A rule is not compelled by
existing precedent if those decisions merely
inform or control the analysis of the petition-
er’s claim. Safflev. Parks, 494 U.S. 484, 491,
110 S.Ct. 12567, 1262, 108 L.Ed.2d 415 (1990).
Rather, a rule is compelled by existing prece-
dent only if a contrary conclusion would have
been objectively unreasonable. Q'Dell, 95
F.3d at 1223-24. Thus, as the Supreme
Court explained in Butler v. McKellar, 494
U.S. 407, 110 S.Ct. 1212, 108 L.Ed.2d 347
(1990), “(tthe ‘new rule’ principle ... vali-
dates reasonable, good-faith interpretations
of existing precedents made by state courts
even though they are shown to be contrary to
later decisions.” E... at 414, 110 S.Ct. at
1217,

[7} For purposes of “new” rule analysis,
the scope of the rule under examination is
defined as the narrowest principle of law
actually applied to resolve the issue present-
ed. ODell, 95 F.3d at 1222-23. Thus, the
“rule” of Simmons is “that ‘where the State
puts the defendant’s future dangerousness in
issue, and the only available alternative sen-
tence to death is life imprisonment without
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- parole, due process entitles the defendant to

inform the capital sentencing Jjury—Dby either
argument or instruction—that he is parole
ineligible.” Townes v. Murray, 68 F.3d 840,
850 (dth Cir.1995); cert. denied, — U.S.
— 116 S.Ct. 831, 133 L.Ed.2d 830 (1996)
(quoting Simmons, 512 US. at —-, 114
S.Ct. at 2201).

In June 1993, when Smm:&..m conviction

-became final, the “legal landscape” contem-

plated by Teague included the principal cases
on which Simmons relied, Gardner and Skip-
per. In Gardner, the defendant was convict-
ed of first degree murder, and the jury rec-
ommended that he receive a life sentence.
However, the trial court sentenced the defen-
dant to death, relying on a confidential pre-
sentence report that the defendant did not
have an opportunity to see or rebut. 430
U.S. at 853, 97 S:Ct. at 1202, ’

The Supreme Court vacated the defen-
dant’s death sentence, holding that the defen-
dant's constitutional rights were violated by
use of the secret report.  The three-justice
plurality concluded that the sentencer’s use
of the report denied the defendant due pro-
cess, id. at 362, 97 8.Ct. at 1206-07, while the
two justices concurring in the judgment
based their decision on Eighth Amendment
grounds. Id. at 363-64, 97 S.Ct. at 1207-08.

In Skipper, the trial court denied the de-
fendant the right to present the jury with
evidence of his good behavior during the
seven months he spent in jail awaiting trial.
476 U.S. at 4, 106 S.Ct. at 1671. The Supreme
Court held that “evidence that the defendant
would not pose a danger if spared (but incar-
cerated) must be considered potentially miti-
gating,” and that under Eddings v. Okla-
homa, 455 U.S. 104, 102 S.Ct. 869, 71
L.Ed2d 1 (1982), exclusion of such relevant
evidence from the sentencer’s consideration

-violates the Eighth Amendment. Skipper,

476 U.S. at 5, 106 S.Ct. at 1671; see also
Eddings, 455 U.S. at 112-18, 102 S.Ct. at
875-76.

Skipper also addressed the defendant’s
right of due process in a footnote, stating
that

[wihere the prosecution specifically relies

on a prediction of future dangerousness in

asking for the death penalty, it is not only

the rule of Lockett [v. Ohio, 438 U.S
98 S.Ct. 2954, 57 L.Ed2d 973 (1978)
Eddings that requires that the defer
be afforded an opportunity to intrc
evidence on this point; it is also the
mental due process requirement th
defendant not be sentenced to deatk
the basis of information which he ha
opportunity to deny or explain.” Gar
v. Florida, 430 U.S. 849, 362 {97 ;
1197, 1207, 51 L.Ed.2d 898] (1977).

Id. at 5 n. 1,106 S.Ct. at 1671 n. 1.

In addition to Gardner and Skipper,
“legal landscape” of 1993 included Califs
2. Ramos, 463 U.S. 992, 103 S.Ct. 344t
L.Ed.2d 1171 (1988), in which the trial ¢
a8 required by state law, instructed the
that a sentence of life imprisonment wit
parcle may be commuted by the Govern:
a sentence providing the possibility of pa
Id. at 995-96, 103 S.Ct. at 3450-51.
defendant argued that basic fairness ent
him to inform the jury that the Governor
could commute a death sentence, so the
would not have the mistaken impression
it could guarantee the defendant’s perma
removal from society by imposing the d
sentence, Id. at 1010-11, 103 S.Ct. at 3
59.

The Supreme Court held that the Ej
and Fourteenth Amendments did not en
the defendant to inform the jury of the !
ernor’s power to commute a death sente
In explaining its holding, the Court spe¢
cally stated that the challenged proce:
did not violate the due process rule of G
ner. Id. at 1001, 103 S.Ct. at 3453.
Court also emphasized the deference givi
state’s determination regarding what
tencing information the jury will rect
The Court stated, v

[W]e defer to the State’s identificatio:

the Governor’s power to commute a

sentence as a substantive factor to be -

sented for the sentencing jury’s consi
ation.

Our conclusion is not intended to o
ride the contrary judgment of state legi
tures that capital sentencing juries in ¢
States should not be permitted to cons:
the Governor’s power to commute a ¢

|
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tence.... We sit as judges, not as legisla-
tors, and the wisdom of the decision to
permit juror consideration of possible
commaudtation is best left to the States.
Id. at 1013-14, 103 S.Ct. at 3460 (footnote
omitted) (emphasis added). Moreover, in
stating this principle of broad deference, the
Court noted, with apparent approval, that
“lzn]any state courts have held it improper
for the jury to consider or to be inforined—
through argument or instruction—of the pos-
sibility of commutation, pardon, or parole.”
Id- at 1013 n. 30, 103 8.Ct. at 3460 n.30
(exiphasis added).

V.

The precise issue before us, whether the
ruie in Simmons was compelled by Gardner,
Skipper, and Ramos, was considered in
0’Dell by the United States Court of Ap-
peals for the Fourth Circuit, sitting en banc.
The defendant in O'Dell, like Mueller, was
convicted in Virginia of capital murder and
sentenced to death by a jury that was not in-
formed of his parole ineligibility. O’Dell ar-
gued, among other things, that Simmons did
nit announce a “new” rule and, thus, that
Simumons applied retroactively to his case,
mandating the reversal of his death sen-
tence.

The Court of Appeals disagreed, holding
that Simmons articulated a “new” rule. The
Court stated that, prior to Simmons, a rea-
senable jurist could have concluded under
Ramos that the Constitution left to the states
the decision whether to instruct the jury on
the defendant’s parole ineligibility. O'Dell,
95 F.3d at 1233.

The Court further stated that a jurist rea-
sonably could have distinguished the rule of
Sardner and Skipper regarding the defen-
dant’s right to rebut prosecution claims with
Sactual evidence, from the rule in Ramos
regarding the defendant’s right to rebut
prosecution claims with arguments from
state law. Id. at 1232-33. The Court ex-
plained that this distinction was reasonable
prior to Simmons, because “relevant factual
information, like secret sentencing reports or
prior good behavior, cannot change with
time, but a state’s legal standards and post-
conviction procedures, like eligibility for com-
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mutation or parole can always change long
after the sentencing jury renders its verdict.”
Id. at 1233-34 (citation omitted). We agree
with the Court of Appeals’ analysis.

In Mueller’s direct appeal, this Court ex-
plicitly relied on Ramos in rejecting Muel-
ler’s due process argument, stating that

Mueller argues that the trial court violat-
ed his due process rights by refusing to

" instruct the jury that, pursuant to Code
§ 53.1-151(B1), he would not be eligible
for parole.... We hold that the trial
court did not err in its rulings here.
This- Court has held uniformly and re-
peatedly that information regarding pa-
role eligibility is not relevant for the
jury's consideration, Further, the United
States Supreme Court has expressly left
the determination of this question to the
" individual states, as a- matter of state
law. California v. Raemos, 463 U.S, 992,
1013-14 [103 S.Ct. 3446, 3459-60, 77
L.Ed.2d 1171] (1983).

Mueller, 244 Va. at 408-09, 422 S.E.2d at 394
(emphasis added) (citations omitted).

Prior to Simmons, reliance on Ramos was
objectively reasonable for the proposition
that the Constitution permitted the states to
decide whether to inform a capital sentencing
jury of a defendant’s parole ineligibility. The
argument rejected by the Court in Ramos
was, in principle, the same argumeént success-
fully advanced in Simmons, that the defen-
dant was entitled to inform the sentencing
jury whether the death sentence was the
only option that would insure the defendant
would never return to society.

Before .m.s.igsa. the Supreme Court had

never held that a defendant had a due pro-
cess right to rebut prosecution arguments of
future dangerousness with evidence that
was unrelated to the defendant’s character
and crime. ODell, 95 F.3d at 1233-34.
Moreover, the decision in Skipper did not
address Ramos or its rationale of giving
broad deference to the states in determining
the information that. should be given a capi-
tal sentencing jury. Thus, we conclude that
Simmons announced a “new” rule within
the meaning of Teague.
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Having concluded that reliance on Ramos
was objectively reasonable and, thus, that
Simmons announced a “new” rule, we turn to
the third and final step in the Teague analy-
sis, assessing whether the “new” rule of Sim-
mons falls within one of the two narrow
exceptions to the nonretroactivity principle.
See Caspari, 510 U.S, at 390, 114 S.Ct. at
953-54. The first exception applies to a rule
that places “certain kinds of primary, private
individual conduct beyond the power of the
criminal Jaw-making authority to proscribe.”
Teague, 489 U.S. at 307, 109 8.Ct. at 107374
(citation omitted). This exception is inappli-
cable here, because Simmons does not place
any conduct outside the scope of the criminal
law, nor does it ghield a particular class of
persons from the imposition of the death
penalty. See O'Dell, 95 F.3d at 1238,

The second exception under ‘Teague ap-
plies only to “watershed” rules of eriminal
procedure, which are so fundamental that
they are “implicit in the concept of ordered
liberty.” Teague, 489 U.S. at 311, 109 S.Ct.
at 1076 (citations omitted). An often-cited
example of such a rule is. Gideon v. Wain-
wright, 372 U.S. 335, 83 8.Ct. 792, 9 L.Ed.2d
799 (1963). See Saffle, 494 U.S. at 495, 110
S.Ct. at 1263-64. We do not believe that the
rule in Simmons is such a groundbreaking
rule “implicit in the concept of ordered liber-

3.  Mueller also argues that his due process -._nrg‘

under Article I, Section 11 of the Virginia Consti-
tution were violated, because the jury was not
informed of his parole ineligibility. ‘We reject
this claim under the analysis detailed above.

4. We also do not consider Mueller’s m_.wE,:n:.u
that he received ineffective assistance of counsel

ty.” See Teague, 489 U.S. at 311, 109 S.
at 1076. Thus, since the rule in Simnu
does not fall within either Teague excepti
the rule is not applicable retroactively
Mueller’s case.? .

VIIL

[8] Mueller advances two additional ar,
ments, stating that the trial court’s refusal
allow him to inform the jury of his par
ineligibility (1) violated his Eighth Amel
ment rights, and (2) violated his right uns
Article I, Section 8 of the Virginia Consti
tion “to call for evidence in his favor.” Hc¢
ever, we hold that these arguments are p
cedurally barred, because Mueller did :
raige them on direct appeal. See Slayton
Parrigan, 215 Va. 27, 80, 205 S.E.2d 680, |
(1974), cert. denied sub nom. Parrigan
Paderick, 419 U.S. 1108, 95 S.Ct. 780,
L.Ed.2d 804 (1976).4

For these reasons, we will affirm the t
court’s judgment,

Affirmed.

and that his rights under Code §§ 19.2-2¢
and -264.4 were violated, when he was not
lowed to inform the jury of his parole ineligil
ty. These arguments are outside the scope of
appeal awarded in this case.



